UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

(Mark One)

ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019

OR

то

□ TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

FOR THE TRANSITION PERIOD FROM

Commission File Number 001-36869



PJT Partners Inc.

(Exact name of Registrant as specified in its Charter)

 Delaware
 36-4797143

 (State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization)
 (I.R.S. Employer

 280 Park Avenue
 Identification No.)

 New York, New York
 10017

 (Address of principal executive offices)
 (Zip Code)

 Registrant's telephone number, including area code: (212) 364-7800

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

	Trueding		
Title of each class	Trading Symbol(s)	Name of each exchange on which registered	
Class A common stock, par value \$0.01 per share	PJT	New York Stock Exchange	
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act: None			
Indicate by check mark if the Registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in	n Rule 405 of the Securities Act. Yes	No 🗆	
Indicate by check mark if the Registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Sect	ion 13 or 15(d) of the Act. Yes 🛛 N		
Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant: (1) has filed all reports required to be a period that the Registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to			rter
Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant has submitted electronically every Inter preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the Registrant was required to sub		pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during t	the
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerate "large accelerated filer," "accelerated filer," "smaller reporting company," and "emerge			
Large Accelerated Filer ⊠ Non-Accelerated Filer □		Accelerated Filer Smaller Reporting Company Emerging Growth Company	
If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the Registrant has elected a pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act. \Box	not to use the extended transition period for		
Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule	12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes	No 🗵	
As of June 30, 2019, the aggregate market value of the Registrant's Class A common s	stock (based upon the closing stock price)	held by non-affiliates was approximately \$ 908.6 million.	
As of February 20, 2020, there were 22,851,863 shares of Class A common stock, par	value \$0.01 per share, and 209 shares of	Class B common stock, par value \$0.01 per share, outstanding.	
DOCUMI	ENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERE	NCE	

Portions of the Registrant's Definitive Proxy Statement relating to its 2020 Annual Meeting of Stockholders are incorporated by reference into Part III of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

		Page
PART I.		
ITEM 1.	BUSINESS	3
ITEM 1A.	RISK FACTORS	9
ITEM 1B.	UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS	25
ITEM 2.	PROPERTIES	25
ITEM 3.	LEGAL PROCEEDINGS	25
ITEM 4.	MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES	25
PART II.		
ITEM 5.	MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES	26
ITEM 6.	SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA	28
ITEM 7.	MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS	31
ITEM 7A.	QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK	41
ITEM 8.	FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA	43
ITEM 9.	CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE	88
ITEM 9A.	CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES	88
ITEM 9B.	OTHER INFORMATION	90
PART III.		
ITEM 10.	DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE	91
ITEM 11.	EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION	91
ITEM 12.	SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS	91
ITEM 13.	CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE	91
ITEM 14.	PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES	91
PART IV.		
ITEM 15.	EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES	92
ITEM 16.	FORM 10-K SUMMARY	95
SIGNATURES		96



PJT Partners Inc. was formed in connection with certain merger and spin-off transactions whereby the financial and strategic advisory services, restructuring and reorganization advisory services and Park Hill Group businesses of The Blackstone Group Inc. ("Blackstone" or our "former Parent") were combined with PJT Capital LP, a financial advisory firm founded by Paul J. Taubman in 2013 (together with its then affiliates, "PJT Capital"), and the combined business was distributed to Blackstone's unitholders to create PJT Partners Inc., a stand-alone, independent publicly traded company. Throughout this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we refer to this transaction as the "spin-off." In October 2018, we acquired CamberView Partners Holdings, LLC ("CamberView" or "PJT Camberview").

PJT Partners Inc. is a holding company and its only material asset is its controlling equity interest in PJT Partners Holdings LP, a holding partnership that holds the company's operating subsidiaries, and certain cash and cash equivalents it may hold from time to time as described herein in "Part II. Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities—Dividend Policy." As the sole general partner of PJT Partners Holdings LP, PJT Partners Inc. operates and controls all of the business and affairs of PJT Partners Holdings LP and its operating subsidiaries.

In this Annual Report on Form 10-K, unless the context requires otherwise, the words "PJT Partners Inc." refers to PJT Partners Inc., and "PJT Partners," the "Company," "we," "us" and "our" refer to PJT Partners Inc., together with its consolidated subsidiaries, including PJT Partners Holdings LP and its operating subsidiaries.

Forward-Looking Statements

Certain material presented herein contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"). Forward-looking statements include certain information concerning future results of operations, business strategies, acquisitions, financing plans, competitive position, potential growth opportunities, potential operating performance improvements, the effects of competition and the effects of future legislation or regulations. Forward-looking statements include all statements that are not historical facts and can be identified by the use of forward-looking terminology such as the words "believe," "expect," "opportunity," "plan," "intend," "anticipate," "estimate," "predict," "potential," "continue," "may," "might," "should," "could" or the negative of these terms or similar expressions.

Forward-looking statements involve risks, uncertainties and assumptions. Actual results may differ materially from those expressed in such forward-looking statements. You should not put undue reliance on any forward-looking statements contained herein. We undertake no obligation to publicly update or review any forward-looking statement, whether as a result of new information, future developments or otherwise.

The risk factors discussed in the "Risk Factors" section of this report, as such factors may be updated from time to time in our periodic filings with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC"), accessible on the SEC's website at www.sec.gov, could cause our results to differ materially from those expressed in forwardlooking statements. There may be other risks and uncertainties that we are unable to predict at this time or that are not currently expected to have a material adverse effect on our business. Any such risks could cause our results to differ materially from those expressed in forward-looking statements.

Website Disclosure

We use our website (www.pjtpartners.com) as a channel of distribution of company information. The information we post may be deemed material. Accordingly, investors should monitor the website, in addition to following our press releases, SEC filings and public conference calls and webcasts. In addition, you may automatically receive e-mail alerts and other information about PJT Partners when you enroll your e-mail address by visiting the "Investor Relations" page of our website at ir.pjtpartners.com/investor-relations. Although we refer to our website in this report, the contents of our website are not included or incorporated by reference into this report. All references to our website in this report are intended to be inactive textual references only.

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

Overview

PJT Partners is a premier global advisory-focused investment bank. Our team of senior professionals delivers a wide array of strategic advisory, shareholder advisory, restructuring and special situations and private fund advisory and fundraising services to corporations, financial sponsors, institutional investors and governments around the world. We offer a unique portfolio of advisory services designed to help our clients achieve their strategic objectives. We also provide, through PJT Park Hill, private fund advisory and fundraising services for alternative investment managers, including private equity funds, real estate funds and hedge funds. PJT Partners began trading on the New York Stock Exchange ("NYSE") under the symbol "PJT" on October 1, 2015.

We have world-class franchises in each of the areas in which we compete:



Strategic Advisory

Our team of leading professionals delivers innovative solutions to highly complex challenges across mergers and acquisitions ("M&A"), strategic advisory and capital markets advisory. Our strategic advisory business offers a broad range of financial advisory and transaction execution capability, including M&A, joint ventures, minority investments, asset swaps, divestitures, takeover defenses, corporate finance advisory, private placements and distressed sales. Through PJT Camberview, our industry leading shareholder advisory business, we provide investor-led advice to public company boards and management teams around the globe on shareholder engagement, strategic investor relations, activism and contested situations, sustainability and complex corporate governance matters.

Restructuring and Special Situations

Our Restructuring and Special Situations business is one of the world's leading advisors in restructurings and recapitalizations, both in and out of court, around the globe. With expertise in highly complex capital structure challenges, we advise companies, creditors and financial sponsors on liability management and related capital raise



transactions including exchanges, recapitalizations, reorganizations, debt repurchases and distressed mergers and acquisitions.

PJT Park Hill

PJT Park Hill, our leading global alternative asset advisory and fundraising business, provides private fund advisory and fundraising services for a diverse range of investment strategies. Moreover, PJT Park Hill is the only group among its peers with top-tier dedicated private equity, hedge fund, real estate and secondary advisory groups. PJT Park Hill's Secondary Advisory business is a leading advisor to global alternative asset managers and provides clients with a breadth of expertise in the secondary markets, including GP liquidity solutions, GP tender offers, GP recapitalizations, LP portfolio solutions, asset strip sales, single asset SPVs and other structured solutions.

Our Key Competitive Strengths

We intend to execute on our strategy by capitalizing on the following strengths of our organization:

- Young, Entrepreneurial Firm. PJT Partners combines three decades of experience and excellence with the energy and enthusiasm of a new firm. Our teams act as trusted advisors to a diverse group of clients around the world, providing clients with creative solutions addressing a range of complex strategic matters. The creativity and depth of our advice, and the integrity and judgment with which we deliver it, provide a strong foundation for our growing business. The quality of our advice is core to what we do.
- Broad Based Advisory Capabilities. In addition to our leading strategic advisory, restructuring and special situations and asset advisory and fundraising businesses, we deliver a broad suite of advisory services across a growing number of industry verticals, products and geographies. We have recently partnered with Nasdaq Private Market to combine the capabilities of PJT Park Hill's leading Secondary Advisory business with Nasdaq's best-in-class technology platform to offer clients superior transaction execution. With the addition of PJT Camberview, our industry leading shareholder advisory business, we have further enhanced our ability to advise boards and management teams globally on shareholder engagement, strategic investor relations, activism and contested situations, sustainability and complex corporate governance matters.
- One Dedicated Firm with Highly Complementary Businesses. Our firm benefits from having a number of leading and complementary businesses. Our differentiated and diverse portfolio of industry, product and geographical expertise enables us to serve our clients in a unique way. Our premier advisory practices allow us to provide best-in-class advice to clients whether they are looking for growth through strategic alternatives, advice in shareholder engagement or in a restructuring or reorganization, or access to capital. Our deep networks across businesses allow us to connect clients and help them meet their strategic objectives.
- Defined by Deep Relationships. Our partners have decades of experience and long-standing relationships with a vast network of corporate executives, board members, financial sponsors, fund managers and governments. Their expertise across multiple product areas, industry verticals and geographies are sought by clients in complex, cross-border situations around the globe. Our PJT Park Hill business has long-standing relationships across Europe, the Middle East and Asia that give them unique access to global capital and drives incremental value for our clients.
- Global Market Leadership. Our Restructuring and Special Situations Group is a global market leader. Our PJT Park Hill business has a leading market
 position across all four of its businesses: private equity, hedge funds, real estate and secondary advisory. Our rapidly growing premier Strategic Advisory
 business is comprised of industry leading practitioners and has been the named advisor on some of the most high-profile and complex transactions. Our
 leading PJT Camberview business is well-known in the marketplace, having advised more than fifty Fortune 100 companies since its founding in 2012.
- **Defined by Collaboration, Clients and Content.** We have a cohesive partnership centered around our core values of character, collaboration, commercial impact/client relationships and content. Our culture provides the ideal environment for idea sharing, collaboration and innovation. Our bankers are encouraged to make frequent client connections and leverage the experience and insights of fellow partners to deliver clients optimal service and outcomes. Our culture also fosters retention of top talent and provides a superior platform from which to recruit top bankers at all levels.

Clients' Results Are Our Reputation. Our success is built around the trust our clients have placed in us. We work every day to ensure that we are providing cutting edge advice on the critical matters facing our clients. We work to navigate our clients through complex challenges and bold opportunities to meet their strategic objectives. Delivering optimal outcomes is what we strive for – our clients' results are our reputation.

Our Growth Strategy

Our strategy to achieve our growth objectives has the following components:

- *Expand Our Market Leadership in Restructuring and Special Situations and PJT Park Hill.*Our firm is strengthened by the deep client relationships and strong brand reputations we have in our leading Restructuring and Special Situations and PJT Park Hill businesses. These businesses are benefiting from closer collaboration across all our businesses, increased dialogues with financial sponsors as well as the increased footprint and product expertise and capabilities of our rapidly growing Strategic Advisory business.
- *Expand Our Addressable Market.* We are focused on expanding into new geographies, sectors and capabilities.
- Significantly Increase the Breadth and Depth of Our Advisory Franchise. We are focused on expanding our capabilities in areas where a sizable market
 opportunity clearly exists by hiring expert, top-tier talent to expand into new industry verticals, geographies and product capabilities, which will enable us to
 offer increasingly comprehensive and valuable solutions to a broader base of clients.
- Enhance Collaboration Among Our Businesses to Better Serve Clients. We operate a scaled, diversified global advisory franchise comprised of highly synergistic businesses, which each share our culture of excellence, teamwork and entrepreneurship. Our partners and team members have relationships with a vast network of corporate executives, board members, financial sponsors, fund managers and governments as well as expertise in multiple product areas, industry verticals and geographies. By operating in a more integrated and cohesive manner, we are able to offer our clients a comprehensive and differentiated suite of advisory services. In addition, our deep networks across our businesses allow us to connect clients and provide incremental value in helping them meet their strategic objectives.
- *Remain the Premier Destination for Talent.* We will continue to attract best-in-class bankers who want to deliver a broad range of world-class services to their clients around the globe. We offer a unique and compelling proposition to them through our total focus on advisory services; commitment to building a culture of collaboration, character and growth; strong client relationships; deep and exceptional base of talent; and efficient and scalable support infrastructure.

Our Talent

As a premier global advisory-focused investment bank, we believe that we must have an approach to human capital management that ensures PJT Partners remains a destination for top talent at all levels. We have been focused on this since our firm's inception and we want to be front-footed when it comes to attracting diverse individuals to our platform. Firm culture is critical to all aspects of how we do business and to our long-term success.

Our human capital successes thus far are evident in the number and quality of hires we have made as well as in the feedback we receive through our annual employee survey. Reinforcement of the culture we are building comes through engaging with and listening to our employees, our reward principles we apply to compensation and promotion decisions and through our various talent development initiatives, which continue to evolve as we grow.

As it pertains to the recruitment of talent, all candidates for PJT Partners are interviewed by a range of professionals, with a clear focus on quality of the candidate's capabilities as well as character. The firm seeks candidates that buy in to a philosophy that prioritizes the long-term success of the firm and its clients, over near-term gains for the individual, as reflected in our reward principles.

As of December 31, 2019, we employed 678 individuals globally, including 81 partners.



Competition

The financial services industry is intensely competitive, and we expect it to remain so. Our competitors are other investment banking and financial advisory firms. These entities include brokers and dealers, investment banking firms and commercial banks. We compete on both a global and a regional basis, and on the basis of a number of factors, including the strength and depth of client relationships, industry knowledge, transaction execution skills, our range of products and services, innovation, reputation and price.

We also compete to attract and retain qualified employees. Our ability to continue to compete effectively in our business will depend upon our ability to attract new employees and retain and motivate our existing employees.

Regulation

Our business, as well as the financial services industry generally, is subject to extensive regulation in the U.S. and across the globe. As a matter of public policy, regulatory bodies in the U.S. and the rest of the world are charged with safeguarding the integrity of the securities and other financial markets and with protecting the interests of customers participating in those markets. In the U.S., the SEC is the federal agency responsible for the administration of the federal securities laws. PJT Partners LP, through which strategic advisory, shareholder advisory and restructuring and special situations services are conducted in the United States, and Park Hill Group LLC, which is an entity within the PJT Park Hill private fund advisory and fundraising services business, are registered broker-dealers. These registered broker-dealers are subject to regulation and oversight by the SEC. In addition, the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority ("FINRA"), a self-regulatory organization that is subject to oversight by the SEC, adopts and enforces rules governing the conduct, and examines the activities of, its member firms, which would include any such registered broker-dealer. State securities regulators also have regulatory or oversight authority over any such registered broker-dealer.

Broker-dealers are subject to regulations that cover all aspects of the securities business, including capital structure, recordkeeping and the conduct and qualifications of directors, officers and employees. In particular, as a registered broker-dealer and member of a self-regulatory organization, we are subject to the SEC's uniform net capital rule, Rule 15c3-1. Rule 15c3-1 specifies the minimum level of net capital a broker-dealer must maintain and also requires that a significant part of a broker-dealer's assets be kept in relatively liquid form. The SEC and various self-regulatory organizations impose rules that require notification when net capital falls below certain predefined criteria, limit the ratio of subordinated debt to equity in the regulatory capital composition of a broker-dealer and constrain the ability of a broker-dealer to expand its business under certain circumstances. Additionally, the SEC's uniform net capital rule imposes certain requirements that may have the effect of prohibiting a broker-dealer from distributing or withdrawing capital and requiring prior notice to the SEC for certain withdrawals of capital.

PJT Partners LP is registered as a "municipal advisor" with the SEC and the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board (the "MSRB"). In 2013, as required under the Dodd-Frank Act, the SEC issued its final rule regarding the new category of regulated financial activity: "municipal advisors" (the "MA Rule"). The MA Rule, which became effective in 2014, imposes a fiduciary duty on municipal advisors when advising municipal entities. In addition to the SEC rule, the MSRB has developed a number of implementing rules and interpretive guidance relating to municipal advisors, and we have implemented policies and procedures reasonably designed to comply with such rules and guidance. In recent years, broker-dealer and municipal advisor interaction with municipal entities has become an area of greater rulemaking and regulatory interest; however, we do not expect a materially adverse impact on municipal advisory services.

Further, Park Hill Group LLC is a registered commodity trading advisor with the Commodity Futures Trading Commission ("CFTC") and is a member of the National Futures Association ("NFA"), a futures industry self-regulatory organization. The CFTC and NFA regulate futures contracts, swaps and various other financial instruments in which certain of Park Hill Group LLC's clients may invest.

In addition to the regulation we are subject to in the U.S., we are subject to regulation internationally. PJT Partners (UK) Limited is licensed with the United Kingdom's Financial Conduct Authority. PJT Partners (HK) Limited is licensed with the Hong Kong Securities and Futures Commission.

Certain parts of our business are subject to compliance with laws and regulations of U.S. federal and state governments, non-U.S. governments, their respective agencies and/or various self-regulatory organizations or exchanges relating to, among other things, the privacy of client information. Any failure to comply with these regulations could expose us to liability and/or reputational damage.

The U.S. and non-U.S. government agencies and self-regulatory organizations, as well as state securities commissions in the U.S., are empowered to conduct periodic examinations and initiate administrative proceedings that can result in censure, fines, the issuance of cease-and-desist orders or the suspension or expulsion of a broker-dealer or its directors, officers or employees.

Broker-dealers are also subject to regulations, including the USA PATRIOT Act of 2001, which impose obligations regarding the prevention and detection of moneylaundering activities, including the establishment of customer due diligence and other compliance policies and procedures.

Failure to comply with these requirements may result in monetary, regulatory and, in certain cases, criminal penalties. In connection with its administration and enforcement of economic and trade sanctions based on U.S. foreign policy and national security goals, the U.S. Department of the Treasury's Office of Foreign Assets Control ("OFAC"), publishes a list of individuals and companies owned or controlled by, or acting for or on behalf of, targeted countries. It also lists individuals, groups and entities, such as terrorists and narcotics traffickers, designated under programs that are not country-specific. Collectively, such individuals and companies are called "Specially Designated Nationals," or SDNs. Assets of SDNs are blocked, and we are generally prohibited from dealing with them. In addition, OFAC administers a number of comprehensive sanctions and embargoes that target certain countries, governments and geographic regions. We are generally prohibited from engaging in transactions involving any country, region or government that is subject to such comprehensive sanctions.

The Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (the "FCPA") and the UK 2010 Bribery Act (the "UK Bribery Act") prohibit the payment of bribes to foreign government officials and political figures. The FCPA prohibits us from making or offering to make any payment, or giving anything of value to a foreign official for the purpose of influencing that official to assist us in obtaining or retaining an improper business advantage. The FCPA has a broad reach, covering all U.S. companies and citizens doing business abroad, among others, and defining a foreign official to include not only those holding public office but also local citizens acting in an official capacity for or on behalf of foreign government-run or -owned organizations or public international organizations. The FCPA also requires maintenance of appropriate books and records and maintenance of adequate internal controls to prevent and detect possible FCPA violations. Similarly, the UK Bribery Act prohibits us from bribing, being bribed or making other prohibited payments to government officials or other persons to obtain or retain business or gain some other business advantage.

Park Hill Group LLC is also affected by various state and local regulations or policies that restrict or prohibit the use of placement agents in connection with investments by public pension funds, including but not limited to, regulations in New York State, New York City, Illinois and California. Similar measures are being considered or have been implemented in other jurisdictions.

Organizational Structure

PJT Partners Inc. is a holding company and its only material asset is its controlling equity interest in PJT Partners Holdings LP, and certain cash and cash equivalents it may hold from time to time as described herein in "Part II. Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities—Dividend Policy." As the sole general partner of PJT Partners Holdings LP, PJT Partners Inc. operates and controls all of the business and affairs and consolidates the financial results of PJT Partners Holdings LP and its operating subsidiaries. The ownership interests of the holders (other than PJT Partners Inc.) of common units of partnership interest in PJT Partners Holdings LP ("Partnership Units") are reflected as non-controlling interests in PJT Partners Inc.'s consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2019.

Our employees and certain current and former Blackstone executive officers and employees also hold all issued and outstanding shares of the Class B common stock of PJT Partners Inc. The shares of Class B common stock have no economic rights but entitle the holder, without regard to the number of shares of Class B common stock held, to a number of votes that is equal to the aggregate number of vested and unvested Partnership Units and LTIP Units (which is a class of partnership interests) in PJT Partners Holdings LP held by such holder on all matters presented to stockholders of PJT Partners Inc. other than director elections and removals. In connection with the spin-off, Blackstone's senior management, including Mr. Schwarzman and all of Blackstone's other executive



officers, provided an irrevocable proxy to Mr. Taubman to vote their shares of Class B common stock for so long as Mr. Taubman is the faief Executive Officer of PJT Partners Inc. With respect to the election and removal of directors of PJT Partners Inc., shares of Class B common stock initially entitle holders to only one vote per share, representing significantly less than one percent of the voting power entitled to vote thereon. However, the voting power of Class B common stock with respect to the election and removal of directors of PJT Partners Inc. may be increased to up to the number of votes to which a holder is then entitled on all other matters presented to stockholders. The voting power on applicable matters afforded to holders of partnership interests by their shares of Class B common stock is automatically and correspondingly reduced as they exchange Partnership Units for cash or for shares of Class A common stock of PJT Partners Inc. changes from one-for-one, the number of votes to which Class B common stockholders are entitled on applicable matters will be adjusted accordingly. Holders of shares of our Class B common stock will vote together with holders of our Class A common stock as a single class on all matters on which stockholders are entitled to vote generally, except as otherwise required by law.

We and the holders of Partnership Units (other than PJT Partners Inc.) also have entered into an exchange agreement under which they (or certain permitted transferees) have the right, subject to the terms and conditions set forth in the partnership agreement of PJT Partners Holdings LP, on a quarterly basis, to exchange all or part of their Partnership Units for cash or, at our election, for shares of our Class A common stock on a one-for-one basis, subject to customary conversion rate adjustments for splits, unit distributions and reclassifications. Further, pursuant to the terms in the partnership agreement of PJT Partners Holdings LP, we may also require holders of Partnership Units who are not Service Providers (as defined in the partnership agreement of PJT Partners Holdings LP) to exchange such Partnership Units. The price per Partnership Unit to be received in a cash-settled exchange will be equal to the fair value of a share of our Class A common stock (determined in accordance with and subject to adjustment under the exchange agreement). In the event that PJT Partners Inc. elects to fund cash-settled exchanges of Partnership Units with new issuances of Class A common stock, the fair value of a share of our Class A common stock received by PJT Partners Inc. in the related issuance. Accordingly, in this event, the price per Partnership Unit to which an exchanging Partnership Unitholder will be entitled may be greater than or less than the then-current market value of our Class A common stock.

The Company entered into a tax matters agreement with Blackstone (the "Tax Matters Agreement") that governs the respective rights, responsibilities and obligations of the Company and Blackstone after the spin-off with respect to tax liabilities and benefits, tax attributes, tax contests and other tax sharing regarding U.S. federal, state, local and foreign income taxes, other tax matters and related tax returns.

The Company has also entered into a tax receivable agreement with the holders of Partnership Units (other than PJT Partners Inc.) that provides for the payment by PJT Partners Inc. to exchanging holders of Partnership Units of 85% of the benefits, if any, that PJT Partners Inc. is deemed to realize as a result of the increases in tax basis related to such exchanges of Partnership Units and of certain other tax benefits related to entering into the tax receivable agreement, including tax benefits attributable to payments under the tax receivable agreement.

Refer to Note 14. "Transactions with Related Parties" and Note 15. "Commitments and Contingencies—Transactions and Agreements with Blackstone" in the "Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements" in "Part II. Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data" for further information about the agreements entered into in connection with the spin-off.

Available Information

We file annual, quarterly and current reports and other information with the SEC. These filings are available to the public over the internet at the SEC's website at www.sec.gov.

Our website address is www.pjtpartners.com. We make available free of charge on or through www.pjtpartners.com our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to those reports, as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such material with, or furnish it to, the SEC. Hard copies may be obtained free of charge by contacting Investor Relations at PJT Partners Inc., 280 Park Avenue, New York, New York 10017 or by calling (212) 364-7800. Although we refer to our website in this report, the contents of our website are not included or incorporated by reference into this report. All references to our website in this report are intended to be inactive textual references only.



Risks Relating to Our Business

Our future growth will depend on, among other things, our ability to successfully identify, recruit and develop talent and will require us to commit additional resources.

Our future growth will depend on, among other things, our ability to successfully identify and recruit individuals and teams to join our firm. It typically takes time for these professionals to become profitable and effective. During that time, we may incur significant expenses and expend significant time and resources toward training, integration and business development aimed at developing this new talent. If we are unable to recruit and develop profitable professionals, we will not be able to implement our growth strategy and our financial results could be materially adversely affected.

In addition, sustaining growth will require us to commit additional management, operational and financial resources and to maintain appropriate operational and financial systems to adequately support expansion, especially in instances where we open new offices that may require additional resources. There can be no assurance that we will be able to manage our expanding operations effectively, and any failure to do so could materially adversely affect our ability to grow revenue and control our expenses.

Changing market conditions, including as a result of tariffs and global trade uncertainties, can adversely affect our business in many ways, including by reducing the volume of the transactions involving our business, which could materially reduce our revenue.

As a participant in the financial services industry, we are materially affected by conditions in the global financial markets and economic conditions throughout the world, including many factors beyond our control, such as tariffs and global trade uncertainties. For example, a substantial portion of our revenue is directly related to the volume and value of the transactions in which we are involved. During periods of unfavorable market or economic conditions, the volume and value of M&A transactions may decrease, thereby reducing the demand for our M&A advisory services and increasing price competition among financial services companies seeking such engagements. In addition, during periods of strong market and economic conditions, the volume and value of restructuring and reorganization transactions may decrease, thereby reducing the demand for our restructuring and special situations services and increasing price competition among financial services companies seeking such engagements. Our results of operations would be adversely affected by any such reduction in the volume or value of such advisory transactions. Further, in the period following an economic downturn, the volume and value of M&A transactions typically takes time to recover and lags a recovery in market and economic conditions.

Our profitability may also be adversely affected by our fixed costs and the possibility that we would be unable to scale back other costs within a time frame sufficient to match any decreases in revenue relating to changes in market and economic conditions.

Our private fund advisory and fundraising business is dependent on the availability of private capital for deployment in illiquid asset classes such as private equity, real estate and hedge funds for clients we serve.

PJT Park Hill provides private fund advisory and fundraising services for alternative investment managers, including private equity funds, real estate funds and hedge funds. Our ability to find suitable engagements and earn fees in this business depends on the availability of private and public capital for investments in illiquid assets such as private equity, real estate and hedge funds. Our ability to assist fund managers and sponsors raise capital from investors depends on a number of factors, including many that are outside our control, such as the general economic environment, changes in the weight investors give to alternative asset investments as part of their overall investment portfolio among asset classes, and market liquidity and volatility. Additionally, certain investors, such as public pension plans, may have policies prohibiting the use of placement agents by fund sponsors or managers in connection with a limited partner's investment. To the extent private and public capital focused on illiquid investment opportunities for our clients is limited, the results of PJT Park Hill may be adversely affected.

Our revenue in any given period is dependent in part on the number of fee-paying clients in such period, and a significant reduction in the number of fee-paying clients in any given period could reduce our revenue and adversely affect our operating results in such period.

A substantial portion of our revenue in any given period is dependent in part on the number of fee-paying clients in such period. We had 142 clients and 141 clients that generated fees equal to or greater than \$1 million for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. We may lose clients as a result of the sale or merger of a



client, a change in a client's senior management, competition from other financial advisors and financial institutions and other causes. A significant reduction in the number of fee-paying clients in any given period could reduce our revenue and adversely affect our operating results in such period.

The composition of the group comprising our largest clients varies significantly from year to year, and a relatively small number of clients may account for a significant portion of our consolidated revenues in any given period. As a result, our operating results, financial condition and liquidity may be significantly affected by the loss of a relatively small number of mandates or the failure of a relatively small number of assignments to be completed. However, no client accounted for more than 10% of our total revenues for the years ended December 31, 2019 or 2018.

We have recorded net losses in the past and we may experience net losses in the future.

We have recorded consolidated or combined net losses in two of the five years ended December 31, 2019. A primary component of these net losses in each period was significant non-cash charges, consisting primarily of transaction-related compensation charges associated with Blackstone's initial public offering ("IPO"), our spin-off from Blackstone, the acquisition of CamberView, and the amortization of intangible assets that were recorded in connection with Blackstone's IPO, the acquisition of PJT Capital LP and the acquisition of CamberView. We expect such non-cash charges to continue to be significant for the next few years and, as a result, we may record net losses during such periods.

If the number of debt defaults, bankruptcies or other factors affecting demand for our restructuring and special situations services declines, our restructuring and special situations business could suffer.

We provide various financial restructuring and reorganization and related advice to companies in financial distress or to their creditors or other stakeholders. A number of factors affect demand for these advisory services, including general economic conditions, the availability and cost of debt and equity financing, governmental policy and changes to laws, rules and regulations, including those that protect creditors. In addition, providing restructuring and special situations advisory services entails the risk that the transaction will be unsuccessful, takes considerable time and can be subject to a bankruptcy court's discretionary power to disallow or discount our fees. If the number of debt defaults, bankruptcies or other factors affecting demand for our restructuring and special situations advisory services declines, our Restructuring and Special Situations business would be adversely affected.

We depend on the efforts and reputations of Mr. Taubman and other key personnel.

We depend on the efforts and reputations of Mr. Taubman and our other senior bankers. Our senior banking team's reputations and relationships with clients and potential clients are critical elements in the success of our business. Mr. Taubman and our other senior executives and bankers are important to our success because they are instrumental in setting our strategic direction, operating our business, identifying, recruiting and training key personnel, maintaining relationships with our clients, and identifying business opportunities. The loss of one or more of these executives or other key individuals could impair our business and development until qualified replacements are found. We may not be able to replace these individuals quickly or with persons of equal experience and capabilities. Although we have employment agreements with certain of these individuals, we cannot prevent them from terminating their employment with us. In addition, our non-competition agreements with such individuals may not be enforced by the courts. The loss of the services of any of them, in particular Mr. Taubman, could have a material adverse effect on our business, including our ability to attract clients.

Our ability to retain and motivate our partners and other key personnel is critical to the success of our business.

Our future success and growth depends to a substantial degree on our ability to retain and motivate our partners and other key personnel. Our professionals possess substantial experience and expertise and have strong relationships with our clients. As a result, the loss of these professionals could jeopardize our relationships with clients and result in the loss of client engagements. We may not be successful in our efforts to retain and motivate the required personnel as the market for qualified advisory and fund advisory services professionals is extremely competitive.

The near-term vesting of equity awarded to key personnel may diminish our ability to retain and motivate our professionals. There is no guarantee that our noncompetition and current compensation arrangements with our professionals, in which we mandatorily defer a substantial portion of their annual incentive bonus in the form of cash and equity awards with multi-year vesting periods, will provide sufficient protections or incentives to prevent

our partners and other key personnel from resigning to join our competitors. The departure of a number of partners or groups of professionals could have a material adverse effect on our business and profitability.

Our revenue and profits are highly volatile on a quarterly basis and may cause the price of our Class A common stock to fluctuate and decline.

Our revenue and profits are highly volatile. We earn advisory fees, generally from a limited number of engagements that generate significant fees at key transaction milestones, such as closing, the timing of which is outside of our control. We expect that we will continue to rely on advisory fees for a substantial portion of our revenue for the foreseeable future. Accordingly, a decline in our advisory engagements or the market for advisory services would adversely affect our business. In addition, our financial results will likely fluctuate from quarter to quarter based on the timing of when fees are recognized, and high levels of revenue in one quarter will not necessarily be predictive of continued high levels of revenue in future periods. Because advisory revenue is volatile and represents a significant portion of our total revenue, we may experience greater variations in our revenue and profits than other larger, more diversified competitors in the financial services industry. Fluctuations in our quarterly financial results could, in turn, lead to large adverse movements in the price of our Class A common stock or increased volatility in our stock price generally.

Because in many cases we are not paid until the successful consummation of the underlying transaction, our revenue is highly dependent on market conditions and the decisions and actions of our clients, interested third parties and governmental authorities. For example, we may be engaged by a client in connection with a sale or divestiture, but the transaction may not occur or be consummated because, among other things, anticipated bidders may not materialize, no bidder is prepared to pay our client's price or because our client's business experiences unexpected operating or financial problems. We may be engaged by a client in connection with an acquisition, but the transaction may not occur or be consummated for a number of reasons, including because our client may not be the winning bidder, failure to agree upon final terms with the counterparty, failure to obtain necessary regulatory consents or board or stockholder approvals, failure to secure necessary financing, adverse market conditions or because the target's business experiences unexpected operating or financial problems. In these circumstances, we often do not receive significant advisory fees, despite the fact that we have devoted considerable resources to these transactions.

In addition, with respect to PJT Park Hill, our private fund advisory and fundraising business, we face the risk that we may not be able to collect all or a portion of the fees that we recognize. The placement fees earned by PJT Park Hill are generally recognized by us for accounting purposes upon the successful subscription by an investor in a client's fund and/or the closing of that fund. However, those fees are typically paid by a PJT Park Hill client over a period of time with interest (for example, three to four years) following such successful subscription by an investor in a client's fund and/or the closing of that fund. There is a risk that during that period of time, PJT Park Hill may not be able to collect all or a portion of the fees PJT Park Hill is due for the fund advisory services it has already provided to such client. For instance, a PJT Park Hill client's fund may be liquidated prior to the time that all or a portion of the fees due to PJT Park Hill are due to be paid. Moreover, to the extent fewer assets are raised for funds or interest by investors in alternative asset funds declines, the placement fees earned by PJT Park Hill would be adversely affected.

In addition, we face the risk that certain clients may not have the financial resources to pay our agreed-upon advisory fees. Certain clients may also be unwilling to pay our advisory fees in whole or in part, in which case we may have to incur significant costs to bring legal action to enforce our engagement agreements to obtain our advisory fees.

Future joint ventures, strategic investments and acquisitions may result in additional risks and uncertainties in our business.

In addition to recruiting and internal expansion, we may grow our core business through joint ventures, strategic investments or acquisitions. In the event we make strategic investments or acquisitions, we would face numerous risks and would be presented with financial, managerial and operational challenges, including the difficulty of integrating personnel, retaining clients of the acquired entity, financial, accounting, technology and other systems and management controls.

Our failure to deal appropriately with actual, potential or perceived conflicts of interest could damage our reputation and materially adversely affect our business.

We confront actual, potential or perceived conflicts of interest in our business. We have adopted various policies, controls and procedures to address or limit actual or perceived conflicts of interest. However, these policies, controls and procedures may not timely identify or appropriately manage such conflicts of interest as identifying and managing actual or perceived conflicts of interest is complex and difficult. It is possible that actual, potential or perceived conflicts could give rise to client dissatisfaction, litigation or regulatory enforcement actions. Our reputation could be damaged if we fail, or appear to fail, to deal appropriately with one or more potential or actual conflicts of interest. Regulatory scrutiny of, or litigation in connection with, conflicts of interest could have a material adverse effect on our reputation, which could materially adversely affect our business in a number of ways, including a reluctance of some potential clients and counterparties to do business with us.

Policies, controls and procedures that we may be required to implement to address additional regulatory requirements, including as a result of additional foreign jurisdictions in which we operate, or to mitigate actual or potential conflicts of interest, may result in increased costs, including for additional personnel and infrastructure and information technology improvements, as well as limit our activities and reduce the positive synergies that we seek to cultivate across our businesses.

Employee or contractor misconduct, which is difficult to detect and deter, could harm us by impairing our ability to attract and retain clients and talent and by subjecting us to legal liability and reputational harm.

There is a risk that our employees or contractors could engage in misconduct that would adversely affect our business. For example, our business often requires that we deal with confidential matters of great significance to our clients. If our employees or contractors were to improperly use or disclose confidential information provided by our clients, we could be subject to regulatory sanctions and we could suffer serious harm to our reputation, financial position, current client relationships and ability to attract future clients. In addition, our financial professionals and other employees are responsible for following proper measures to maintain the confidentiality of information we hold. If an employee's failure to do so results in the improper release of confidential information, we could be subject to reputational harm and legal liability, which could impair our ability to attract and retain clients and in turn materially adversely affect our business. Despite our implementation of policies, our emphasis on a culture that supports diversity and inclusion, and training to prevent and detect misconduct, we cannot completely safeguard ourselves against the risk of work place misconduct, such as sexual harassment or discrimination. In addition to impairing our ability to attract and retain clients. It is not always possible to deter such misconduct, and there can be no assurance that the precautions we take to prevent and detect misconduct will be effective in all cases. If our employees or contractors engage in misconduct, our business could be materially adversely affected.

The U.S. Department of Justice and the SEC continue to devote significant resources to the enforcement of the FCPA. In addition, the United Kingdom and other jurisdictions have significantly expanded the reach of their anti-bribery laws. While we have developed and implemented policies and procedures designed to ensure strict compliance by us and our personnel with the FCPA, such policies and procedures may not be effective in all instances to prevent violations. Any determination that we have violated the FCPA or other applicable anti-corruption laws could subject us to, among other things, civil and criminal penalties, material fines, profit disgorgement, injunctions on future conduct, securities litigation and a general loss of investor confidence, any one of which could adversely affect our business prospects, financial position or the market value of our common shares.

We may face damage to our professional reputation or negative publicity if our services are not regarded as satisfactory or for other reasons.

As an advisory service firm, we depend to a large extent on our relationships with our clients and reputation for integrity and high-caliber professional services to attract and retain clients. As a result, if a client is not satisfied with our services or we experience negative publicity related to our business and our people, regardless of whether the allegations are valid, it may be more damaging in our business than in other businesses.



We face strong competition from other financial advisory firms, many of which have greater resources and broader product and services offerings than we do.

The financial services industry is intensely competitive, highly fragmented and subject to rapid change, and we expect it to remain so. Our competitors are other investment banking and financial advisory firms. We compete on both a global and a regional basis, and on the basis of a number of factors, including the strength and depth of client relationships, industry knowledge, transaction execution skills, our range of products and services, innovation, reputation and price. In addition, in our business there are usually no long-term contracted sources of revenue. Each revenue-generating engagement typically is separately solicited, awarded and negotiated.

We have experienced significant competition when obtaining advisory mandates, and we may experience pricing pressures in our business in the future as some of our competitors may seek to obtain increased market share by reducing fees.

Our primary competitors are large financial institutions, many of which have far greater financial and other resources and have the ability to offer a wider range of products and services. In addition, we may be at a competitive disadvantage with regard to certain of our competitors who are able to and often do, provide financing or market making services that are often a crucial component of the types of transactions on which we advise. In addition to our larger competitors, over the last several years the number of independent investment banks that offer independent advisory services has increased. As these independent firms or new entrants into the market seek to gain market share, we could experience pricing and competitive pressures, which would adversely affect our revenues and earnings.

In addition, PJT Park Hill operates in a highly competitive environment and the barriers to entry into the private fund advisory and fundraising services business are low.

As a member of the financial services industry, we face substantial litigation and regulatory risks.

Our role as advisor to our clients on important transactions involves complex analysis and the exercise of professional judgment, including rendering "fairness opinions" in connection with mergers and other transactions. Our activities may subject us to the risk of significant legal liabilities to our clients and affected third parties, including shareholders of our clients who could bring securities class actions against us. In recent years, the volume of claims and amount of damages claimed in litigation and regulatory proceedings against financial services companies have increased. These risks are difficult to assess or quantify and their existence and magnitude often remain unknown for substantial periods of time. Our engagements typically, but not always, include broad indemnities from our clients and provisions to limit our exposure to legal claims relating to our services, but these provisions may not protect us in all cases, including when a client does not have the financial capacity to pay under the indemnity. As a result, we may incur significant legal liability or significant regulatory action against us could have material adverse financial effects or cause significant reputational harm to us, which could seriously harm our business prospects.

Extensive and evolving regulation of our business and the business of our clients exposes us to the potential for significant penalties and fines due to compliance failures, increases our costs and may result in limitations on the manner in which our business is conducted.

As a participant in the financial services industry, we are subject to extensive regulation in the U.S. and internationally. We are subject to regulation by governmental and self-regulatory organizations in the jurisdictions in which we operate. As a result of market volatility and disruption in recent years, the U.S. and other governments took unprecedented steps to try to stabilize the financial system, including providing assistance to financial institutions and taking certain regulatory actions. The long-term effects of these actions and of legislative and regulatory initiatives (including the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act) effected in connection with, and as a result of, such extraordinary disruption and volatility is uncertain, both as to the financial markets and participants in general, and as to us in particular.

We face the risk of significant intervention by regulatory authorities, including extended investigation and surveillance activity, adoption of costly or restrictive new regulations and judicial or administrative proceedings that may result in substantial penalties. Among other things, we could be fined or be prohibited from engaging in some of our business activities. In addition, the regulatory environment in which we operate is subject to modification and further regulation. Such changes may increase the expenses we incur without necessarily leading to commensurate



increases in revenues. Certain laws and regulations within the U.S. and internationally include extraterritorial application that may lead to overlapping or conflicting legal and regulatory burdens with additional risks and implementation expenses. New laws or regulations applicable to us and our clients also may adversely affect our business, and our ability to function in this environment will depend on our ability to constantly monitor and react to these changes.

Our ability to conduct business and our operating results, including compliance costs, may be adversely affected as a result of any new requirements imposed by the SEC, FINRA or other U.S. or foreign governmental regulatory authorities or self-regulatory organizations that regulate financial services firms or supervise financial markets. We may be adversely affected by changes in the interpretation or enforcement of existing laws and rules by these governmental authorities and self-regulatory organizations. In addition, some of our clients or prospective clients may adopt policies that exceed regulatory requirements and impose additional restrictions affecting their dealings with us. Accordingly, we may incur significant costs to comply with U.S. and international regulation. In addition, new laws or regulations or changes in enforcement of existing laws or regulations applicable to our clients may adversely affect our business. For example, changes in antitrust laws or the enforcement of antitrust laws could affect the level of M&A activity and regulations in the U.S. and in other jurisdictions in which we and our clients operate may reduce the level of M&A activity, including cross-border M&A activity.

The trade agreements under which U.S. companies currently exchange products and services around the world are subject to change. It is not known what specific measures might be proposed or how they would be implemented and enforced. There can be no assurance that pending or future legislation or execution in the U.S. that could significantly increase costs with respect to our foreign operations and, consequently, adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of operations, will not be enacted.

In addition, several states and municipalities in the United States, including, but not limited to, California, Illinois, New York State and New York City have adopted "pay-to-play" and placement agent rules, which, in addition to imposing registration and reporting requirements, limit our ability to charge fees in connection with certain engagements of Park Hill Group LLC or restrict or prohibit the use of placement agents in connection with investments by public pension funds. These types of measures could materially and adversely impact our PJT Park Hill business.

Our failure to comply with applicable laws or regulations could result in adverse publicity and reputational harm as well as fines, suspensions of personnel or other sanctions, including revocation of our registration or any of our subsidiaries as a financial advisor and could impair retention or recruitment of personnel. In addition, any changes in the regulatory framework could impose additional expenses or capital requirements on us, result in limitations on the manner in which our business is conducted, have an adverse impact upon our financial condition and business and require substantial attention by senior management. Moreover, our business is subject to periodic examination by various regulatory authorities, and we cannot predict the outcome of any such examinations.

Our business is subject to various cybersecurity and other operational risks.

We face various cybersecurity and other operational risks related to our business on a day-to-day basis. We rely heavily on financial, accounting, communication and other information technology systems, and the people who operate them. These systems, including the systems of third parties on whom we rely, may fail to operate properly or become disabled as a result of tampering or a breach of our network security systems or otherwise, including for reasons beyond our control.

Our clients typically provide us with sensitive and confidential information. We are dependent on information technology networks and systems to securely process, transmit and store such information and to communicate among our locations around the world and with our clients and other third parties. We may be subject to attempted security breaches and cyber-attacks and, while we are not aware of any such occurrence to date, a successful breach of our systems, or the systems used by our clients and other third parties, could lead to shutdowns or disruptions of our systems or third-party systems on which we rely and potential unauthorized disclosure of sensitive or confidential information. Breaches of our or third-party network security systems on which we rely could involve attacks that are intended to obtain unauthorized access to our proprietary information, destroy data or disable, degrade or sabotage our systems, often through the introduction of computer viruses, cyber-attacks and other means and could originate from a wide variety of sources, including foreign governments or other unknown third parties. Although we take various measures to ensure the integrity of our and third-party systems on which we rely, there



can be no assurance that these measures will provide adequate protection especially because the cyber-attack techniques used change frequently or are not recognized until launched. As cyber threats continue to multiply, become more sophisticated and threaten additional aspects of our businesses, we may also be required to expend additional resources on information security and compliance costs in order to continue to modify or enhance our protective measures or to investigate and remediate any information security vulnerabilities or other exposures. If our or third-party systems on which we rely are compromised, do not operate properly or are disabled, we could suffer a disruption of our business, financial losses, liability to clients, regulatory sanctions and damage to our reputation. Phishing attacks and email spoofing attacks are often used to obtain information to impersonate employees or clients in order to, among other things, direct fraudulent bank transfers or obtain valuable information. Fraudulent transfers resulting from phishing attacks or email spoofing of our employees could result in a material loss of assets, reputational harm or legal liability and in turn materially adversely affect our business.

We operate a business that is highly dependent on information systems and technology. Any failure to keep accurate books and records can render us liable to disciplinary action by governmental and self-regulatory authorities, as well as to claims by our clients. We rely on third-party service providers for certain aspects of our business. Any interruption or deterioration in the performance of these third parties or failures of their information systems and technology could impair our operations, affect our reputation and adversely affect our business.

In addition, a disaster or other business continuity problem, such as a pandemic, other man-made or natural disaster or disruption involving electronic communications or other services used by us or third parties with whom we conduct business, could lead us to experience operational challenges, and if we are unable to timely and successfully recover that could materially disrupt our business and cause material financial loss, regulatory actions, reputational harm or legal liability.

We are exposed to risks related to our insurance coverage.

Our operations and financial results are subject to risks and uncertainties related to our use of insurance for a variety of risks, including cybersecurity risk. While we endeavor to purchase insurance coverage appropriate for our risk assessment, we are unable to predict with certainty the frequency, nature or magnitude of claims for direct or consequential damages. Our business may be negatively affected if our insurance coverage proves to be inadequate or unavailable. Insurance claims may divert management resources away from operating our business.

We may not be able to generate sufficient cash in the future to service any current or future indebtedness or other contractual obligations, or a significant deterioration in the credit markets or the failure of one or more commercial banking institutions, could adversely affect our liquidity.

Our ability to make scheduled payments on or to refinance any current or future debt obligations or other contractual obligations depends on our financial condition and operating performance. We cannot provide assurance that we will maintain a level of cash flows from operating activities sufficient to permit us to pay the principal of, and interest on, any current or future indebtedness. If our cash flows and capital resources are insufficient to fund any current or future debt obligations, we may be forced to reduce or delay investments and capital expenditures, or to sell assets, seek additional capital or restructure or refinance such indebtedness or other contractual obligations.

As of December 31, 2019, we had cash, cash equivalents and investments of \$217.5 million, of which \$23.8 million was invested in Treasury securities. We monitor developments relating to the liquidity of these instruments on a regular basis. In the event of a significant deterioration of the credit markets or the failure of one or more commercial banking institutions, there can be no assurance that we will be able to liquidate these assets or access our cash. Our inability to access our cash or other assets could have a material adverse effect on our liquidity and result in our inability to meet our obligations timely, which could have a material adverse effect on the value of our stock.

Our international operations are subject to certain risks, which may affect our revenue.

For the year ended December 31, 2019, we earned 9.1% of our total revenues from our international operations. We intend to continue to grow our non-U.S. business, and this growth is important to our overall success. In addition, many of our clients are non-U.S. entities seeking to enter into transactions involving U.S. businesses. Our international operations carry special financial, business, regulatory and reputational risks, which could include the following:

- greater difficulties in managing and staffing foreign operations;
- language and cultural differences;
- fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates that could adversely affect our results;
- unexpected and costly changes in trading policies, regulatory requirements, tariffs and other barriers;
- restrictions on travel;
- longer transaction cycles;
- higher operating costs;
- local labor conditions and regulations;
- adverse consequences or restrictions on the repatriation of earnings;
- potentially adverse tax consequences, such as trapped foreign losses;
- less stable political and economic environments;
- civil disturbances or other catastrophic events that reduce business activity;
- disasters or other business continuity problems, such as pandemics, other man-made or natural disaster or disruption involving electronic communications or other services; and
- uncertainty regarding the ongoing relationship between the United Kingdom ("U.K.") and European Union ("E.U.").

If our international business increases relative to our total business, these factors could have a more pronounced effect on our operating results.

As part of our day-to-day operations outside of the United States, we are required to create compensation programs, employment policies, compliance policies and procedures and other administrative programs that comply with the laws of multiple countries. We also must communicate and monitor standards and directives across our global operations. Our failure to successfully manage and grow our geographically diverse operations could impair our ability to react quickly to changing business and market conditions and to enforce compliance with non-U.S. standards and procedures.

We may enter into new lines of business, which may result in additional risks and uncertainties in our business.

We currently generate substantially all of our revenue from our strategic advisory, shareholder advisory, restructuring and special situations and private fund advisory and fundraising services businesses. However, we may grow our business by entering into new lines of business. To the extent we enter into new lines of business, we will face numerous risks and uncertainties, including risks associated with actual or perceived conflicts of interest because we would no longer be limited to the advisory business, the possibility that we have insufficient expertise to engage in such activities profitably or without incurring inappropriate amounts of risk, the required investment of capital and other resources and the loss of clients due to the perception that we are no longer focusing on our core business.

Entry into certain lines of business may subject us to new laws and regulations with which we are not familiar, or from which we are currently exempt, and may lead to increased litigation and regulatory risk. In addition, certain aspects of our cost structure, such as costs for compensation, occupancy and equipment rentals, communication and information technology services, and depreciation and amortization will be largely fixed, and we may not be able to timely adjust these costs to match fluctuations in revenue related to our entering into new lines of business. If a new business generates insufficient revenues or if we are unable to efficiently manage our expanded operations, our results of operations could be materially adversely affected.



Fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates could adversely affect our results.

Because our financial statements are denominated in U.S. dollars and we receive a portion of our revenue in other currencies, we are exposed to fluctuations in foreign currencies. In addition, we pay certain of our expenses in such currencies. We have not entered into any transactions to hedge our exposure to these foreign exchange fluctuations through the use of derivative instruments or otherwise. An appreciation or depreciation of any of these currencies relative to the U.S. dollar would result in an adverse or beneficial impact, respectively, to our financial results.

A change in relevant income tax laws, regulations or treaties or an adverse interpretation of these items by tax authorities could result in an audit adjustment or revaluation of our deferred tax assets that may cause our effective tax rate and tax liability to be higher than what is currently presented in the consolidated financial statements.

As part of the process of preparing our consolidated financial statements, we are required to estimate income taxes in each of the jurisdictions in which we operate. Significant management judgment is required in determining our provision for income taxes, our deferred tax assets and liabilities and any valuation allowance recorded against our deferred tax assets. This process requires us to estimate our actual current tax liability and to assess temporary differences resulting from differing book versus tax treatment. Our effective tax rate and tax liability is based on the application of current income tax laws, regulations and treaties. These laws, regulations and treaties are complex, and the manner in which they apply to our facts and circumstances is sometimes open to interpretation. Management believes its application of current laws, regulations and treaties to be correct and sustainable upon examination by the tax authorities. However, the tax authorities could challenge our interpretation resulting in additional tax liability or adjustment to our income tax provision that could increase our effective tax rate. In addition, tax laws, regulations or treaties newly enacted or enacted in the future may cause us to remeasure our deferred tax assets and have a material change to our effective tax rate.

The range of potential outcomes relating to arrangements between the European Union and the United Kingdom may adversely affect our business.

We conduct our business in European Union countries through our U.K. subsidiary, PJT Partners (UK) Limited, which is authorized and regulated in the U.K. by the Financial Conduct Authority. On June 23, 2016, the U.K. voted to leave the E.U. and on March 29, 2017, the U.K. began the process to withdraw from the E.U. The U.K. formally left the E.U. on January 31, 2020 and has immediately entered into a transition period, which is expected to continue until December 31, 2020.

The full commercial, regulatory and legal impact of the U.K.'s departure from the E.U. is yet to be determined.Our U.K. entity, PJT Partners (UK) Limited, primarily services U.K. and European-domiciled clients. The U.K.'s exit from the E.U. will cause PJT Partners (UK) Limited to lose its E.U. financial services passporting rights, which allows it to operate, on a cross-border and off-shore basis, in all E.U. countries. We have developed contingency plans with respect to the regulation of our European operations. However, there is no certainty that our European operations will not be disrupted at the end of the current transition period. In addition, the ongoing uncertainty around the U.K.'s exit from the E.U. has impacted the geopolitical and macroeconomic environment. If these conditions continue or if current conditions worsen, our business could potentially be adversely affected, which may materially impact our financial position and results of operations.

The cost of compliance with international broker-dealer, employment, labor, benefits, privacy and tax laws and regulations may adversely affect our business and hamper our ability to expand internationally.

Since we operate our business both in the U.S. and internationally, we are subject to many distinct broker-dealer, employment, labor, benefits, privacy and tax laws in each jurisdiction in which we operate, including regulations affecting our employment practices and our relations with our employees and service providers. If we are required to comply with other new regulations or new interpretations of existing regulations, or if we are unable to comply with these regulations or interpretations, our business could be adversely affected or the cost of compliance may make it difficult to expand into new international markets. Additionally, our competitiveness in international markets may be adversely affected by regulations requiring, among other things, the awarding of contracts to local contractors, the employment of local citizens and/or the purchase of services from local businesses or favoring or requiring local ownership.

In May 2018, the E.U.'s General Data Protection Regulations ("GDPR") came into effect, and changed how businesses can collect, use and process the personal data of E.U. residents. As we engage in significant business in the E.U., we are subject to the GDPR's requirements. The GDPR has extraterritorial effect and imposes a mandatory duty on businesses to self-report personal data breaches to authorities, and, under certain circumstances, to affected individuals. The GDPR also grants individuals the right to erasure (commonly referred to as the right to be forgotten), which may put a burden on us to erase records upon request. Compliance with the GDPR's requirements may increase our legal, compliance and operational costs. Non-compliance with the GDPR's requirements can result in significant penalties, which may have a material adverse effect on our business, expose us to legal and regulatory costs and impair our reputation.

Other jurisdictions, including certain U.S. states and non-U.S. jurisdictions where we conduct business, have also enacted or are considering data privacy legislation. For example, in June 2018, California's legislature passed the California Consumer Privacy Act of 2018, which went into effect in 2020. Increasingly numerous, fast-changing and complex legislation related to data privacy may result in greater compliance costs, heightened regulatory scrutiny and significant penalties. New and changing regulations may increase compliance costs such that they hamper our ability to expand into new territories.

Restrictions in the credit agreement governing our term loan and revolving credit facility may impair our ability to finance our future operations or capital needs or engage in other business activities that may be in our interests.

We have obtained a revolving credit facility in an aggregate principal amount of \$40 million with the option for a temporary increase of up to \$60 million total. We also borrowed \$30 million under a term loan under the credit agreement, which was repaid in full in January 2020.

The credit agreement governing such revolving credit facility and term loan contains a number of significant covenants that, among other things, would require us to maintain certain minimum tangible net worth and liquidity and maximum leverage levels and the covenants may restrict our ability to:

- sell assets;
- incur more indebtedness;
- repay certain indebtedness;
- make certain investments or business acquisitions;
- make certain capital expenditures;
- engage in business mergers or consolidations; and
- engage in certain transactions with subsidiaries and affiliates.

These restrictions could impair our ability to finance our future operations or capital needs or engage in other business activities that may be in our interests. In addition, such credit agreement could also require us to maintain compliance with certain financial ratios, including those relating to earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization and consolidated indebtedness. Our ability to comply with these ratios and covenants may be affected by events beyond our control. A breach of the provisions of our credit agreement or our inability to comply with the required financial ratios or covenants included therein could result in a default thereunder. In the event of any such default, the lenders under the credit agreement could elect to:

- declare all outstanding debt, accrued interest and fees to be due and immediately payable; and
- require us to apply all of our available cash to repay our outstanding senior debt.

Failure to maintain effective internal controls in accordance with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act could have a material adverse effect on our business and share price.

We have documented and tested our internal control procedures in order to satisfy the requirements of Section 404(a) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, which requires annual management assessments of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. Our independent registered public accounting firm may not be able or willing to issue an unqualified report on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. Matters impacting our internal controls may cause us to be unable to report our financial information on a timely basis and thereby subject us to adverse regulatory consequences, including sanctions by the SEC, or

violations of applicable stock exchange listing rules. There could also be a negative reaction in the financial markets due to a loss of investor confidence in us and the reliability of our financial statements. Confidence in the reliability of our financial statements is also likely to suffer if we identify a material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting. This could materially adversely affect us and lead to a decline in the market price of our shares.

Risks Relating to Our Organizational Structure

PJT Partners Inc.'s only material asset is its interest in PJT Partners Holdings LP and certain cash and cash equivalents it may hold from time to time, and it is accordingly dependent upon distributions from PJT Partners Holdings LP to pay taxes, make payments under the tax receivable agreement or pay dividends.

PJT Partners Inc. is a holding company and has no material assets other than its ownership of Partnership Units, and certain cash and cash equivalents it may hold from time to time as described herein in "Part II. Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities—Dividend Policy." PJT Partners Inc. has no independent means of generating revenue. PJT Partners Holdings LP makes distributions to holders of its Partnership Units in an amount sufficient to cover all applicable taxes at assumed tax rates, payments under the tax receivable agreement and dividends, if any, declared by it. Deterioration in the financial condition, earnings or cash flow of PJT Partners Holdings LP is restricted from making such distributions under applicable law or regulation or under the terms of our financing arrangements, or is otherwise unable to provide such funds, it could materially adversely affect our liquidity and financial condition.

Payments of dividends, if any, will be at the discretion of our board of directors after taking into account various factors, including our financial condition, earnings, cash flows, capital requirements, cash settlement of Partnership Unit exchanges, previous and anticipated amounts of dividend payments and share repurchases, level of indebtedness, statutory and contractual restrictions applicable to the payment of dividends, general economic, market and industry conditions and other considerations that our board of directors deem relevant from time to time. The credit agreement governing our revolving credit facility contains, and any financing arrangement that we enter into in the future may include, restrictive covenants that limit our ability to pay dividends. In addition, PJT Partners Holdings LP is generally prohibited under Delaware law from making a distribution to a partner to the extent that, at the time of the distribution, after giving effect to the distribution, liabilities of PJT Partners Holdings LP (with certain exceptions) exceed the fair value of its assets. Subsidiaries of PJT Partners Holdings LP are generally subject to similar legal limitations on their ability to make distributions to PJT Partners Holdings LP. See "—While we currently intend to pay a quarterly cash dividend to our stockholders, there can be no assurance that we will continue to declare cash dividends."

A significant portion of the voting power in PJT Partners Inc. is controlled by holders of our Class B common stock, whose interests may differ from those of our public stockholders that hold Class A common stock.

The shares of Class B common stock have no economic rights but entitle the holder, without regard to the number of shares of Class B common stock held, to a number of votes that is equal to the aggregate number of vested and unvested Partnership Units and LTIP Units in PJT Partners Holdings LP held by such holder on all matters presented to stockholders of PJT Partners Inc., other than director elections and removals. With respect to the election and removal of directors of PJT Partners Inc., shares of Class B common stock initially entitle holders to only one vote per share, representing significantly less than one percent of the voting power entitled to vote thereon. However, the voting power of Class B common stock with respect to the election and removal of directors of PJT Partners Inc. may be increased to up to the number of votes to which a holder is then entitled on all other matters presented to stockholders. At December 31, 2019, our executive officers and directors held and/or controlled (including by way of the proxy granted to Mr. Taubman by certain executive officers of PJT Partners Inc. with regard to the election and removal of directors, and 45.5% of the combined voting power of PJT Partners Inc. with regard to all other matters presented to stockholders held significantly less than one percent of the voting power of PJT Partners Inc. At December 31, 2019, our Class B common stockholders of PJT Partners Inc., with regard to all other matters presented to stockholders of PJT Partners Inc. At a 2.5% of the combined voting power of PJT Partners Inc. with regard to all other matters presented to election and removal all other matters presented to stockholders, and 45.5% of the combined voting power of PJT Partners Inc., with regard to all other matters presented to stockholder approval, other than director elections and removals, including those related to equity compensation plans, certain related party transactions, and certain significant issuances of Class A common stock and other significant t

stockholders of an opportunity to receive a premium for their common stock as part of a sale of our company and might ultimately affect the market price of our Class A common stock. Moreover, our Class B common stockholders, including Mr. Taubman, may gain the ability in the future to exercise significant influence over the outcome of director elections and removals as well.

Additionally, as of December 31, 2019, our Class B common stockholders own 40.5% of the Partnership Units. Because they hold all or a portion of their economic ownership interest in our business directly in PJT Partners Holdings LP, rather than through PJT Partners Inc., our Class B common stockholders may have conflicting interests with holders of shares of our Class A common stock. For example, if PJT Partners Holdings LP makes distributions to PJT Partners Inc., the limited partners of PJT Partners Holdings LP will also be entitled to receive such distributions pro rata in accordance with the percentages of their respective partnership interests in PJT Partners Holdings LP and their preferences as to the timing and amount of any such distributions may differ from those of our public stockholders. Our Class B common stockholders may also have different tax positions from us that could influence their decisions regarding whether and when to dispose of assets, especially in light of the existence of the tax receivable agreement that we entered into in connection with the spin-off, whether and when to incur new indebtedness, and whether and when PJT Partners Inc. should terminate the tax or other considerations even where no similar benefit would accrue to us.

PJT Partners Inc. may be required to make payments under a tax receivable agreement for most of the benefits relating to certain tax depreciation or amortization deductions that we may claim as a result of certain increases in tax basis.

Holders of Partnership Units (other than PJT Partners Inc.) have the right, subject to the terms and conditions set forth in the partnership agreement of PJT Partners Holdings LP, on a quarterly basis (subject to the terms of the exchange agreement), to exchange all or part of their Partnership Units for cash or, at our election, for shares of our Class A common stock on a one-for-one basis, subject to customary conversion rate adjustments for splits, unit distributions and reclassifications. Stock-settled exchanges and certain of these cash-settled exchanges are expected to result in increases in the tax basis of the tangible and intangible assets of PJT Partners Holdings LP. These increases in tax basis may increase (for tax purposes) depreciation and amortization deductions and therefore reduce the amount of tax that PJT Partners Inc. would otherwise be required to pay in the future, although the Internal Revenue Service ("IRS") may challenge all or part of that tax basis increase, and a court could sustain such a challenge.

We entered into a tax receivable agreement with the holders of Partnership Units (other than PJT Partners Inc.) that provides for the payment by PJT Partners Inc. to exchanging holders of Partnership Units of 85% of the benefits, if any, that PJT Partners Inc. is deemed to realize as a result of these increases in tax basis and of certain other tax benefits related to entering into the tax receivable agreement, including tax benefits attributable to payments under the tax receivable agreement.

This payment obligation is an obligation of PJT Partners Inc. and not of PJT Partners Holdings LP. While the actual increase in tax basis, as well as the amount and timing of any payments under the tax receivable agreement, will vary depending upon a number of factors, including the timing of exchanges, the price of shares of our Class A common stock at the time of the exchange, the extent to which such exchanges are taxable and the amount and timing of our income, we expect that as a result of the size of the transfers and increases in the tax basis of the tangible and intangible assets of PJT Partners Holdings LP, the payments that PJT Partners Inc. may make under the tax receivable agreement will be substantial. The payments under the tax receivable agreement are not conditioned upon continued ownership of us by the holders of Partnership Units.

In certain cases, such as upon a change in control, payments under the tax receivable agreement may be accelerated and/or significantly exceed the actual benefits PJT Partners Inc. realizes in respect of the tax attributes subject to the tax receivable agreement.

The tax receivable agreement provides that upon certain changes of control, or if, at any time, PJT Partners Inc. elects an early termination of the tax receivable agreement, PJT Partners Inc.'s obligations under the tax receivable agreement (with respect to all Partnership Units whether or not previously exchanged) would be calculated by reference to the value of all future payments that holders of Partnership Units would have been entitled to receive under the tax receivable agreement using certain valuation assumptions, including that PJT Partners Inc. will have sufficient taxable income to fully utilize the deductions arising from the increased tax deductions and tax basis and other benefits related to entering into the tax receivable agreement and, in the case of an early termination election, that any Partnership Units that have not been exchanged are deemed exchanged for the market value of the



shares of Class A common stock at the time of termination. In addition, if PJT Partners Inc. elects an early termination of the tax receivable agreement, holders of Partnership Units will generally not reimburse us for any payments previously made under the tax receivable agreement if such tax basis increase is successfully challenged by the IRS. PJT Partners Inc.'s ability to achieve benefits from any tax basis increase, and the payments to be made under the tax receivable agreement, will depend upon a number of factors, including the timing and amount of our future income. As a result, even in the absence of a change of control or an election to terminate the tax receivable agreement, payments under the tax receivable agreement could be in excess of PJT Partners Inc.'s actual cash tax savings.

There may be a material negative effect on our liquidity if the payments under the tax receivable agreement exceed the actual cash tax savings that PJT Partners Inc. realizes in respect of the tax attributes subject to the tax receivable agreement and/or if distributions to PJT Partners Inc. by PJT Partners Holdings LP are not sufficient to permit PJT Partners Inc. to make payments under the tax receivable agreement after it has paid taxes and other expenses. Based on the market value of a share of Class A common stock of \$45.13 and the London Interbank Offered Rate ("LIBOR") of 2.00% at December 29, 2019, we estimate that if PJT Partners Inc. exercised its termination on December 31, 2019, the aggregate amount of these termination payments would be \$140.0 million. The foregoing number is merely an estimate and the actual payments could differ materially. We may need to incur additional indebtedness to finance payments under the tax receivable agreement to the extent our cash resources are insufficient to meet our our obligations under the tax receivable agreement as a result of timing discrepancies or otherwise.

We may be responsible for U.S. federal income tax liabilities that relate to the distribution.

The spin-off was conditioned on the receipt of an opinion of tax counsel to the effect that certain transactions in Blackstone's internal reorganization should qualify as tax-free distributions under Section 355 of the Internal Revenue Code (the "Code"), and a certain transaction in the internal reorganization should qualify as a tax-free reorganization under Section 368 of the Code. Blackstone's receipt of the opinion of tax counsel satisfied a condition to completion of the spin-off. An opinion of tax counsel is not binding on the IRS. Accordingly, the IRS may reach conclusions with respect to the spin-off that are different from the conclusions reached in the opinion. The opinion is based on certain factual statements and representations, which, if incomplete or untrue in any material respect, could cause the tax consequences of the transactions to be different than those set forth in the opinion.

At the time of the spin-off, Blackstone represented to us that it was not aware of any facts or circumstances that would cause any such factual statements or representations in the opinion of tax counsel to be incomplete or untrue or cause the facts on which the opinion will be based to be materially different from the facts at the time of the spin-off. If, notwithstanding the receipt of the opinion of tax counsel, the IRS were to successfully assert that certain transactions in the internal reorganization were not tax-free distributions under Section 355 of the Code or that a certain transaction in the internal reorganization did not qualify as a tax-free reorganization under Section 368 of the Code, one or both of the Blackstone subsidiaries that distributed their interest in our business (the "Distributing Corporations") or we would recognize a substantial tax liability.

Even if such transactions in the internal reorganization otherwise qualify as tax-free distributions for U.S. federal income tax purposes, such transactions will be taxable to one or both of the Distributing Corporations (but not to Blackstone common unitholders) pursuant to Section 355(e) of the Code if there are one or more acquisitions (including by reason of issuances) of our stock in excess of specified thresholds, measured by vote or value, or acquisitions of the stock of one or both of the Distributing Corporations representing 50% or more, measured by vote or value, of the then-outstanding stock of us or such Distributing Corporation and the acquisition or acquisitions are deemed to be part of a plan or series of related transactions that include the transactions in the internal reorganization. Any acquisition of any class of our common stock or stock of a Distributing Corporation within two years before or after the distribution (with exceptions, including public trading by less-than-5% shareholders and certain compensatory stock issuances) generally will be presumed to be part of such a plan unless that presumption is rebutted. The resulting tax liability may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.

We have agreed not to enter into certain transactions that could cause any portion of the spin-off to be taxable to the Distributing Corporations, including under Section 355(e) of the Code. Pursuant to the Tax Matters Agreement, we agreed to indemnify Blackstone for any tax to a Distributing Corporation resulting from certain acquisitions of our stock, whether or not Blackstone consented to such actions or we were otherwise permitted to take such action under the Tax Matters Agreement. In addition, if certain transactions in the internal reorganization



were taxable or became taxable, then under U.S. Department of the Treasury regulations we would be severally liable for the resulting U.S. federal income tax liability of one of the Distributing Corporations. These obligations may discourage, delay or prevent a change of control of PJT Partners Inc.

Anti-takeover provisions in our organizational documents and Delaware law might discourage or delay acquisition attempts for us that you might consider favorable.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws contain provisions that may make the merger or acquisition of our company more difficult without the approval of our board of directors. Among other things, these provisions:

- authorize the issuance of undesignated preferred stock, the terms of which may be established and the shares of which may be issued without stockholder approval, and which may include super voting, special approval, dividend or other rights or preferences superior to the rights of the holders of Class A common stock;
- provide that our board of directors will be divided into three classes, with terms of the directors of only one class expiring in any given year;
- prohibit Class A common stockholders from acting by written consent unless such action is recommended by all directors then in office, but permit Class B
 common stockholders to act by written consent without requiring any such recommendation;
- provide that our board of directors is expressly authorized to make, alter or repeal our bylaws and that our stockholders may only amend our bylaws with the approval of 80% or more of the voting power of all of the outstanding shares of our capital stock entitled to vote;
- provide that certain provisions of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, including those providing for a classified board of directors, may be amended, altered, repealed or rescinded, in whole or in part, or any provision inconsistent therewith may be adopted, only with the approval of 80% or more of the voting power of all of the outstanding shares of our capital stock entitled to vote; and
- establish advance notice procedures and minimum stock ownership requirements for stockholder nominations for elections to our board of directors or for proposing matters that can be acted upon by stockholders at stockholder meetings, as well as provide for director qualification requirements.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation requires, to the fullest extent permitted by law, that (i) any derivative action or proceeding brought on our behalf; (ii) any action asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any of our directors, officers or stockholders to us or our stockholders; (iii) any action asserting a claim arising pursuant to any provision of the Delaware General Corporation Law ("DGCL") or as to which the DGCL confers jurisdiction in the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware; or (iv) any action asserting a claim governed by the internal affairs doctrine will have to be brought only in the Court of Chancery in the State of Delaware, unless we agree otherwise. Although we believe this provision benefits us by providing increased consistency in the application of Delaware law in the types of lawsuits to which it applies, the provision may have the effect of discouraging lawsuits against our directors, officers and stockholders.

Certain provisions of the limited partnership agreement of PJT Partners Holdings LP may also prevent, delay or make more difficult, a transaction or a change in control that might involve a premium price for holders of our Class A common stock or otherwise be in their best interests. These provisions include, among others:

- rights of limited partners of PJT Partners Holdings LP, subject to certain exceptions and qualifications, to approve certain change of control transactions involving us; and
- following the occurrence of a "Board Change of Control," rights of limited partners of PJT Partners Holdings LP to consent to certain corporate actions and transactions.

Further, as a Delaware corporation, we are also subject to provisions of Delaware law, which may impair a takeover attempt that our stockholders may find beneficial. These anti-takeover provisions and other provisions under Delaware law could discourage, delay or prevent a transaction involving a change in control of our company, including actions that our stockholders may deem advantageous, or negatively affect the trading price of our Class A common stock. These provisions could also discourage proxy contests and make it more difficult for you and other stockholders to elect directors of your choosing and to cause us to take other corporate actions you desire.



See "Certain Relationships and Related Person Transactions—PJT Partners Holdings LPAmended and Restated Limited Partnership Agreement" in our definitive proxy statement filed in connection with our 2019 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (our "2019 Proxy Statement").

Risks Relating to Our Class A Common Stock

You may be diluted by the future issuance of additional Class A common stock by PJT Partners Inc. and the future issuance of additional partnership units by PJT Partners Holdings LP, in each case in connection with our incentive plans, acquisitions or otherwise.

As of December 31, 2019, we have 2,974,378,549 shares of Class A common stock authorized but unissued, including 15,757,507 shares of Class A common stock that may be issued upon exchange of Partnership Units. Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation authorizes us to issue these shares of Class A common stock and options, rights, warrants and appreciation rights relating to Class A common stock for the consideration and on the terms and conditions established by our board of directors in its sole discretion, whether in connection with acquisitions or otherwise. Similarly, the limited partnership agreement of PJT Partners Holdings LP permits PJT Partners Holdings LP to issue an unlimited number of additional partnership interests of PJT Partners Holdings LP with designations, preferences, rights, powers and duties that are different from, and may be senior to, those applicable to the Partnership Units, and which may be exchangeable for shares of our Class A common stock. We have reserved 17,000,000 shares for issuance of new awards under our Amended and Restated 2015 Omnibus Incentive Plan. In addition, as described under "Report of the Compensation Committee—Narrative Disclosure Relating to the Summary Compensation Table, Grants of Plan-Based Awards Table, Outstanding Equity Awards at 2018 Fiscal Year-End Table, and 2018 Option Exercises and Stock Vested Table—Partner Agreements—Merger and Spin-off Transaction Equity Grants—Founder Earn-Out Units" in our 2019 Proxy Statement, Mr. Taubman and the other partners and employees of the Company received Earn-Out Units in PJT Partners Holdings LP that are subject to both service and market conditions. Any Class A common stock that we issue, including under our Amended and Restated 2015 Omnibus Incentive Plan or other equity incentive plans that we may dopt in the future, would dilute your percentage ownership of PJT Partners Inc.

The market price of our Class A common stock may decline due to the large number of shares of Class A common stock eligible for exchange and future sale.

The market price of shares of our Class A common stock could decline as a result of sales of a large number of shares of Class A common stock in the market or the perception that such sales could occur. These sales, or the possibility that these sales may occur, also might make it more difficult for us to sell shares of Class A common stock in the future at a time and at a price that we deem appropriate.

In addition, we and the holders of Partnership Units (other than PJT Partners Inc.) have entered into an exchange agreement under which they (or certain permitted transferees) have the right, subject to the terms and conditions set forth in the partnership agreement of PJT Partners Holdings LP, on a quarterly basis, to exchange all or part of their Partnership Units for cash or, at our election, for shares of our Class A common stock on a one-for-one basis, subject to customary conversion rate adjustments for splits, unit distributions and reclassifications. Further, pursuant to the terms of the partnership agreement of PJT Partners Holdings LP, we may also require holders of Partnership Units who are not Service Providers (as defined in the partnership agreement of PJT Partners Holdings LP) to exchange such Partnership Units.

Depending on our liquidity and capital resources, market conditions, the timing and concentration of exchange requests and other considerations, we may choose to fund cash-settled exchanges of Partnership Units with available cash, borrowings or new issuances of Class A common stock or to settle exchanges by issuing Class A common stock to the exchanging Partnership Unitholder. Issuing significant numbers of shares of our Class A common stock upon exchange of Partnership Units could adversely affect the tax consequences to Blackstone of the distribution. Accordingly, while we retain the right under the Exchange Agreement to elect to settle exchanges in cash or in shares of our Class A common stock in our sole discretion, we currently intend to limit such issuances of Class A common stock in settlement of exchanges of Partnership Units to the extent necessary to preserve the intended tax-free nature of the spin-off and to comply with our obligations under the Tax Matters Agreement. The market price of shares of our Class A common stock could decline as a result of sales of our Class A common stock to fund cash-settled exchanges of Partnership Units, or sales by exchanging holders of Partnership Units of Class A common stock received in stock-settled exchanges or, in each case, the perception that such sales could occur. These sales, or the possibility that these sales may occur, also might make it more difficult for holders of our Class A common stock to sell such stock in the future at a time and at a price that they deem appropriate. See "Certain Relationships and Related Person Transactions—Exchange Agreement" in our 2019 Proxy Statement.



Our decision to return cash to our shareholders through repurchases of our Class A common stock may not prove to be the best use of our capital or result in the effects we anticipated, including a positive return of capital to stockholders.

We have authority from our board of directors to repurchase shares of our Class A common stock in an amount up to \$100 million. As of December 31, 2019, the available amount remaining for repurchases under this program was \$85.1 million, which we may implement through open market purchases, privately negotiated transactions or otherwise, after taking into account our results of operations, financial position and capital requirements, general business conditions, legal, tax and regulatory constraints or restrictions, any contractual restrictions (including any restrictions contained in the credit agreement) and other factors we deem relevant. There can be no assurances of the price at which we may be able to repurchase our shares or that we will repurchase the full amount authorized. Furthermore, there can be no assurance that any past or future repurchases will have a positive impact on our stock price or that the share repurchase plan provides the best use of our capital because the value of our common stock may decline significantly below the levels at which we repurchased shares of common stock.

If we were to cease or were unable to repurchase shares of our Class A common stock, or choose to allocate available capital to the repayment of borrowings, payment of dividends or other corporate purposes, the number of shares outstanding may increase over time, diluting the ownership of our existing stockholders.

Our decision to repurchase shares of our Class A common stock will reduce our public float, which could cause our share price to decline.

The share repurchase plan will reduce our "public float," (the number of shares of our Class A common stock that are owned by non-affiliated stockholders and available for trading in the securities markets), which may reduce the volume of trading in our shares and result in reduced liquidity and cause fluctuations in the trading price of our common stock unrelated to our performance. Furthermore, certain institutional holders of shares of our Class A common stock (including index funds) may require a minimum market capitalization of each of their holdings in excess of our market capitalization and therefore be required to dispose of shares of our Class A common stock, which may cause the value of our Class A common stock to decline. There can be no assurance that this reduction in our public float will not result in a lower share price or reduced liquidity in the trading market for shares of our Class A common stock during and upon completion of our share repurchase plan.

While we currently intend to pay a quarterly cash dividend to our stockholders, there can be no assurance that we will continue to declare cash dividends

Although we currently intend to pay a quarterly cash dividend to our stockholders, we have no obligation to do so, and our dividend policy may change at any time. Whether we continue and the amount and timing of any dividends are subject to capital availability and periodic determinations by our board of directors that cash dividends are in the best interest of our stockholders and are in compliance with all respective laws and agreements of the Company applicable to the declaration and payment of cash dividends. The reduction in or elimination of our dividend payments could have a negative effect on our stock price.

The market price of our Class A common stock may be volatile, which could cause the value of our Class A common stock to decline.

Securities markets worldwide experience significant price and volume fluctuations. This market volatility, as well as general economic, market or political conditions, could reduce the market price of our Class A common stock in spite of our operating performance. In addition, our operating results could be below the expectations of public market analysts and investors, and in response, the market price of our Class A common stock could decrease significantly.

If securities analysts do not publish research or reports about our business or if they downgrade our Company or our sector, the price of our Class A common stock could decline.

The trading market for our Class A common stock depends in part on the research and reports that industry or financial analysts publish about us or our business. We do not control the research decisions made by these analysts. Furthermore, if one or more of the analysts who do cover us downgrades our Company or our industry, or the stock of any of our competitors, the price of our Class A common stock could decline. If one or more of these analysts ceases coverage of our Company, we could lose visibility in the market, which in turn could cause the price of our Class A common stock to decline.



ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our principal executive offices are located in leased office space at 280 Park Avenue, New York, New York 10017. We currently lease the space for our offices in Boston, Chicago, Hong Kong, London, Madrid and San Francisco. We do not own any real property.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

From time to time, the Company and its affiliates may be subject to legal proceedings and claims in the ordinary course of businessIn addition, government agencies and self-regulatory organizations in countries in which we conduct business conduct periodic examinations and may initiate administrative proceedings regarding the Company's and its affiliates' business, including, among other matters, accounting and operational matters, that can result in censure, fine, the issuance of cease-and-desist orders or the suspension or expulsion of a broker-dealer, or its directors, officers or employees. It is our policy to cooperate fully with such governmental requests, examinations and administrative proceedings. In view of the inherent difficulty of determining whether any loss in connection with any such matters is probable and whether the amount of such loss can be reasonably estimated, particularly in cases where claimants seek substantial or indeterminate damages or where investigations and proceedings are in the early stages, we cannot estimate the amount of such loss or range of loss, if any, related to such matters, how or if such matters will be resolved, whet hey will ultimately be resolved, or what the eventual settlement, fine, penalty or other relief, if any, might be. Subject to the foregoing, we believe, based on current knowledge and after consultation with counsel, that we are not currently party to any material pending proceedings, individually or in the aggregate, the resolution of which would have a material effect on the Company.

In June 2017, an action was filed in New York state court against defendants PJT Partners Inc., Park Hill Group LLC and Andrew W.W. Caspersen, arising out of the fraudulent conduct of Caspersen. PJT Partners Inc. and Park Hill Group LLC moved to dismiss the complaint on August 24, 2017. On August 13, 2018, the court dismissed all of the claims asserted against PJT Partners Inc. and Park Hill Group LLC, except for the fraud-based apparent authority claim. Plaintiffs and PJT Partners Inc. and Park Hill Group LLC appealed the court's August 2018 decision. On December 3, 2019, the appellate court dismissed the complaint in its entirety as against PJT Partners Inc. and Park Hill Group LLC. On January 2, 2020, plaintiffs filed a motion with the appellate court seeking reargument or, alternatively, leave to appeal, which we believe is without merit. We will continue to vigorously defend this action.

On June 16, 2009, Plaintiffs Frank Foy and Suzanne Foy, purportedly as*qui tam* plaintiffs on behalf of the State of New Mexico, filed a case in New Mexico state court against Park Hill Group LLC and one of its officers, as well as The Blackstone Group L.P. (together, "Park Hill Defendants"), in addition to dozens of other named and unnamed defendants, alleging violations of New Mexico's Fraud Against Taxpayers Act ("FATA") in an action styled *Foy v. Austin Capital Management, Ltd., et al*, Case No. D-101-CV-2009-01189 (N.M. Dist. Ct.). The complaint alleged, among other things, that the New Mexico Educational Retirement Board and the New Mexico State Investment Council made investments that were influenced by kickbacks and other inducements. In the complaint, the Park Hill Defendants were grouped together with other defendants who were all alleged generically to have conspired to defraud the State of New Mexico. On November 30, 2015, after several years of motion practice, including an earlier decision by the New Mexico State of New Mexico seeking wholesale dismissal of these proceedings. On June 6, 2017, the court granted the motion to dismiss brought on behalf of the State of New Mexico, the effect of which dismissed the action against the Park Hill Defendants. Plaintiffs have filed an appeal of the court's decision.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

None.

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Our Class A common stock is traded on the NYSE under the symbol "PJT." There is no publicly traded market for our Class B common stock, which is held by the limited partners of PJT Partners Holdings LP.

As of February 20, 2020, there were 128 holders of record of our Class A common stock. This does not include the number of holders that hold Class A common stock in "street name" through banks or broker-dealers.

Dividend Policy

The Company currently plans to regularly pay quarterly dividends. The declaration and payment of any future dividends will be at the sole discretion of our board of directors. Our board of directors will take into account general economic and business conditions; our financial condition and operating results; our available cash and current anticipated cash needs; capital requirements; contractual, legal, tax and regulatory restrictions and implications on the payment of dividends by us to our stockholders; and such other factors as our board of directors may deem relevant.

PJT Partners Inc. is a holding company and has no material assets other than its controlling equity interest in PJT Partners Holdings LP, and certain cash and cash equivalents it may hold from time to time as described below. In accordance with the partnership agreement of PJT Partners Holdings LP, we intend to cause PJT Partners Holdings LP to make pro rata cash distributions, to the extent of available cash, to the holders of the partnership interests in PJT Partners Holdings LP, including PJT Partners Holdings LP in mawurds equal to 50% of the taxable income allocated to such holders for purposes of funding their tax obligations in respect of the income of PJT Partners Holdings LP that is allocated to them, which we refer to as "tax distributions." In certain periods, we expect that PJT Partners Inc. will receive tax distributions in excess of the amount required to cover cash dividends, if any, declared by us, and taxes and payments under the tax receivable agreement payable by PJT Partners Inc. To the extent the amount of accumulated cash at PJT Partners Inc. becomes material in future periods, we anticipate that our board of directors will consider appropriate actions, which may include special cash dividends to holders of our Class A common stock. Holders of Partnership Units will not be precluded from effecting exchanges under our exchange agreement prior to any such actions being taken. Because PJT Partners Inc. must pay taxes and make payments under the tax receivable agreement, amounts ultimately distributed as dividends to holders of our Class A common stock are expected to be less than the amounts distributed by PJT Partners Holdings LP to its limited partners on a per unit basis.

Our revolving credit facility and term loan include, and financing arrangements that we may enter into in the future may include, restrictive covenants that limit our ability to pay dividends or repurchase our capital stock. In addition, PJT Partners Holdings LP is generally prohibited under Delaware law from making a distribution to a partner to the extent that, at the time of the distribution, after giving effect to the distribution, liabilities of PJT Partners Holdings LP (with certain exceptions) exceed the fair value of its assets. Subsidiaries of PJT Partners Holdings LP are generally subject to similar legal limitations on their ability to make distributions to PJT Partners Holdings LP.

Stock Performance

The following performance graph and related information shall not be deemed "soliciting material" or to be "filed" with the SEC, nor shall such information be incorporated by reference into any future filing under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Exchange Act except to the extent we specifically incorporate it by reference into such filing. Our stock price performance shown in the graph below is not indicative of future stock price performance.

The stock performance graph below compares the performance of an investment in our Class A common stock from October 1, 2015 (the first day our common stock began "regular-way" trading on the NYSE) through December 31, 2019, with that of the S&P 500 Index and the S&P Financials Index. Prior to October 1, 2015, there was no public market for our Class A common stock. Our Class A common stock traded on a "when-issued" basis prior to October 1, 2015. The graph assumes \$100 was invested in our Class A common stock on October 1, 2015, and in the S&P 500 Index and the S&P Financials Index on September 30, 2015. It also assumes that the dividends were reinvested on the date of payment without payment of commissions. The performance shown in the graph represents past performance and should not be considered an indication of future performance.



*\$100 invested on 10/1/15 in stock or 9/30/15 in index, including reinvestment of dividends. Fiscal year ending December 31.

Copyright@ 2020 Standard & Poor's, a division of S&P Global. All rights reserved.



	Total Number of Shares Repurchased	Average Price Paid Per Share	Total Number of of Shares Purchased as Part of Publicly Announced Plans or Programs (a)	Approximate Dollar Value of Shares that May Yet Be Purchased Under the Plans or Programs (a)
October 1 to October 31	111,023	\$ 39.10	111,023	\$ 85.1 million
November 1 to November 30	—	_	—	85.1 million
December 1 to December 31		—		85.1 million
Total	111,023	\$ 39.10	111,023	\$ 85.1 million

(a) On April 24, 2019, the Company's Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of shares of the Company's Class A common stock in an amount up to \$100 million. As of December 31, 2019, the Company's remaining repurchase authorization was \$85.1 million. Under the repurchase program, shares of the Company's Class A common stock may be repurchased from time to time in open market transactions, in privately negotiated transactions or otherwise. The timing and the actual number of shares repurchased depend on a variety of factors, including legal requirements, price and economic and market conditions. The repurchase program may be suspended or discontinued at any time and does not have a specified expiration date.

Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

In connection with the issuance during the fourth quarter of 2019 of LTIP Units in PJT Partners Holdings LP to certain personnel and the transfer of Partnership Units in PJT Partners Holdings LP, PJT Partners Inc. issued three corresponding shares of its Class B common stock, par value \$0.01 per share, to these limited partners. Shares of Class B common stock have no economic rights but entitle the holder, without regard to the number of shares of Class B common stock held, to a number of votes that is equal to the aggregate number of vested and unvested Partnership Units and LTIP Units in PJT Partners Holdings LP held by such holder on all matters presented to stockholders of PJT Partners Inc. other than director elections and removals. With respect to the election and removal of directors of PJT Partners Inc., shares of Class B common stock will initially entitle holders to only one vote per share. However, the voting power of Class B common stock with respect to the election and removal of directors of PJT Partners Inc. The votes of PJT Partners Inc. may be increased to up to the number of votes to which a holder is then entitled on all other matters presented to stockholders. The issuance of shares of Class B common stock was not registered under the Securities Act of 1933 because such shares were not issued in a transaction involving the offer or sale of securities.

ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The results of operations for the year ended December 31, 2015 reflect the combined results of Blackstone's operations for the period from January 1, 2015 to October 1, 2015 and the consolidated results of PJT Partners Inc., as reorganized and separated from Blackstone, through December 31, 2015. The results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018, 2017 and 2016 reflect the results as a stand-alone, independent publicly traded company.

The statement of operations data for each of the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017 and the statement of financial condition data as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 set forth below are derived from the Company's audited consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The statement of operations data for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 and the statement of financial condition data as of December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 are derived from the Company's audited financial statement of Financial condition data as of December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 are derived from the Company's audited financial statement of Financial condition data as of December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 are derived from the Company's audited financial statements that are not included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

The Company's financial data are not indicative of our future performance and, for the years ended prior to December 31, 2016, do not necessarily reflect what our financial condition and results of operations would have been had we been operating as an independent, publicly traded company, including changes that occurred in our operations and capitalization as a result of the spin-off from Blackstone.

The selected consolidated and combined financial data should be read in conjunction with "--Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" and our consolidated financial statements and related notes thereto included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K:

		Year Ended December 31,								
		2019		2018		2017		2016		2015
				(Dolla	ars in Thousands)			
tatement of Operations Data										
Revenues	ф.	ca 1 aa 1	¢	451 550		206.262	¢	277 (10	۵	006.01
Advisory Fees	\$	571,771	\$	451,553	\$	386,263	\$	377,610	\$	286,01
Placement Fees		133,180		111,035		102,785		114,968		114,05
Interest Income and Other		12,688		17,660	_	10,234		6,852		5,86
Total Revenues		717,639		580,248		499,282		499,430		405,93
Expenses										
Compensation and Benefits		502,165		424,459		391,514		381,000		315,19
Non-Compensation Expenses		133,284		114,276	_	97,714		103,930		96,67
Total Expenses		635,449		538,735		489,228		484,930		411,87
Income (Loss) Before Provision(Benefit)										
for Taxes		82,190		41,513		10,054		14,500		(5,93
Provision (Benefit) for Taxes		18,403		(1,045)		38,380		9,392		23
Net Income (Loss)		63,787		42,558		(28,326)		5,108		(6,17
Net Income (Loss) Attributable to Non-Controlling Interests		34,225		15,388		4,228		8,142		(13,75
Net Income (Loss) Attributable to PJT Partners Inc.	\$	29,562	\$	27,170	\$	(32,554)	\$	(3,034)	\$	7,57
Net Income (Loss) Per Share of Class A Common Stock			-		-		_			
Basic	\$	1.23	\$	1.23	\$	(1.73)	\$	(0.17)		
Diluted	\$	1.21	\$	1.16	\$	(1.73)	\$	(0.17)		
Weighted-Average Shares of Class A Common Stock Outstanding	_									
Basic		24,007,138		21,879,574		18,858,010		18,292,717		
Diluted		25,014,569		24,254,061		18,858,010		18,292,717		
Dividends Declared Per Share of Class A Common Stock	\$	0.20	\$	0.20	\$	0.20	\$	0.20		
										October 1, 015 through

	2015 through December 31, 2015
Net Loss	\$ (24,935
Net Loss Attributable to Redeemable Non-Controlling Interests	(13,751
Net Loss Attributable to PJT Partners Inc.	\$ (11,184
Net Loss Per Share of Class A Common Stock — Basic and Diluted	\$ (0.61
Weighted-Average Shares of Class A Common Stock Outstanding — Basic and Diluted	18.258,174

	 December 51,								
	2019		2018		2017		2016		2015
			(Dollar	s in Thousands)			
Statement of Financial Condition Data									
Total Assets (a)	\$ 952,777	\$	671,817	\$	558,965	\$	590,476	\$	467,252
Total Liabilities (b)	\$ 378,260	\$	184,068	\$	136,511	\$	177,060	\$	125,317
Redeemable Non-Controlling Interests (c)	\$ 	\$	_	\$	_	\$	421,976	\$	309,855
Non-Controlling Interests (c)	\$ 543,127	\$	514,205	\$	586,515	\$	_	\$	_
Total Equity (Deficit) (c)	\$ 574,517	\$	487,749	\$	422,454	\$	(8,560)	\$	32,080

December 31

(a) Total Assets increased at December 31, 2019 primarily due to operating lease right-of-use assets recorded as a result of new lease accounting guidance adopted as of January 1, 2019. Total Assets increased at December 31, 2018 primarily due to goodwill recorded related to the acquisition of CamberView. Total Assets decreased at December 31, 2017 primarily due to decreases in Accounts Receivable, Net and Deferred Tax Asset, Net being partially offset by an increase in investments in Treasury securities. The decrease in Deferred Tax Asset, Net was primarily related to the remeasurement of deferred tax assets due to the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act. Total Assets increased at December 31, 2016 primarily due to increases in Cash and Cash Equivalents generated from operating activities during the year.

(b) Total Liabilities increased at December 31, 2019 primarily due to operating lease liabilities recorded as a result of new lease accounting guidance adopted as of January 1, 2019. Total Liabilities increased at December 31, 2018 primarily due to a term loan entered into in connection with the acquisition of CamberView. Total Liabilities decreased at December 31, 2017 primarily related to a decrease in Accrued Compensation and Benefits. Total Liabilities increased at December 31, 2016 primarily related to an increase in Accrued Compensation and Benefits, partially offset by a decrease in Accounts Payable, Accrued Expenses and Other Liabilities.
 (c) These amounts reflected the allocation of Net Income (Loss) and the adjustment to measure the Redeemable Non-Controlling Interests at their current redemption

value at each reporting date. The value of these interests was reclassified to Non-Controlling Interests at their redemption value as of October 1, 2017.

On January 1, 2019, the Company adopted new guidance from the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") regarding leases using the transition method that allows such guidance to be applied initially at the adoption date without restating comparative periods. The guidance requires lessees to recognize, on the balance sheet, assets and liabilities for the rights and obligations created by leases. For additional detail, see Note 2. "Summary of Significant Accounting Policies" in the "Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements" in "—Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data" of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

On January 1, 2018, the Company adopted amended guidance from the FASB with respect to revenue from contracts with customers using a modified retrospective approach. The Company recognized the cumulative effect of initially applying the new revenue guidance as an adjustment to the opening balance of Accumulated Deficit. The comparative information has not been restated and continues to be reported under the accounting standards in effect for those periods. On an ongoing basis, the effect of the change in timing of revenue and expense recognition could be material to any given reporting period.

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with PJT Partners Inc.'s Consolidated Financial Statements and the related notes included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Our Business

PJT Partners is a premier global advisory-focused investment bank. Our team of senior professionals delivers a wide array of strategic advisory, shareholder advisory, restructuring and special situations and private fund advisory and placement services to corporations, financial sponsors, institutional investors and governments around the world. We offer a unique portfolio of advisory services designed to help our clients achieve their strategic objectives. We also provide, through PJT Park Hill, private fund advisory and fundraising services for alternative investment managers, including private equity funds, real estate funds and hedge funds.

We have world-class franchises in each of the areas in which we compete.

- Our Strategic Advisory business offers a broad range of financial advisory and transaction execution capability, including mergers and acquisitions ("M&A"), joint ventures, minority investments, asset swaps, divestitures, takeover defenses, corporate finance advisory, private placements and distressed sales. Through PJT Camberview, our industry leading shareholder advisory business, we provide investor-led advice to public company boards and management teams around the globe on shareholder engagement, strategic investor relations, activism and contested situations, sustainability and complex corporate governance matters.
- Our Restructuring and Special Situations business is one of the world's leading advisors in restructurings and recapitalizations, both in and out of court, around the globe. With expertise in highly complex capital structure challenges, we advise companies, creditors and financial sponsors on liability management and related capital raise transactions including exchanges, recapitalizations, reorganizations, debt repurchases and distressed mergers and acquisitions.
- PJT Park Hill, our leading global alternative asset advisory and fundraising business, provides private fund advisory and fundraising services for a diverse range of investment strategies. Moreover, PJT Park Hill is the only group among its peers with top-tier dedicated private equity, hedge fund, real estate and secondary advisory groups.

Business Environment

Economic and global financial conditions can materially affect our operational and financial performance.

M&A is a cyclical business that is impacted by macroeconomic conditions. According to Refinitiv, worldwide M&A announced volumes during 2019 were down 3% compared with 2018, but still the fourth strongest year since records began in 1980.¹ We remain in a very constructive environment for M&A by historical standards. We expect corporate boards and management teams to continue to use M&A as a key strategic tool.

Global restructuring activity for 2019 was strong despite continued low default rates in a benign credit environment. Notwithstanding, a balanced mix of in-court and out-of-court transactions for companies, creditors and financial sponsors has driven increased demand for restructuring and liability management services across a broad range of industries including technology, media and telecommunications; oil and gas; pharmaceuticals; and consumer products. PJT Partners maintained strong market share and was ranked #1 in global completed restructurings.²

As investors seek to enhance returns, diversification and portfolio yield, alternative assets continue to be in demand by institutional investors on a global basis. Within certain asset classes, we are seeing increased interest in narrow and niche strategies as well as customized solutions such as joint ventures, separate accounts and direct investment opportunities.

1 Source: Refinitiv. Global Mergers & Acquisitions Review for Full Year 2019 as of December 31, 2019.

 2 Source: Refinitiv. League Table ranking extracted from SDC Platinum as of February 11, 2020 .

On June 23, 2016, the United Kingdom ("U.K.") voted to leave the European Union ("E.U."), commonly referred to s "Brexit," and on March 29, 2017, the U.K. began the process to withdraw from the E.U. The U.K. formally left the E.U. on January 31, 2020 and has immediately entered into a transition period, which is expected to continue until December 31, 2020. The full impact of Brexit remains uncertain and the political climate in Europe continues to take shape.During this period, the future terms of the U.K.'s relationship with the E.U. will be determined. We expect that circumstances relating to Brexit will impact the Company's organization and/or operations andwe are taking preparatory steps accordingly.

Key Financial Measures

Revenues

Substantially all of our revenues are derived from Advisory Fees and Placement Fees. This revenue is primarily a function of the number of active engagements we have, the size of each of those engagements and the fees we charge for our services.

Advisory Fees – Our strategic advisory services include a broad range of financial advisory and transaction execution services relating to acquisitions, mergers, joint ventures, minority investments, asset swaps, divestitures, takeover defenses, corporate finance advisory, shareholder advisory and distressed sales. Our restructuring and special situations services include providing advice to corporations and creditors in recapitalizations and restructurings around the world, with particular expertise in large, complex and high-profile deals. In conjunction with providing such restructuring advice, we may also assist with raising various forms of financing, including debt and equity. Our secondary advisory services provided by PJT Park Hill include providing solutions to investing clients seeking portfolio liquidity, unfunded commitment relief and investments in secondary markets. Advisory Fees typically consist of retainer and transaction-based fee arrangements. The amount and timing of the fees paid vary by the type of engagement. The majority of our Advisory Fees recognized are dependent on the successful completion of a transaction.

A transaction can fail to be completed for many reasons, including failure of parties to agree upon final terms, to secure necessary board or shareholder approvals, to secure necessary financing or to achieve necessary regulatory approvals. In the case of bankruptcy engagements, fees are subject to approval of the court.

Placement Fees – Our fundraising services are provided within PJT Park Hill and primarily serve private equity, real estate and hedge funds. Our team advises on all aspects of the fundraising process including competitive positioning and market assessment, marketing materials and related documentation and partnership terms and conditions most prevalent in the current environment. We also provide private placement fundraising services to our corporate clients and earn placement fees based on successful completion of the transaction.

Fund placement fees earned for services provided to alternative asset managers are typically recognized upon acceptance by a fund of capital or capital commitments (referred to as a "closing"), in accordance with terms set forth in individual agreements. For commitment based fees, revenue is recognized over time as commitments are accepted. Fees for such closed-end fund arrangements are generally paid in installments over three or four years and interest is charged to the outstanding balance at an agreed upon rate (typically the London Interbank Offered Rate ("LIBOR") plus a market-based margin). For funds with multiple closings, the constraint on variable consideration is lifted upon each closing. For open-end fund structures, placement fees are typically calculated as a percentage of a placed investor's month-end net asset value. Typically, we earn fees for such open-end fund structures over a 48 month period. For these arrangements, revenue is recognized over time as the constraint over variable consideration is lifted.

We may receive non-refundable up-front fees in our contracts with customers, which are recorded as revenues in the period over which services are estimated to be provided.

Interest Income and Other – Interest Income and Other represents interest typically earned on Cash and Cash Equivalents, investments in Treasury securities and outstanding placement fees receivable; miscellaneous income; foreign exchange gains and losses arising on transactions denominated in currencies other than U.S. dollars; sublease income; and the amount of expense reimbursement invoiced to clients related to out-of-pocket expenses. Interest on placement fees receivable is earned from the time revenue is recognized and is calculated based upon LIBOR plus an additional percentage as mutually agreed upon with the receivable counterparty. Interest receivable is included in Accounts Receivable, Net in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition.



Expenses

Compensation and Benefits – Compensation and Benefits expense includes salaries, cash bonuses, benefits, employer taxes and equity-based compensation associated with the grants of equity-based awards to partners and employees. Changes in this expense are driven by fluctuations in the number of employees, business performance, compensation adjustments in relation to market movements, changes in rates for employer taxes and other cost increases affecting benefit plans. In addition, this expense is affected by the composition of our work force. The expense associated with our bonus and equity plans can also have a significant impact on this expense category and may vary from year to year.

We maintain compensation programs, including salaries, annual incentive compensation (that may include components of cash, restricted cash and/or equity-based awards) and benefits programs. We manage compensation to estimates of competitive levels based on market conditions and performance. Our level of compensation reflects our plan to maintain competitive compensation levels to retain key personnel and it reflects the impact of newly-hired senior professionals, including related grants of equity awards that are generally valued at their grant date fair value.

Increasing the number of high-caliber, experienced senior level employees is critical to our growth efforts. In our advisory businesses, these hires generally do not begin to generate significant revenue in the year they are hired.

Our remaining expenses are the other costs typical to operating our business, which generally consist of:

- Occupancy and Related consisting primarily of costs related to leased property, including rent, maintenance, real estate taxes, utilities and other related costs. Our company headquarters are located in New York, New York, and we maintain additional offices in the U.S. and throughout the world;
- Travel and Related consisting of costs for our partners and employees to render services where our clients are located;
- Professional Fees consisting primarily of consulting, audit and tax, recruiting and legal and other professional services;
- Communications and Information Services consisting primarily of costs for our technology infrastructure and telecommunications costs;
- Depreciation and Amortization consisting of depreciation and amortization on our furniture, equipment, leasehold improvements and intangible assets; and
- Other Expenses consisting primarily of bad debt, regulatory fees, insurance, fees paid for access to external market data, advertising, other general operating expenses and transaction-related payable to The Blackstone Group Inc. ("Blackstone").

Income Taxes – PJT Partners Inc. is a corporation subject to U.S. federal, state and local income taxes in jurisdictions where it does business. The Company's businesses generally operate as partnerships for U.S. federal and state purposes and as corporate entities in non-U.S. jurisdictions. In the U.S. federal and state jurisdictions, taxes related to income earned by these entities generally represent obligations of the individual members and partners.

The operating entities have generally been subject to New York City Unincorporated Business Tax and to entity-level income taxes imposed by non-U.S. jurisdictions, as applicable. These taxes have been reflected in the Company's consolidated financial statements.

PJT Partners Inc. is subject to U.S. corporate federal, state and local income tax on its allocable share of results of operations from the operating partnership (PJT Partners Holdings LP).

The Tax Cuts and Jobs Act was signed into law on December 22, 2017, which lowered the U.S. corporate income tax rate to 21% as of January 1, 2018.

Non-Controlling Interests

PJT Partners Inc. is a holding company and its only material asset is its controlling equity interest in PJT Partners Holdings LP, and certain cash and cash equivalents it may hold from time to time. As the sole general partner of PJT Partners Holdings LP, PJT Partners Inc. operates and controls all of the business and affairs and consolidates the financial results of PJT Partners Holdings LP and its operating subsidiaries.

Prior to October 1, 2017, the ownership interests of holders of common units of partnership interest in PJT Partners Holdings LP ("Partnership Units") (other than PJT Partners Inc.) were considered redeemable non-controlling interests. On October 1, 2017, certain of the restrictive covenants entered into in connection with the spin-off expired. Previously, the ability to settle exchanges of Partnership Units in shares of the Company's Class A common stock was not entirely within the Company's control. Consequently, the value of these interests was reclassified from Redeemable Non-Controlling Interests to Non-Controlling Interests at their redemption value as of October 1, 2017. The portion of net income (loss) attributable to the non-controlling interests is presented separately in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Consolidated Results of Operations

The following table sets forth our consolidated results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017:

		Ye	ar End	ed December	31,		2019 vs. 2018				2018 vs. 2017		
		2019		2018		2017		\$	%	-	\$	%	
						(1	Dollar	rs in Thousands)					
Revenues													
Advisory Fees	\$	571,771	\$	451,553	\$	386,263	\$	120,218	27 9		,,	17%	
Placement Fees		133,180		111,035		102,785		22,145	20 9	6	8,250	8 %	
Interest Income and													
Other		12,688		17,660		10,234		(4,972)	(28 9		7,426	73 %	
Total Revenues		717,639		580,248		499,282		137,391	24 9	6	80,966	<u>16</u> %	
Expenses													
Compensation and													
Benefits		502,165		424,459		391,514		77,706	18 9	-	32,945	8 %	
Occupancy and Related		31,547		27,125		26,889		4,422	16 9		236	1 %	
Travel and Related		25,700		23,374		13,617		2,326	10 9	6	9,757	72 %	
Professional Fees		21,779		20,631		19,276		1,148	6 9	6	1,355	7%	
Communications and													
Information Services		13,380		12,539		10,770		841	7 9	6	1,769	16%	
Depreciation and													
Amortization		14,496		9,973		8,143		4,523	45 %		1,830	22 %	
Other Expenses		26,382		20,634		19,019		5,748	28 9	-	1,615	<u>8</u> %	
Total Expenses		635,449		538,735		489,228		96,714	18 9	6	49,507	10 %	
Income Before													
Provision (Benefit)													
for Taxes		82,190		41,513		10,054		40,677	98 9	6	31,459	313 %	
Provision (Benefit) for													
Taxes		18,403		(1,045)		38,380		19,448	N/M	_	(39,425)	N/M	
Net Income (Loss)		63,787		42,558		(28,326)		21,229	50 %	6	70,884	N/M	
Net Income													
Attributable to													
Non-Controlling													
Interests		34,225		15,388		4,228		18,837	122 9	~	11,160	264 %	
Net Income (Loss)													
Attributable to	¢	20.562	¢	07.170	¢	(22.554)	¢	2 202			t 50.704	21/24	
PJT Partners Inc.	\$	29,562	\$	27,170	\$	(32,554)	\$	2,392	99	6 5	\$ 59,724	N/M	

N/M Not meaningful.

Year Ended December 31, 2019 versus Year Ended December 31, 2018

Revenues

Total Revenues were \$717.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 compared with \$580.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2018, an increase of 24%. The change in Total Revenues was primarily driven by increases of \$120.2 million in Advisory Fees and \$22.1 million in Placement Fees, and partially offset by a decrease of \$5.0 million in Interest Income and Other. The increase in Advisory Fees was primarily driven by significant

growth in our strategic advisory business. The increase in Placement Fees was driven by growth in corporate private placement activity and increased fundraising activity for alternative asset managers. The decrease in Interest Income and Other was primarily driven by realized and unrealized foreign currency losses.

The following table provides revenue statistics for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017:

	Year	Year Ended December 31,					
	2019	2018	2017				
Advisory Fees							
Number of Clients	287	274	153				
Number of Fee-Paying Clients with \$1 Million or More	104	107	88				
Number of Fee-Paying Clients Representing Greater than 10% of Advisory Fees	_	_	_				
Percentage of Such Clients' Fees of Total Advisory Fees	_	_	_				
Placement Fees							
Number of Clients	78	81	79				
Number of Fee-Paying Clients with \$1 Million or More	39	36	34				
Number of Fee-Paying Clients Representing Greater than 10% of Placement Fees	_	_	_				
Percentage of Such Clients' Fees of Total Placement Fees	_	_	_				

Expenses

Expenses were \$635.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2019, an increase of \$96.7 million compared with \$538.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2018. The increase in expenses was primarily attributable to increases in Compensation and Benefits of \$77.7 million, Other Expenses of \$5.7 million, Depreciation and Amortization of \$4.5 million and Occupancy and Related of \$4.4 million. The increase in Compensation and Benefits reflected higher revenues during the year ended December 31, 2019 as well as increased headcount. The increase in Other Expenses was due to interest expense associated with the acquisition of CamberView and additional market data and other expenses associated with increased headcount and business activity. The increase in Depreciation and Amortization was due to additional amortization expense related to intangible assets recorded in the acquisition of CamberView during the fourth quarter of 2018. The increase in Occupancy and Related was due to expansion in footprint in our existing locations as well as the assumption of leases in connection with the CamberView acquisition. The increase in Travel and Related was driven by increased headcount and business activity.

Provision (Benefit) for Taxes

The Company's Provision for Taxes for the year ended December 31, 2019 was \$18.4 million and Benefit for Taxes for the year ended December 31, 2018 was \$1.0 million. This resulted in an effective tax rate of 22.4% and -2.5%, respectively, based on our Income Before Provision (Benefit) for Taxes of \$82.2 million and \$41.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. While the Company benefited in 2019 from the tax impact relating to the delivery of vested shares at a value in excess of their amortized cost, this benefit was less for the year ended December 31, 2019 compared with the year ended December 31, 2018.

Non-Controlling Interests

Net Income Attributable to Non-Controlling Interests is derived from the Income Before Provision (Benefit) for Taxes and the percentage allocation of the income (loss) between the holders of Partnership Units and holders of Class A common stock of PJT Partners Inc. after considering any contractual arrangements that govern the allocation of income (loss).


Year Ended December 31, 2018 versus Year Ended December 31, 2017

We have omitted the discussion of the earliest of the three years covered in the 2019 Annual Report on Form 10-K. Such discussion is included in <u>'Part II. Item 7.</u> <u>Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations</u>" in the 2018 Annual Report on Form 10-K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 28, 2019, and is incorporated herein by reference.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

General

We regularly monitor our liquidity position, including cash and cash equivalents, investments, working capital assets and liabilities, any commitments and other liquidity requirements.

Our assets have historically been comprised of cash and cash equivalents, investments, receivables arising from strategic advisory and placement engagements and operating lease right-of-use assets. Our liabilities primarily include accrued compensation and benefits, accounts payable and accrued expenses, taxes payable and operating lease liabilities. We expect to pay a significant amount of incentive compensation late each year or during the beginning of the next calendar year with respect to the prior year's results. A portion of annual compensation may be awarded with equity-based compensation and thus requires less cash. We expect levels of cash to decline at year-end or during the first quarter of each year after incentive compensation is paid to our employees. We then expect cash to gradually increase over the remainder of the year.

On October 1, 2018, PJT Partners Holdings LP, as borrower (the "Borrower"), entered into an Amended and Restated Loan Agreement (the "Amended and Restated Loan Agreement") and related documents with First Republic Bank, as lender (the "Lender"). The Amended and Restated Loan Agreement provides for a revolving credit facility with aggregate commitments in an amount equal to \$40 million, which aggregate commitments may be increased, on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in the Amended and Restated Loan Agreement, to up to \$60 million during the period beginning December 1 each year through March 1 of the following year. The revolving credit facility will mature and the commitments thereunder will terminate on October 1, 2020, subject to extension by agreement of the Borrower and Lender. On February 4, 2020, the Amended and Restated Loan Agreement was further amended to extend the maturity date to October 1, 2021.

The Amended and Restated Loan Agreement also provides for a term loan with an aggregate commitment of \$30 million (the "Term Loan"). The Term Loan matures on January 2, 2021. In addition to the payment of interest described below, Borrower shall pay to the Lender installment payments of principal in the amount of (a) \$4.25 million on July 1, 2019 and quarterly thereafter to January 2, 2021, and (b) \$4.5 million on January 2, 2021. The Term Loan was repaid in full in January 2020.

The Amended and Restated Loan Agreement requires the Borrower to maintain certain minimum financial covenants and limits or restricts the ability of the Borrower (subject to certain qualifications and exceptions) to incur additional indebtedness in excess of \$20 million. Outstanding borrowings under the Amended and Restated Loan Agreement are secured by the accounts receivable of Park Hill Group LLC and PJT Partners LP.

Outstanding borrowings under the revolving credit facility bear interest equal to the greater of a per annum rate of (a) 3%, or (b) the prime rate minus 1.0%. Outstanding borrowings under the Term Loan bear interest equal to the greater of a per annum rate of (a) 3.25%, or (b) the prime rate minus 0.75%. During an event of default, overdue principal under both the revolving credit facility and Term Loan bear interest at a rate 2.0% in excess of the otherwise applicable rate of interest. In connection with the closing of the Amended and Restated Loan Agreement, the Borrower paid the Lender certain closing costs and fees. In addition, on and after the closing date, the Borrower will also pay a commitment fee on the undrawn portion of the revolving credit facility of 0.125% per annum, payable quarterly in arrears.

As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, we were in compliance with the debt covenants under the Amended and Restated Loan Agreement.

We evaluate our cash needs on a regular basis in light of current market conditions. As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, we had cash, cash equivalents and investments of \$217.5 million and \$108.3 million, respectively.

Our liquidity is highly dependent upon cash receipts from clients, which are generally dependent upon the successful completion of transactions as well as the timing of receivable collections. As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, total accounts receivable were \$227.5 million and \$217.8 million, respectively. There was no allowance for doubtful accounts at December 31, 2019 and \$0.7 million at December 31, 2018. Included in Accounts Receivable

are long-term receivables of \$77.6 million and \$77.9 million as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively, related to placement fees that are generally paid in installments over a period of three to four years.

Sources and Uses of Liquidity

Our primary cash needs are for working capital, paying operating expenses, including cash compensation to our employees, funding the cash redemption of Partnership Units, repurchasing shares of the Company's Class A common stock, paying income taxes, making distributions to our shareholders in accordance with our dividend policy, capital expenditures, commitments and strategic investments. We expect to fund these liquidity requirements through cash flows from operations and borrowings under our revolving credit facility. Our ability to fund these needs through cash flows from operations will depend, in part, on our ability to generate or raise cash in the future. This depends on our future financial results, which are subject to general economic, financial, competitive, legislative and regulatory factors. Furthermore, our ability to forecast future cash flows is more limited because we do not have a long-established operating history as a stand-alone company. If our cash flows from operations are less than we expect, we may need to incur debt, issue additional equity or borrow from our revolving credit facility. Although we believe that the arrangements we have in place will permit us to finance our operations on acceptable terms and conditions, our access to, and the availability of, financing on acceptable terms and conditions in the future will be impacted by many factors, including: (a) our credit ratings or absence of a credit rating, (b) the liquidity of the overall capital markets, and (c) the current state of the economy. We cannot provide any assurance that such financing will be available to us on acceptable terms on that such financing will be available to us on acceptable terms on that such financing will be available to us on acceptable terms on that such financing will be available to us on acceptable terms on hand, will provide adequate resources to fund our short-term and longterm liquidity and capital needs.

Subject to the terms and conditions of the exchange agreement between us and certain of the holders of Partnership Units (other than PJT Partners Inc.), Partnership Units are exchangeable at the option of the holder for cash or, at our election, for shares of our Class A common stock on a one-for-one basis. Depending on our liquidity and capital resources, market conditions, the timing and concentration of exchange requests and other considerations, we may choose to fund cash-settled exchanges of Partnership Units with available cash, borrowings or new issuances of Class A common stock or to settle exchanges by issuing Class A common stock to the exchanging Partnership Unitholder. Issuing significant numbers of shares of our Class A common stock upon exchange of Partnership Units could adversely affect the tax consequences to Blackstone of the distribution. Accordingly, while we will retain the right under the Exchange Agreement to elect to settle exchanges in cash or Class A common stock in our sole discretion, we intend to limit such issuances of Class A common stock in settlement of exchanges of Partnership Units to the extent necessary to preserve the intended tax-free nature of the spin-off and to comply with our obligations under the Tax Matters Agreement.

Estimating the amount of payments that may be made under the tax receivable agreement entered into with the holders of Partnership Units (other than PJT Partners Inc.) is by its nature imprecise, insofar as the calculation of amounts payable depends on a variety of factors. While the actual increase in tax basis, as well as the amount and timing of any payments under the tax receivable agreement, will vary depending upon a number of factors, including the timing of exchanges, the price of shares of our Class A common stock at the time of the exchange, the extent to which such exchanges are taxable and the amount and timing of our income, we expect that as a result of the size of the transfers and increases in the tax basis of the tangible and intangible assets of PJT Partners Holdings LP, the payments that PJT Partners Inc. may make under the tax receivable agreement will be substantial. There may be a material negative effect on our liquidity if, as a result of timing discrepancies or otherwise, the payments under the tax receivable agreement exceed the actual cash tax savings that PJT Partners Inc. realizes in respect of the tax attributes subject to the tax receivable agreement and/or distributions to PJT Partners Inc. by PJT Partners Holdings LP are not sufficient to permit PJT Partners Inc. to make payments under the tax receivable agreement after it has paid taxes. Late payments under the tax receivable agreement generally will accrue interest at an uncapped rate equal to LIBOR plus 500 basis points. The payments under the tax receivable agreement are not conditioned upon continued ownership of us by holders of Partnership Units.

Regulatory Capital

We actively monitor our regulatory capital base. We are subject to regulatory requirements in the U.S. and certain international jurisdictions to ensure general financial soundness and liquidity. This requires, among other things, that we comply with certain minimum capital requirements, recordkeeping, reporting procedures, experience and training requirements for employees and certain other requirements and procedures. These regulatory requirements may restrict the flow of funds to and from affiliates. See Note 17. "Regulated Entities" in the "Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements" in "—Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data" of this filing for



further information. The licenses under which we operate are meant to be appropriate to conduct our strategic advisory, shareholder advisory, restructuring and special situations and private fund advisory and placement services businesses. We believe that we provide each of these entities with sufficient capital and liquidity, consistent with their business and regulatory requirements.

Our activities may also be subject to regulation, including regulatory capital requirements, by various other foreign jurisdictions and self-regulatory organizations.

We do not anticipate that compliance with any and all such requirements will materially adversely impact the availability of funds for domestic and parent-level purposes.

Share Repurchase Program

On April 24, 2019, the Company's Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of shares of the Company's Class A common stock in an amount up to \$100 million, which is in addition to the previous October 26, 2017 authorization. Under the repurchase program, shares of the Company's Class A common stock may be repurchased from time to time in open market transactions, in privately negotiated transactions or otherwise. The timing and the actual number of shares repurchased depend on a variety of factors, including legal requirements, price and economic and market conditions. The repurchase program may be suspended or discontinued at any time and does not have a specified expiration date.

During the year ended December 31, 2019, we repurchased 1.2 million shares of Class A common stock at an average price per share of \$40.11, or \$47.8 million in aggregate, pursuant to this share repurchase program. As of December 31, 2019, the available amount remaining for repurchases under this program was \$85.1 million.

During the year ended December 31, 2018, we repurchased 1.3 million shares of Class A common stock at an average price of \$50.14, or \$64.9 million in aggregate, pursuant to this share repurchase program.

Contractual Obligations

The following table sets forth information relating to our contractual obligations as of December 31, 2019:

Contractual Obligations	2020 2021–2022 2			2023–2024 Thereafter			Total			
		(Dollars in Thousands)								
Operating Leases (a)	\$	24,173	\$	56,093	\$	54,473	\$	92,375	\$	227,114
Finance Leases (including interest)		136		45		18		_		199
Loan Payable (b)		17,000		4,500		_		_		21,500
Tax Benefit Liability (c)		1,301		538		_		_		1,839
Amount Due Pursuant to Tax Receivable										
Agreement (d)		964		1,259		1,259		5,807		9,289
Total	\$	43,574	\$	62,435	\$	55,750	\$	98,182	\$	259,941

(a) We lease our office space under agreements that expire at various dates through 2036. Further disclosure regarding our leases is provided in Note 13. "Leases" in the "Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements" in "—Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data" of this filing. In connection with these lease agreements, we are responsible for escalation payments. The contractual obligation table above includes fixed payments for such leases and does not project potential escalation or other lease-related payments. These leases are classified as operating leases and have been recorded as Operating Lease Liabilities in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition upon adoption of new lease guidance on January 1, 2019.

(b) Pursuant to the employee matters agreement entered into with Blackstone (the "Employee Matters Agreement"), we have agreed to pay Blackstone the net realized cash benefit resulting from certain compensation-related tax deductions. Amounts are payable annually (for periods in which a cash benefit is realized) within nine months of the end of the relevant tax period. Further disclosure regarding this liability is provided in Note 15. "Commitments and Contingencies—Transactions and Agreements with Blackstone, Employee Matters Agreement" in the "Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements" in "—Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data" of this filing.



- (c) Represents the principal payments due on the term loan as set forth in the Amended and Restated Loan Agreement. As of December 31, 2019, we had an outstanding principal balance of \$21.5 million. The term loan bears interest at a variable rate, and is further described in Note 15. "Commitments and Contingencies— Commitments, Term Loan" in the "Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements" in "—Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data" of this filing. The term loan was subsequently repaid in full in January 2020.
- (d) As of December 31, 2019, we had an amount due of \$9.3 million pursuant to the tax receivable agreement, which represents management's best estimate of the amounts currently expected to be owed under the tax receivable agreement. Actual payments may differ significantly from estimated payments. Further disclosure regarding the tax receivable agreement is presented in Note 2. "Summary of Significant Accounting Policies—Amount Due Pursuant to Tax Receivable Agreement" and Note 14. "Transactions with Related Parties—Tax Receivable Agreement" in the "Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements" in "—Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data" of this filing.

Commitments and Contingencies

Litigation

As previously disclosed, with respect to actual and potential additional claims related to funds fraudulently obtained by Andrew Caspersen, we believe that the total potential amount of any such claims to be less than \$30 million, any such claims are without merit and we will vigorously defend any such actions.

With respect to our other litigation matters, including the litigation discussed under the caption "Legal Proceedings" elsewhere in this report, we are not currently able to estimate the possible loss or range of loss until developments in such matters have provided sufficient information to support such an assessment, including quantification of a damage demand from plaintiffs, discovery from other parties and investigation of factual allegations, rulings by courts on motions or appeals, analysis by experts or the status of any settlement negotiations. However, the disposition of these contingencies could be material to our financial results in the period in which it occurs.

Guarantee

The Company provides a guarantee to a lending institution for certain loans held by employees for investment in funds of its former Parent, which are secured by the underlying investments in those funds. The amount guaranteed was \$8.0 million and \$8.9 million as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. In connection with this guarantee, the Company currently expects any associated risk of loss to be insignificant.

Indemnifications

We have entered and may continue to enter into contracts, including contracts with Blackstone relating to the spin-off, which contain a variety of indemnification obligations. Our maximum exposure under these arrangements is not known; however, we currently expect any associated risk of loss to be insignificant. In connection with these matters, we have incurred and may continue to incur legal expenses, which are expensed as incurred.

Other

See Notes 9, 11, 13, 15 and 16 in the "Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements" in "--Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data" of this filing for further information in connection with income taxes, equity-based and other deferred compensation plans, leasing arrangements, commitments and employee benefit plans, respectively.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

The Company is not involved with any off-balance sheet arrangements that are not elsewhere reflected in our consolidated financial statements.

Critical Accounting Policies

We prepare our consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. In applying many of these accounting principles, we need to make estimates and



assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. We base our estimates and judgments on historical experience and other assumptions that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances. These assumptions, estimates and/or judgments; however, are often subjective. Actual results may be affected negatively based on changing circumstances. If actual amounts are ultimately different from our estimates, the revisions are included in our results of operations for the period in which the actual amounts become known. We believe the following critical accounting policies could potentially produce materially different results if we were to change underlying assumptions, estimates and/or judgments. (See Note 2. "Summary of Significant Accounting Policies" in the "Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements" in "—Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data" of this filing.)

Revenue from Contracts with Customers

The services provided under contracts with customers include advisory and placement services, which are recorded as Advisory Fees and Placement Fees, respectively, in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. Additionally, we are typically reimbursed for certain professional fees and other expenses incurred that are necessary in order to provide services to the customer. These expenses are recorded in the relevant expense caption in the Consolidated Statements of Operations when incurred and recognized as revenue and recorded in accounts receivable when these amounts are invoiced to the customer. Such revenue amounts are recorded in Interest Income and Other in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

At contract inception, we assess the services promised in our contracts with customers and identify a performance obligation for each promise to transfer to the customer a service (or a bundle of services) that is distinct. To identify the performance obligations, we consider all of the services promised in the contract regardless of whether they are explicitly stated or are implied by customary business practices. Additionally, we allocate the transaction price to the respective performance obligation(s) by estimating the amount of consideration in which we expect to be entitled in exchange for transferring the promised services to the customer.

For performance obligations that are satisfied over time, determining a measure of progress requires management to make judgments that affect the timing of revenue recognized.

For performance obligations that are satisfied at a point in time, we have determined that the customer is able to direct the use of, and obtain substantially all of the benefits from, the output of the service at the time it is provided to the client. Additionally, we consider control to have transferred at that point because we have a present right to payment, we have transferred the output of the service and the customer has significant risks and rewards of ownership.

Expenses

Compensation and Benefits – Compensation and Benefits includes salaries, cash bonuses, benefits, employer taxes and equity-based compensation associated with the grants of equity-based awards to partners and employees. Compensation cost relating to the issuance of equity-based awards with a requisite service period to partners and employees is measured at fair value at the grant date, taking into consideration expected forfeitures, and expensed over the vesting period on a straight-line basis. Equity-based awards that do not require future service are expensed immediately. Cash settled equity-based awards are classified as liabilities and are remeasured at the end of each reporting period.

In certain instances, we may grant equity-based awards containing both a service and a market condition. The effect of the market condition is reflected in the grant date fair value of the award. Compensation cost is recognized for an award with a market condition over the requisite service period, provided that the requisite service period is completed, irrespective of whether the market condition is satisfied. If a recipient terminates employment before completion of the requisite service period, any compensation cost previously recognized is reversed unless the market condition has been satisfied prior to termination. If the market condition has been satisfied during the vesting period, the remaining unrecognized compensation cost is accelerated.

At our discretion, we may provide compensation to certain employees with repayment obligations and/or service provisions. Such payments are recorded in Compensation and Benefits in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. We assess the potential risk of forfeiture and likelihood of recouping amounts paid, and if deemed necessary, record a provision for forfeitures in the financial statements.



Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill recorded arose from the contribution and reorganization of Blackstone's predecessor entities in 2007 immediately prior to Blackstone's initial public offering ("IPO"), the acquisition of PJT Capital LP that occurred on October 1, 2015 and the acquisition of CamberView that occurred on October 1, 2018. Goodwill is reviewed for impairment at least annually utilizing a qualitative or quantitative approach and more frequently if circumstances indicate impairment may have occurred. Goodwill is tested for impairment at the reporting unit level. A reporting unit is a component of an operating segment for which discrete financial information is available that is regularly reviewed by management. The impairment testing for goodwill under the qualitative approach is based first on a qualitative assessment to determine if it is more likely than not that the fair value of the Company's reporting unit is less than its respective carrying value. If it is determined that it is more likely than not that the reporting unit should be assessment is performed to (a) calculate the fair value of the reporting unit and compare it to its carrying value, and (b) if the carrying value exceeds its fair value, to measure an impairment loss.

Our intangible assets are derived from (a) customer relationships that were established as part of Blackstone's IPO and acquired as part of CamberView, and (b) the value of the trade name as part of the acquisitions of PJT Capital LP and CamberView. Identifiable finite-lived intangible assets are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives of four to fifteen years, reflecting the average time over which such intangible assets are expected to contribute to cash flows. Amortization expense is included in Depreciation and Amortization in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. We do not hold any indefinite-lived intangible assets. Intangible assets are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.

Income Taxes

We use the asset and liability method of accounting for deferred tax assets and liabilities. Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the expected future tax consequences of differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases, using the enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which the differences are expected to reverse. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period when the change is enacted. Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance when we believe that it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized.

The realization of deferred tax assets arising from timing differences and net operating losses requires taxable income in future years in order to deduct the reversing timing differences and absorb the net operating losses. We assess positive and negative evidence in determining whether to record a valuation allowance with respect to deferred tax assets. This assessment is performed separately for each taxing jurisdiction.

Recent Accounting Developments

Information regarding recent accounting developments and their impact on PJT Partners can be found in Note 2. "Summary of Significant Accounting Policies— Recent Accounting Developments" in the "Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements" in "—Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data" of this filing.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Market Risk and Credit Risk

Our business is not capital-intensive and we do not invest in derivative instruments or, generally, borrow through issuing debt. As a result, we are not subject to significant market risk (including interest rate risk, foreign currency exchange rate risk and commodity price risk) or credit risk.

Risks Related to Cash, Cash Equivalents and Investments

Our cash and cash equivalents include all short-term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and have original maturities of three months or less from the date of purchase. Cash and cash equivalents are primarily maintained at three major U.S. financial institutions. In addition to cash and cash equivalents, we hold investments in Treasury securities, certain of which are classified as Investments in our Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition. We believe our cash, cash equivalents and investments are not subject to any material interest rate risk, equity price risk, credit risk or other market risk.

Credit Risk

We regularly review our accounts receivable and allowance for doubtful accounts by considering factors such as historical experience, credit quality, age of the accounts receivable and recoverable expense balances and the current economic conditions that may affect a customer's ability to pay such amounts owed to us. We maintain an allowance for doubtful accounts that, in our opinion, provides for an adequate reserve to cover losses that may be incurred. As of December 31, 2019, we had no allowance for doubtful accounts and as of December 31, 2018, our allowance for doubtful accounts was \$0.7 million, which represented 0.3% of the gross accounts receivable at that date.

Exchange Rate Risk

We are exposed to the risk that the exchange rate of the U.S. dollar relative to other currencies may have an adverse effect on the reported value of our non-U.S. dollar denominated or based assets and liabilities. In addition, the reported amounts of our advisory revenues may be affected by movements in the rate of exchange between the currency in which an invoice is issued and paid and the U.S. dollar, the currency in which our financial statements are denominated. The principal non-U.S. dollar currencies include the pound sterling, the euro, the Japanese yen and the Hong Kong dollar. For the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, the impact of the fluctuation of foreign currencies in Other Comprehensive Income (Loss), Net of Tax – Currency Translation Adjustment in the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss) were a gain of \$1.5 million, loss of \$1.6 million and gain of \$0.2 million, respectively, and in Interest Income and Other in the Consolidated Statements of Operations, a loss of \$2.7 million, loss of \$0.1 million and gain of \$0.2 million are previewed to entered into any transaction to hedge our exposure to these foreign currency fluctuations through the use of derivative instruments or other methods as we do not consider there to be significant foreign exchange risk at this time.

4	2
4	2

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

INDEX TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS	
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm	44
Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition as of December 31, 2019 and 2018	46
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Years Ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017	47
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the Years Ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017	48
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity (Deficit) for the Years Ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017	49
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017	52
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements	54
Supplemental Financial Information	
Financial Statement Schedule: Schedule II – Valuation and Qualifying Accounts	87

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of PJT Partners Inc.

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated statements of financial condition of PJT Partners Inc. and subsidiaries (the "Company") as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income (loss), changes in equity (deficit), and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2019, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the "financial statements"). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2019, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019, based on criteria established in *Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013)* issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated February 27, 2020, expressed an unqualified opinion on the Company's internal control over financial reporting.

Change in Accounting Principle

As discussed in Note 2 to the financial statements, effective January 1, 2019, the company adopted FASB ASC Topic 842*Leases*, using the modified retrospective method.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matter

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current-period audit of the financial statements that was communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.

Revenue from Contracts with Customers – Refer to Notes 2 & 4 to the financial statements

Critical Audit Matter Description

The Company's services provided under contracts with customers include advisory and placement services, which are recorded as advisory and placement fees, respectively. With respect to contracts for which advisory fees are recognized, the Company's primary performance obligation is to stand ready to perform a broad range of services the client may need over the course of the engagement. For such engagements, the customer obtains a

benefit from the assurance that the Company is available to it, when-and-if needed or desired. Fees related to these stand-ready performance obligations are recognized over time using a time-based measure of progress. With respect to contracts for which placement fees are recognized, the Company has determined that the provision of overall capital advisory services in contemplation of a potential fund placement or capital raise is satisfied over time. Fees related to this performance obligation are recognized over time using a time-based method as the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits of the capital advisory services as they are provided. With respect to the transaction price for advisory and placement services, the consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled is predominantly variable as the consideration is susceptible to factors outside of the Company's influence and/or contains a large number and broad range of possible consideration amounts. As such, these amounts are excluded from the transaction price until the uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved, which is expected to occur upon achievement of the specified event.

In certain circumstances, management may be required to apply judgment in determining the timing of when there is no longer uncertainty associated with the variable consideration and when it is probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognized will not occur (e.g. when publicly available information regarding the close of a transaction is not available). We identified advisory and placement fee revenue recognition as a critical audit matter because of the judgment involved in determining the timing of when there is no longer uncertainty associated with the variable consideration and whether it is probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognized will not occur. This required a high degree of auditor judgment and increased extent of effort to audit and evaluate the client's determination.

How the Critical Audit Matter Was Addressed in the Audit

- Our audit procedures related to the timing of recording of revenue from contracts with customers included the following, among others:
- We tested the effectiveness of controls over revenue, including those over the timing of recording revenue.
- We selected a sample of contracts for which revenue was recognized in 2019 and January 2020 and performed the following:
 - Evaluated whether the Company appropriately recognized revenue in the correct period by obtaining and evaluating evidence, including, but not limited to, inquiry with management, transaction close documents, press releases, confirmations, court approvals, executed agreements and communications, regarding the extent of uncertainty associated with variable consideration.
 - Obtained evidence, including, but not limited to, inquiry with management, examination of transaction close documents, press releases, confirmations, court approvals, executed agreements and communications and evaluated when it was probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognized would not occur.
- We selected a sample of contracts for which revenue was recognized in 2019 and evaluated the accuracy of management's calculation by recalculating the revenue amounts and comparing our expectation to the amount recorded by management.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

New York, New York February 27, 2020

We have served as the Company's auditor since 2015.

PJT Partners Inc. Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition (Dollars in Thousands, Except Share and Per Share Data)

		December 31,					
		2019		2018			
Assets							
Cash and Cash Equivalents	\$	215,950	\$	106,110			
Investments		1,543		2,157			
Accounts Receivable (net of allowance for doubtful accounts of \$0 and							
\$726 at December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively)		227,516		217,768			
Intangible Assets, Net		39,806		49,160			
Goodwill		172,725		176,031			
Furniture, Equipment and Leasehold Improvements, Net		37,123		34,805			
Operating Lease Right-of-Use Assets		166,519		—			
Other Assets		43,358		26,935			
Deferred Tax Asset, Net		48,237		58,851			
Total Assets	<u>\$</u>	952,777	\$	671,817			
Liabilities and Equity (Deficit)							
Accrued Compensation and Benefits	\$	120,750	\$	89,642			
Accounts Payable, Accrued Expenses and Other Liabilities		24,767		24,657			
Operating Lease Liabilities		182,924		_			
Deferred Rent Liability				16,417			
Amount Due Pursuant to Tax Receivable Agreement		9,289		8,456			
Taxes Payable		4,841		7,040			
Deferred Revenue		14,189		7,856			
Loan Payable		21,500		30,000			
Total Liabilities		378,260		184,068			
Commitments and Contingencies							
Equity (Deficit)							
Class A Common Stock, par value \$0.01 per share (3,000,000,000 shares authorized; 25,621,451 and 23,940,185 issued at December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively;23,076,794 and 22,586,787 outstanding at December 31, 2019 and 2018,							
respectively)		251		240			
Class B Common Stock, par value \$0.01 per share (1,000,000 shares authorized; 204 issued and outstanding at December 31, 2019;							
199 issued and outstanding at December 31, 2018)		—					
Additional Paid-In Capital		290,896		210,939			
Accumulated Deficit		(144,919)		(169,836)			
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)		146		(627)			
Treasury Stock at Cost (2,544,657 and 1,353,398 shares at							
December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively)		(114,984)		(67,172)			
Total PJT Partners Inc. Equity (Deficit)		31,390		(26,456)			
Non-Controlling Interests		543,127		514,205			
Total Equity		574,517		487,749			
Total Liabilities and Equity	\$	952,777	\$	671,817			

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

PJT Partners Inc. Consolidated Statements of Operations (Dollars in Thousands, Except Share and Per Share Data)

	Year Ended December 31,							
		2019		2018		2017		
Revenues								
Advisory Fees	\$	571,771	\$	451,553	\$	386,263		
Placement Fees		133,180		111,035		102,785		
Interest Income and Other		12,688		17,660		10,234		
Total Revenues		717,639		580,248		499,282		
Expenses								
Compensation and Benefits		502,165		424,459		391,514		
Occupancy and Related		31,547		27,125		26,889		
Travel and Related		25,700		23,374		13,617		
Professional Fees		21,779		20,631		19,276		
Communications and Information Services		13,380		12,539		10,770		
Depreciation and Amortization		14,496		9,973		8,143		
Other Expenses		26,382		20,634		19,019		
Total Expenses		635,449		538,735		489,228		
Income Before Provision (Benefit) for Taxes		82,190		41,513		10,054		
Provision (Benefit) for Taxes		18,403		(1,045)		38,380		
Net Income (Loss)		63,787		42,558		(28,326)		
Net Income Attributable to Non-Controlling								
Interests		34,225	_	15,388		4,228		
Net Income (Loss) Attributable to PJT Partners Inc.	\$	29,562	\$	27,170	\$	(32,554)		
Net Income (Loss) Per Share of Class A Common Stock								
Basic	\$	1.23	\$	1.23	\$	(1.73)		
Diluted	\$	1.21	\$	1.16	\$	(1.73)		
Weighted-Average Shares of Class A Common Stock Outstanding								
Basic		24,007,138		21,879,574		18,858,010		
Diluted		25,014,569		24,254,061		18,858,010		

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

PJT Partners Inc. Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss) (Dollars in Thousands)

	Year Ended December 31,							
		2019		2018		2017		
Net Income (Loss)	\$	63,787	\$	42,558	\$	(28,326)		
Other Comprehensive Income (Loss), Net of Tax — Currency								
Translation Adjustment		1,476		(1,552)		217		
Comprehensive Income (Loss)		65,263		41,006		(28,109)		
Less:								
Comprehensive Income Attributable to								
Non-Controlling Interests		34,928		14,618		4,351		
Comprehensive Income (Loss) Attributable to PJT Partners Inc.	\$	30,335	\$	26,388	\$	(32,460)		

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

PJT Partners Inc. Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity (Deficit) (Dollars in Thousands, Except Share Data)

	Class A Common Stock	Shares Class B Common Stock	Treasury Stock	Class A Common Stock	Class B Common Stock	Additional Paid-In Capital	Accumulated Deficit	Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income	Treasury Stock	Non- Controlling Interests	Total	Redeemable Non- Controlling Interests
Balance at December 31, 2016	18,003,272	271		\$ 180	\$ —	\$ 9,145	\$ (17,946)	\$ 61	\$ —	\$ —	\$ (8,560)	\$ 421,976
Net Income (Loss)	_	—		_	—	_	(32,554)			9,081	(23,473)	(4,853)
Other Comprehensive Income	_	_	_	_	_	_		94	_	119	213	4
Dividends Declared (\$0.20 Per Share of Class A Common Stock)	_		_	_	_	_	(3,796)	_	_	_	(3,796)	_
Tax Distributions							_			(4,734)	(4,734)	(19,125)
Equity-Based Compensation	_	_	_		_	72,409	_	_	_	10,921	83,330	32,598
Forfeiture Liability for Equity Awards	_	_	_	_	_	152	_	_	_		152	
Net Share Settlement	_	_		_	_	(4,039)	—	_			(4,039)	(35)
Deliveries of Vested Shares of Class A Common Stock	596,182	_	_	6	_	(6)	_	_	_	_	_	_
Change in Ownership Interest	_	(50)	_	—	_	(3,244)	—	—	_	(3,144)	(6,388)	(38,514)
Treasury Stock Purchases	_	_	(60,333)	_	—	_	—	_	(2,302)		(2,302)	_
Adjustment of Redeemable Non-Controlling Interests to Redemption Value		_			_	(50,526)	(131,695)	_	_	_	(182,221)	182,221
Reclassification of Redeemable Non-Controlling Interests to Non- Controlling Interests	_	_			_	_	_	_		574,272	574,272	(574,272)
Balance at December 31, 2017	18,599,454	221	(60,333)	\$ 186	\$	\$ 23,891	<u>\$ (185,991)</u>	\$ 155	\$(2,302)	\$ 586,515	\$ 422,454	<u>\$ </u>

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

(continued)

PJT Partners Inc. Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity (Deficit) (Dollars in Thousands, Except Share Data)

		Shares						Accumulated			
	Class A	Class B		Class A	Class B	Additional		Other		Non-	
	Common Stock	Common Stock	Treasury Stock	Common Stock	Common Stock	Paid-In Capital	Accumulated Deficit	Comprehensive Income (Loss)	Treasury Stock	Controlling Interests	Total
Balance at December 31, 2017	18,599,454	221	(60,333)	\$ 186	\$ _	\$ 23,891	\$ (185,991)		\$ (2,302)	\$ 586,515	\$ 422,454
Adoption of Accounting Standard	_	_	_	_	_	_	(6,696)	_	_	_	(6,696)
Net Income		_	_	—	—	_	27,170	_	_	15,388	42,558
Other Comprehensive Loss		_	_	_	_	_	_	(782)	_	(770)	(1,552)
Dividends Declared (\$0.20 Per Share											
of Class A Common Stock)	—	—	_	—	—	—	(4,319)	—	—	—	(4,319)
Tax Distributions	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	(15)	(15)
Equity-Based Compensation	—	—	—	—		72,939	—	—	—	45,052	117,991
Forfeiture Liability for Equity Awards	_	—	—	_	_	(529)	—	—	_	—	(529)
Net Share Settlement	_	_	_	—	_	(22,432)	_	_	_	_	(22,432)
Deliveries of Vested Shares of Class A Common Stock	3,987,274	—	_	40	—	(40)	_	_	_	_	
Acquisition-Related Equity Issuance	1,353,457	_	_	14	_	69,520		_	_	3,563	73,097
Change in Ownership Interest	—	(22)	—	_	_	67,590				(135,528)	(67,938)
Treasury Stock Purchases			(1,293,065)						(64,870)		(64,870)
Balance at December 31, 2018	23,940,185	199	(1,353,398)	\$ 240	\$	\$ 210,939	\$ (169,836)	\$ (627)	\$ (67,172)	\$ 514,205	\$ 487,749

(continued)

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

PJT Partners Inc. Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity (Deficit) (Dollars in Thousands, Except Share Data)

			Shares						Accumulated			
		Class A	Class B		Class A	Class B	Additional		Other		Non-	
		Common	Common	Treasury	Common Common		Paid-In	Accumulated	Comprehensive	Treasury	Controlling	
		Stock	Stock	Stock	Stock Stock Capital		Deficit	Deficit Income (Loss)		Interests	Total	
B	alance at December 31, 2018	23,940,185	199	(1,353,398)	\$ 240	\$ —	\$ 210,939	\$ (169,836)	\$ (627)	\$ (67,172)	\$ 514,205	\$ 487,749
	Net Income	_	_	_		_	_	29,562	—	_	34,225	63,787
	Other Comprehensive Income	_	_	_	_	_		_	773	—	703	1,476
	Dividends Declared (\$0.20 Per Share											
	of Class A Common Stock)	_	-	—	—	—	_	(4,645)	_	_	-	(4,645)
	Tax Distributions		—		_	—		—		—	(11,428)	(11,428)
	Equity-Based Compensation	_	_	_	_	_	75,826	_			35,742	111,568
	Forfeiture Liability for Equity Awards	_	_	_	_	_	10	_	_	_	_	10
	Net Share Settlement	—	_	_	_	_	(9,598)	_	—		_	(9,598)
	Deliveries of Vested Shares of Class A Common Stock	1,631,502	_	_	11	_	(11)	_	_	_	_	_
	Acquisition-Related Equity Issuance	49,764	_	_	_	_	1,889	_	_	_	398	2,287
	Change in Ownership Interest	—	5	—		_	11,841				(30,718)	(18,877)
	Treasury Stock Purchases	—		(1,191,259)	_			—	—	(47,812)		(47,812)
B	alance at December 31, 2019	25,621,451	204	(2,544,657)	\$ 251	\$	\$ 290,896	\$ (144,919)	\$ 146	\$ (114,984)	\$ 543,127	\$ 574,517

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

PJT Partners Inc. Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (Dollars in Thousands)

		Year Ended December 31	,	
	 2019	2018		2017
Operating Activities				
Net Income (Loss)	\$ 63,787	\$ 42,558	\$	(28,326
Adjustments to Reconcile Net Income (Loss) to Net Cash				
Provided by Operating Activities				
Equity-Based Compensation Expense	111,568	117,991		115,928
Depreciation and Amortization Expense	14,496	9,973		8,143
Amortization of Operating Lease Right-of-Use Assets	18,312	_		_
Deferred Taxes	11,509	(7,832)	30,961
Gain on Reversal of Amount Due Pursuant to Tax Receivable Agreement	_	_		(1,561
Other	3,566	708		(759
Cash Flows Due to Changes in Operating Assets and Liabilities				X
Accounts Receivable	(11,059)	(36,593)	41,179
Other Assets	(17,612)	(930)	(8,700
Accrued Compensation and Benefits	29,944	(5,417)	(46,098
Accounts Payable, Accrued Expenses and Other Liabilities	1,355	(1,602)	(322
Operating Lease Liabilities	(18,546)	_		_
Deferred Rent Liability	_	(638)	324
Taxes Payable	(2,209)	4,811		867
Deferred Revenue	6,294	(89)	(421
Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities	211,405	122,940		111,215
Investing Activities				
Cash Paid for Acquisition, Net of Cash Received	_	(61,463)	_
Purchases of Investments	(11,253)	(22,000)	(57,163
Proceeds from Sales and Maturities of Investments	10,859	59,176		19,988
Purchases of Furniture, Equipment and Leasehold				
Improvements	(8,811)	(7,206)	(1,062
Settlement of Acquisition-Related Escrow	7,485	_		_
Net Cash Used in Investing Activities	(1,720)	(31,493)	(38,237

(continued)

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

PJT Partners Inc. Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (Dollars in Thousands)

		Year Ended December 31,							
		2019		2018		2017			
Financing Activities									
Dividends	\$	(4,645)	\$	(4,319)	\$	(3,796)			
Proceeds from Revolving Credit Facility		15,000		—		—			
Payments on Revolving Credit Facility		(15,000)		—		_			
Proceeds from Term Loan		—		30,000		—			
Principal Payments on Term Loan		(8,500)							
Tax Distributions		(11,428)		(15)		(23,859)			
Employee Taxes Paid for Shares Withheld		(9,598)		(22,432)		(4,074)			
Cash-Settled Exchanges of Partnership Units		(18,953)		(68,928)		(45,511)			
Treasury Stock Purchases		(47,812)		(64,870)		(2,302)			
Payments Pursuant to Tax Receivable Agreement		(210)		(10)		—			
Principal Payments on Finance Leases		(145)		(106)		(97)			
Net Cash Used in Financing Activities		(101,291)		(130,680)		(79,639)			
Effect of Exchange Rate Changes on Cash and Cash Equivalents		1,446		(276)		(151)			
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents		109,840		(39,509)		(6,812)			
Cash and Cash Equivalents, Beginning of Period		106,110		145,619		152,431			
Cash and Cash Equivalents, End of Period	<u>\$</u>	215,950	\$	106,110	\$	145,619			
Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flows Information			-						
Payments for Income Taxes, Net of Refunds Received	<u>\$</u>	3,843	\$	501	\$	15,106			
Payments for Interest	\$	1,386	\$	368	\$	_			
Non-Cash Receipt of Shares	\$		\$	2,254	\$				
Supplemental Disclosure of Significant Non-Cash Activities									
Acquisition of CamberView Partners Holdings, LLC									
Assets Acquired	\$	—	\$	150,256	\$	_			
Liabilities Assumed	\$		\$	15,696	\$				
Equity Purchase Price Consideration	\$		\$	73,097	\$				

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

1. ORGANIZATION

PJT Partners Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries (the "Company" or "PJT Partners") deliver a wide array of strategic advisory, shareholder advisory, restructuring and special situations and private fund advisory and fundraising services to corporations, financial sponsors, institutional investors and governments around the world. The Company offers a unique portfolio of advisory services designed to help clients achieve their strategic objectives. Also, through PJT Park Hill, the Company provides private fund advisory and fundraising services for alternative investment managers, including private equity funds, real estate funds and hedge funds.

On October 1, 2015, The Blackstone Group Inc. ("Blackstone" or the "former Parent") distributed on a pro rata basis to its common unitholders all of the issued and outstanding shares of Class A common stock of PJT Partners Inc. held by it. This pro rata distribution is referred to as the "Distribution." The separation of the PJT Partners business from Blackstone and related transactions, including the Distribution, the internal reorganization that preceded the Distribution and the acquisition by PJT Partners of PJT Capital LP (together with its general partner and their respective subsidiaries, "PJT Capital") that occurred substantially concurrently with the Distribution, is referred to as the "spin-off."

As the sole general partner of PJT Partners Holdings LP, PJT Partners Inc. operates and controls all of the business and affairs and consolidates the financial results of PJT Partners Holdings LP and its operating subsidiaries. The Company operates through the following subsidiaries: PJT Partners LP, Park Hill Group LLC, PJT Partners (UK) Limited and PJT Partners (HK) Limited.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Presentation

The Company prepared the accompanying consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America ("GAAP").

Intercompany transactions have been eliminated for all periods presented. Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation.

During the second quarter of 2019, an adjustment was identified relating to the presentation of changes in the Company's ownership interest in PJT Partners Holdings LP, which resulted in a reclassification between Additional Paid-In Capital and Non-Controlling Interests. This immaterial correction had no impact on the Company's Consolidated Statements of Operations and Statements of Cash Flows. The adjustment increased Additional Paid-In Capital by \$60.0 million as of December 31, 2018, with a corresponding decrease to Non-Controlling Interests. The adjustment decreased Additional Paid-In Capital by \$6.8 million as of December 31, 2017, with a corresponding increase to Non-Controlling Interests. In accordance with Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC") Topic 250, *Accounting Changes and Error Corrections*, the Company evaluated the materiality of this adjustment from both quantitative and qualitative perspectives, and concluded that it was immaterial to the prior periods. Consequently, the Company revised the historical consolidated financial information presented herein.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements and related disclosures in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Estimates and assumptions are reviewed periodically, and the effects of revisions are reflected in the period in which they are determined to be necessary. In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management makes estimates regarding the adequacy of the allowance for doubtful accounts, evaluation of goodwill and intangible assets, realization of deferred taxes, measurement of equity-based compensation and other matters that affect the reported amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.



Business Combinations

The purchase price allocations for acquisitions are based on estimates of the fair value of tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed. The Company engages independent valuation specialists, when necessary, to assist with purchase price allocations and uses recognized valuation techniques, including the income and market approaches, to determine fair value. Management makes estimates and assumptions in determining purchase price allocations and valuation analyses, which may involve significant unobservable inputs. The excess of the purchase price over the estimated fair values of the underlying assets acquired and liabilities assumed is allocated to goodwill. In certain circumstances, the allocations of the purchase price are based upon preliminary estimates and assumptions. Accordingly, the allocations may be subject to revision when the Company receives final information, including appraisals and other analyses.

Assets acquired and liabilities assumed in business combinations are recorded in the Company's Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition as of the respective acquisition dates based upon their estimated fair values at such dates. The results of operations of businesses acquired by the Company are included in the Company's Consolidated Statements of Operations from their respective dates of acquisition.

Revenue Recognition

The services provided under contracts with customers include advisory and placement services, which are recorded as Advisory Fees and Placement Fees, respectively, in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. Additionally, the Company is typically reimbursed for certain professional fees and other expenses incurred that are necessary in order to provide services to the customer. These expenses are recorded in the relevant expense caption in the Consolidated Statements of Operations when incurred and recognized as revenue and recorded in accounts receivable when these amounts are invoiced to the customer. Such revenue amounts are recorded in Interest Income and Other in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

At contract inception, the Company assesses the services promised in its contracts with customers and identifies a performance obligation for each promise to transfer to the customer a service (or a bundle of services) that is distinct. To identify the performance obligations, the Company considers all of the services promised in the contract regardless of whether they are explicitly stated or are implied by customary business practices. Additionally, the Company allocates the transaction price to the respective performance obligation(s) by estimating the amount of consideration in which the Company expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring the promised services to the customer.

Advisory Fees

Strategic advisory services include a broad range of financial advisory and restructuring services, which includes providing financial advice regarding acquisitions, mergers, joint ventures, minority investments, asset swaps, divestitures, takeover defenses, corporate finance advisory, shareholder advisory, distressed sales, recapitalizations and restructurings, including raising various forms of financing, and portfolio liquidity solutions related to unfunded commitment relief and investments in secondary markets.

With respect to contracts for which Advisory Fees are recognized, the Company's primary performance obligation is to stand ready to perform a broad range of services the client may need over the course of the engagement. For such engagements, the customer obtains a benefit from the assurance that the Company is available to it, when-and-if needed or desired. Fees related to these stand-ready performance obligations are recognized over time using a time-based measure of progress.

The Company may also be engaged toprovide a fairness opinion to the client or the client may request that the Company arrange interim financing. The Company has determined that the delivery of either of these services represents a separate performance obligation that is satisfied at a point in time when the opinion or interim financing is delivered to the client as the customer is able to direct the use of, and obtain substantially all of the benefits from, the service at that point.



With respect to the transaction price for advisory services, the consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled is predominantly variable as the consideration is susceptible to factors outside of the Company's influence and/or contain a large number and broad range of possible consideration amounts. As such, these amounts excluded from the transaction price until the uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved and the Company has determined it is probable that there is not a significant risk of a revenue reversal in the future. The types of fees may vary in each engagement, but payments for Advisory Fees are generally due promptly upon completion of a specified event or, for retainer fees, periodically over the course of the engagement.

Placement Fees

The Company's fund placement services are provided within PJT Park Hill and primarily serve private equity, real estate and hedge funds. PJT Park Hill advises on all aspects of the fundraising process including competitive positioning and market assessment, marketing materials and related documentation and partnership terms and conditions most prevalent in the current environment. The Company also provides private placement fundraising services to corporate clients and earns placement fees based on successful completion of the transaction.

With respect to contracts for which Placement Fees are recognized, the Company has determined that the provision of overall capital advisory services in contemplation of a potential fund placement or capital raise is satisfied over time. Fees related to this performance obligation are recognized over time using a time-based method as the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits of the capital advisory services as they are provided.

With respect to the transaction price for placement services, the consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled is predominantly variable as the consideration is susceptible to factors outside of the Company's influence and/or contain a large number and broad range of possible consideration amounts. As such, these amounts are excluded from the transaction price until the uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved and the Company has determined it is probable that there is not a significant risk of a revenue reversal in the future. Placement Fees are typically payable upon completion of a fund closing or may bepaid in installments over three or four years with interest being charged to the outstanding balance. With respect to such fees paid over time, the Company has determined there is not a significant related to such contracts. Placement fees earned for services to corporate clients are typically payable upon completion.

Determining the Timing of Satisfaction of Performance Obligations

For performance obligations that are satisfied over time, determining a measure of progress requires management to make judgments that affect the timing of revenue recognized. The Company has determined that the methods described above provide a faithful depiction of the transfer of services to the customer.

For performance obligations that are satisfied at a point in time, the Company has determined that the customer is able to direct the use of, and obtain substantially all of the benefits from, the output of the service at the time it is provided to the client. Additionally, the Company considers control to have transferred at that point because the Company has a present right to payment, the Company has transferred the output of the service and the customer has significant risks and rewards of ownership.

Contract Balances

The timing of revenue recognition may differ from the timing of payment. The Company records a receivable when revenue is recognized prior to payment and the Company has an unconditional right to payment. The beginning and ending balances of Accounts Receivable, Net are included in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition.

The Company may receive non-refundable up-front fees in its contracts with customers, which are recorded as revenues in the period over which services are estimated to be provided. Additionally, the Company may receive payment of certain announcement, retainer or milestone fees before the performance obligation has been fully satisfied. Such fees give rise to a contract liability and are recorded as Deferred Revenue in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition. The beginning and ending balances of Deferred Revenue are included in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition.



The Company does not establish a provision for refunds or similar obligations. Additionally, the Company is the principal in the satisfaction of performance obligations.

To obtain a contract with a customer, the Company may incur costs such as advertising, marketing costs, bid and proposal costs and legal fees. The Company has determined that these costs would have been incurred regardless of whether the contract with the customer was obtained. Additionally, the Company does not expect to recover any of these costs from the customer; therefore, the costs of obtaining contracts with customers are expensed as incurred.

The compensation of employees assigned to provide services to customers are direct costs of fulfilling the contract. In addition, out-of-pocket expenses may be incurred as part of fulfilling the promised services under the contract. As these costs are related to performance obligations that are satisfied over time, the costs do not meet the criteria for capitalization.

Interest Income and Other – Interest Income and Other represents interest typically earned on Cash and Cash Equivalents, investments in Treasury securities and outstanding placement fees receivable; miscellaneous income; foreign exchange gains and losses arising on transactions denominated in currencies other than U.S. dollars; sublease income; and the amount of expense reimbursement invoiced to clients related to out-of-pocket expenses. Interest on placement fees receivable is earned from the time revenue is recognized and is calculated based upon the London Interbank Offered Rate ("LIBOR") plus an additional percentage as mutually agreed upon with the receivable counterparty. Interest receivable is included in Accounts Receivable, Net in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying value of financial instruments approximates fair value. Financial instruments held by the Company include Cash Equivalents, Investments, Accounts Receivable and Loan Payable.

GAAP establishes a hierarchical disclosure framework that prioritizes and ranks the level of market price observability used in measuring financial instruments at fair value. Market price observability is affected by a number of factors, including the type of financial instrument, the characteristics specific to the financial instrument and the state of the marketplace, including the existence and transparency of transactions between market participants. Financial instruments with readily available quoted prices in active markets generally will have a higher degree of market price observability and a lesser degree of judgment used in measuring fair value.

Financial instruments measured and reported at fair value are classified and disclosed based on the observability of inputs used in the determination of fair values, as follows:

- Level I Quoted prices are available in active markets for identical financial instruments as of the reporting date.
- Level II Pricing inputs are other than quoted prices in active markets, which are either directly or indirectly observable as of the reporting date, and fair value is determined through the use of models or other valuation methodologies.
- Level III Pricing inputs are unobservable for the financial instruments and includes situations where there is little, if any, market activity for the financial instrument. The inputs into the determination of fair value require significant management judgment or estimation.

In certain cases, the inputs used to measure fair value may fall into different levels of the fair value hierarchy. In such cases, the determination of which category within the fair value hierarchy is appropriate for any given financial instrument is based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement.

Investments in common stock are measured based on quoted closing exchange prices and are categorized within Level I of the fair value hierarchy. To the extent these securities are actively traded, valuation adjustments are not applied.

In making an assessment of the fair value hierarchy classification of investments in Treasury securities, the Company considers the amount of trading activity, observability of pricing inputs as well as whether the securities are of the most recent issuance of that security with the same maturity (referred to as "on-the-run", which is the most liquid version of the maturity band).

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Investments

Cash and Cash Equivalents include short-term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and have original maturities of three months or less from the date of purchase. Cash and Cash Equivalents are primarily held at three major U.S. financial institutions. Also included in Cash and Cash Equivalents are amounts held in bank accounts that are subject to advance notification to withdraw. Such amounts totaled \$16.8 million as of December 31, 2019.

Treasury securities with original maturities greater than three months when purchased are classified as Investments in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition. These securities are recorded at fair value using broker quotes, reflecting inputs from auction yields.

Accounts Receivable

Accounts Receivable includes placement fees, interest and advisory fee receivables. Accounts receivable are assessed periodically for collectibility and an allowance is recognized for doubtful accounts, if required.

Included in Accounts Receivable are long-term receivables which relate to placement fees that are generally paid in installments over a period ofhree to four years. Additional disclosures regarding Accounts Receivable are discussed in Note 5. "Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts." The Company charges interest on long-term receivables based upon LIBOR plus an additional percentage as mutually agreed upon with the receivable counterparty.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

The Company performs periodic reviews of outstanding accounts receivable and its clients' financial condition. The Company generally does not require collateral and establishes an allowance for doubtful accounts based upon factors such as historical experience, credit quality, age of the accounts receivable balances and the current economic conditions that may affect a counterparty's ability to pay such amounts owed to the Company.

After concluding that a reserved accounts receivable balance is no longer collectible, the Company will reduce both the gross receivable and the allowance for doubtful accounts. This is determined based on several factors, including the age of the accounts receivable balance and the creditworthiness of the counterparty.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill recorded arose from the contribution and reorganization of Blackstone's predecessor entities in 2007 immediately prior to Blackstone's initial public offering ("IPO"), the acquisition of PJT Capital LP that occurred on October 1, 2015 and the acquisition of CamberView Partners Holdings, LLC ("CamberView") that occurred on October 1, 2018. Goodwill is reviewed for impairment at least annually utilizing a qualitative or quantitative approach and more frequently if circumstances indicate impairment may have occurred. Goodwill is tested for impairment at the reporting unit level. A reporting unit is a component of an operating segment for which discrete financial information is available that is regularly reviewed by management. The impairment testing for goodwill under the qualitative approach is based first on a qualitative assessment to determine if it is more likely than not that the fair value of the Company's reporting unit is less than its respective carrying value. If it is determined that it is more likely than not that the reporting unit s darrying value or when the quantitative approach is used, a quantitative assessment is performed to (a) calculate the fair value of the reporting unit and compare it to its carrying value, and (b) if the carrying value exceeds its fair value, to measure an impairment loss.



The Company's intangible assets are derived from (a) customer relationships that were established as part of Blackstone's IPO and acquired as part of CamberView, and (b) the value of the trade name as part of the acquisitions of PJT Capital LP and CamberView. Identifiable finite-lived intangible assets are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives of four to fifteen years, reflecting the average time over which such intangible assets are expected to contribute to cash flows. Amortization expense is included in Depreciation and Amortization in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. The Company does not hold any indefinite-lived intangible assets. Intangible assets are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.

Furniture, Equipment and Leasehold Improvements

Furniture, Equipment and Leasehold Improvements, Net consist primarily of leasehold improvements, furniture, fixtures and equipment and office equipment, and are recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Depreciation and amortization are calculated using the straight-line method over the assets' estimated useful economic lives, which for leasehold improvements are the lesser of the lease terms or the life of the asset, generally ten to fifteen years, and five to seven years for other fixed assets. The Company evaluates long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Depreciation and amortization are included in Depreciation and Amortization in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Fixed assets held under finance leases are recorded at the present value of the future minimum lease payments, less accumulated depreciation and amortization in Furniture, Equipment and Leasehold Improvements, Net in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition. Depreciation and amortization are calculated using the straightline method over the life of the lease and are included in Depreciation and Amortization in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. The finance lease liabilities are included in Accounts Payable, Accrued Expenses and Other Liabilities in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition.

Leases

The Company adopted the new lease accounting guidance as of January 1, 2019. The Company determines if an arrangement is, or contains, a lease at inception.

The Company leases office space under non-cancelable lease agreements, which expire at various dates through 2036. The lease arrangements for office space typically contain payments to the lessor for common area maintenance charges and reimbursement for certain other costs that are not fixed. The Company accounts for these costs as variable lease costs and does not include them in the lease component. The Company has also entered into arrangements to sublease a portion of its office space, which expire at various dates through 2025.

The Company leases certain office equipment pursuant to finance leases, which expire atvarious dates through 2024. The Company does not elect the practical expedient to include the non-lease component with the lease component as a single lease component.

Right-of-Use Assets ("ROU assets") represent the Company's right to use an underlying asset for the lease term and lease liabilities represent the Company's obligation to make lease payments arising from the lease. ROU assets and lease liabilities are recognized at the commencement date based on the present value of the lease payments over the lease term. The Company's lease agreements generally do not provide an implicit rate, so the Company estimates the incremental borrowing rate considering the collateral, term and the economic environment of the lease arrangement with reference to the Company's term loan. Certain leases may include options to extend or terminate; however, the Company only reflects such renewal or termination option in the lease term when it is reasonably certain to exercise the option.

The Company records ROU assets and lease liabilities for operating leases in Operating Lease Right-of-Use Assets and Operating Lease Liabilities, respectively, on the Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition.

The Company does not record ROU assets or lease liabilities for leases with a term of twelve months or less. Lease expense for such leases is recognized on a straightline basis.



Foreign Currency

In the normal course of business, the Company may enter into transactions not denominated in U.S. dollars. Foreign exchange gains and losses arising on such transactions are recorded in Interest Income and Other in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. In addition, the Company consolidates a number of businesses that have a non-U.S. dollar functional currency. Non-U.S. dollar denominated assets and liabilities are translated to U.S. dollars at the exchange rate prevailing at the reporting date and income, expenses, gains and losses are translated at the prevailing monthly average exchange rate on the dates they were recorded. Cumulative translation adjustments arising from the translation of non-U.S. dollar denominated operations are recorded in Other Comprehensive Income (Loss).

Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Comprehensive Income (Loss) consists of Net Income (Loss) and Other Comprehensive Income (Loss). The Company's Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) is comprised of foreign currency cumulative translation adjustments.

Non-Controlling Interests

Prior to October 1, 2017, the ownership interests of holders (other than PJT Partners Inc.) of the common units of partnership interest in PJT Partners Holdings LP ("Partnership Units") were considered redeemable non-controlling interests. Redeemable Non-Controlling Interests were presented separately from Equity in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition and the portion of net income (loss) attributable to the redeemable non-controlling interests was presented separately in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

On October 1, 2017, certain of the restrictive covenants entered into in connection with the spin-off expired. Previously, the ability to settle exchanges of Partnership Units in shares of the Company's Class A common stock was not entirely within the Company's control. Consequently, the value of these interests was reclassified from Redeemable Non-Controlling Interests to Non-Controlling Interests at their redemption value as of October 1, 2017. The portion of net income (loss) attributable to the noncontrolling interests is presented separately in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

The Company previously elected to recognize any changes in the redemption value immediately as they occurred and adjusted the carrying amount of the redeemable non-controlling interests to its redemption value at the end of each reporting period. Reductions in the carrying amount of the redeemable non-controlling interests were only recorded if the Company had previously recorded increases in the carrying amount of the redeemable non-controlling interests. The change in redemption value was recognized in Redeemable Non-Controlling Interests with a corresponding adjustment to permanent equity in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition.

Repurchases of Common Stock

Shares of the Company's Class A common stock may be repurchased from time to time in open market transactions, in privately negotiated transactions or otherwise. The Company may structure such repurchases as either a purchase of treasury stock or a retirement of shares. The Company records its purchases of treasury stock at cost as a separate component of stockholders' equity. The Company may re-issue treasury stock, at average cost.



Compensation and Benefits

Compensation and Benefits includes salaries, cash bonuses, benefits, employer taxes and equity-based compensation associated with the grants of equity-based awards to partners and employees. Compensation cost relating to the issuance of equity-based awards with a requisite service period to partners and employees is measured at fair value at the grant date, taking into consideration expected forfeitures, and expensed over the vesting period on a straight-line basis. Equity-based awards that do not require future service are expensed immediately. Cash settled equity-based awards are classified as liabilities and are remeasured at the end of each reporting period.

In certain instances, the Company may grant equity-based awards containing both a service and a market condition. The effect of the market condition is reflected in the grant date fair value of the award. Compensation cost is recognized for an award with a market condition over the requisite service period, provided that the requisite service period is completed, irrespective of whether the market condition is satisfied. If a recipient terminates employment before completion of the requisite service period, any compensation cost previously recognized is reversed unless the market condition has been satisfied prior to termination. If the market condition has been satisfied during the vesting period, the remaining unrecognized compensation cost is accelerated.

At the Company's discretion, the Company may provide compensation to certain employees with repayment obligations and/or service provisions. Such payments are recorded in Compensation and Benefits in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. The Company assesses the potential risk of forfeiture and likelihood of recouping amounts paid, and if deemed necessary, records a provision for forfeitures in the financial statements.

Income Taxes

PJT Partners Inc. is a corporation subject to U.S. federal, state and local income taxes in jurisdictions where it does business. The Company's businesses generally operate as partnerships for U.S. federal and state purposes and as corporate entities in non-U.S. jurisdictions. In the U.S. federal and state jurisdictions, taxes related to income earned by these entities generally represent obligations of the individual members and partners.

The operating entities have generally been subject to New York City Unincorporated Business Tax and to entity-level income taxes imposed by non-U.S. jurisdictions, as applicable. These taxes have been reflected in the Company's consolidated financial statements.

PJT Partners Inc. is subject to U.S. corporate federal, state and local income tax on its allocable share of results of operations from the operating partnership (PJT Partners Holdings LP).

Current tax liabilities are recorded in Taxes Payable in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition.

The Company uses the asset and liability method of accounting for deferred tax assets and liabilities. Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the expected future tax consequences of differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases, using the enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which the differences are expected to reverse. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period when the change is enacted. Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance when the Company believes that it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized.

The Company records uncertain tax positions on the basis of a two-step process: (a) a determination is made whether it is more likely than not that the tax positions will be sustained based on the technical merits of the position, and (b) those tax positions that meet the recognition threshold described in the first step are recorded based on the largest amount of tax benefit that is more likely than not to be realized upon ultimate settlement with the tax authority.

The effects of tax adjustments and settlements with taxing authorities are presented in the Company's consolidated financial statements in the period to which they relate as if the Company were a separate tax filer in those years.



The Company recognizes accrued interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions in Other Expenses in the Consolidated Statements of Operations, as applicable.

Unrecognized tax benefits are recorded in Taxes Payable in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition, as applicable.

Amount Due Pursuant to Tax Receivable Agreement

Holders of Partnership Units (other than PJT Partners Inc.) may, subject to the terms and conditions set forth in the partnership agreement of PJT Partners Holdings LP, on a quarterly basis (subject to the terms of the exchange agreement), exchange their Partnership Units for cash or, at the Company's election, for shares of Class A common stock of PJT Partners Inc. on a one-for-one basis, subject to customary conversion rate adjustments for splits, unit distributions and reclassifications.PJT Partners Holdings LP has made an election under Section 754 of the Internal Revenue Code effective for each taxable year in which an exchange of Partnership Units for cash or for shares of Class A common stock occurs, which is expected to result in increases to the tax basis of the assets of PJT Partners Holdings LP at the time of an exchange of Partnership Units. Stock-settled exchanges and certain of these cash-settled exchanges are expected to result in increases in the tax basis may reduce the amount of tax that PJT Partners Inc. would otherwise be required to pay in the future. These increases in tax basis may also decrease gains (or increase losses) on future dispositions of certain capital assets to the extent tax basis is allocated to those capital assets.

The Company has entered into a tax receivable agreement with the holders of Partnership Units (other than PJT Partners Inc.) that provides for the payment by PJT Partners Inc. to exchanging holders of Partnership Units of 85% of the benefits, if any, that PJT Partners Inc. is deemed to realize as a result of the increases in tax basis related to such exchanges of Partnership Units and of certain other tax benefits related to entering into the tax receivable agreement, including tax benefits attributable to payments under the tax receivable agreement. This payment obligation is an obligation of PJT Partners Inc. and not of PJT Partners Holdings LP. PJT Partners Inc. expects to benefit from the remaining 15% of cash tax savings, if any, in income tax it realizes.

For purposes of the tax receivable agreement, the cash tax savings in income tax is computed by comparing the actual income tax liability of PJT Partners Inc. (calculated with certain assumptions) to the amount of such taxes that PJT Partners Inc. would have been required to pay had there been no increase to the tax basis of the assets of PJT Partners Holdings LP as a result of the exchanges and had PJT Partners Inc. not entered into the tax receivable agreement. The term of the tax receivable agreement continues until all such tax benefits have been utilized or expired, unless PJT Partners Inc. exercises its right to terminate the tax receivable agreement for an amount based on the agreed payments remaining to be made under the agreement or PJT Partners Inc. breaches any of its material obligations under the tax receivable agreement in which case all obligations generally will be accelerated and due as if PJT Partners Inc. had exercised its right to terminate the tax receivable agreement.

The Company accounts for the effects of these increases in tax basis and associated payments under the tax receivable agreement arising from exchanges as follows:

- the Company records an increase in deferred tax assets for the estimated income tax effects of the increases in tax basis based on enacted federal, state and local tax rates at the date of the exchange;
- to the extent the Company estimates that it will not realize the full benefit represented by the deferred tax asset, based on an analysis that will consider, among other things, the Company's expectation of future earnings, the Company reduces the deferred tax asset with a valuation allowance; and
- the Company records 85% of the estimated realizable tax benefit (which is the recorded deferred tax asset less any recorded valuation allowance) as an increase to the Amount Due Pursuant to Tax Receivable Agreement and the remaining 15% of the estimated realizable tax benefit as an increase to Additional Paid-In Capital.

The effects of changes in estimates after the date of the redemption or exchange as well as subsequent changes in the enacted tax rates are included in net income.



Net Income (Loss) Per Share of Class A Common Stock

Basic Net Income (Loss) Per Share is computed using the weighted-average number of shares of Class A common stock outstanding; vested, undelivered restricted stock units ("RSUs"); and unvested RSUs that have met requisite service requirements.

Diluted Net Income (Loss) Per Share is computed using the number of shares of Class A common stock included in the Basic Net Income (Loss) Per Share calculation, and if dilutive, the incremental common stock that the Company would issue upon the assumed vesting of RSUs using the treasury stock method.

Contingencies and Litigation

The Company records loss contingencies if (a) information available prior to issuance of the consolidated financial statements indicates that it is probable that an asset had been impaired or a liability had been incurred at the date of the consolidated financial statements, and (b) the amount of loss can be reasonably estimated. If one or both criteria for accrual are not met, but there is at least a reasonable possibility that a loss will occur, the Company does not record an accrual for a loss contingency but describes the contingency and provides detail, when possible, of the estimated potential loss or range of loss. If an estimate cannot be made, a statement to that effect is made. Costs incurred with defending matters are expensed as incurred. Accruals related to loss contingencies are recorded in Other Expenses in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Insurance Reimbursements

Receipts from insurance reimbursements up to the amount of the losses recognized are considered recoveries. These recoveries are accounted for when they are probable of receipt. Insurance recoveries are not recognized prior to the recognition of the related loss. Any receivable for insurance recoveries is recorded separately from the corresponding liability, and only if recovery is determined to be probable and reasonably estimable. Insurance reimbursements are recorded in Other Expenses in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Recent Accounting Developments

In February 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued new guidance regarding leases. The guidance requires lessees to recognize, on the balance sheet, assets and liabilities for the rights and obligations created by leases. The lease-related assets are amortized to expense over the life of the leases and the liability, and related interest expense, are reduced as lease payments are made over the life of the lease. Entities are also required to provide enhanced disclosure about leasing arrangements. The amendments retain lease classifications, distinguishing finance leases from operating leases, using criteria that are substantially similar for distinguishing capital leases from operating leases in previous guidance.

The Company adopted the new guidance as of January 1, 2019 using the transition method that allows such guidance to be applied initially at the adoption date without restating comparative periods. The Company elected the transition package of practical expedients to alleviate certain operational complexities related to the adoption.

The impact of adoption of the lease guidance as of January 1, 2019 was as follows:

	December 31, 2018 Adjustments		January 1, 2019	
Operating Lease Right-of-Use Assets	\$	_	\$ 129,479	\$ 129,479
Other Assets		26,935	(866)	26,069
Accounts Payable, Accrued Expenses and Other Liabilities		24,657	(1,190)	23,467
Operating Lease Liabilities		_	146,220	146,220
Deferred Rent Liability		16,417	(16,417)	_

In June 2016, the FASB issued guidance regarding the measurement of credit losses on financial instruments. The new guidance replaces the incurred loss impairment methodology with a methodology that reflects expected credit losses and requires consideration of a broader range of reasonable and supportable information to inform

credit loss estimates, which primarily impacts the recording of the Company's allowance for doubtful accounts on accounts receivable balances. The guidance is effective for annual and interim periods beginning after December 15, 2019, with early adoption permitted for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018. The Company adopted this guidance using the modified retrospective method to the opening balance of retained earnings as of January 1, 2020. The Company is finalizing its assessment of the opening adjustment, but does not expect the adjustment to have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements.

In February 2018, the FASB issued guidance that allows a reclassification from accumulated other comprehensive income to retained earnings for stranded tax effects resulting from the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act. The guidance is effective for annual and interim periods beginning after December 15, 2018, with an option to apply it in the period of adoption or on a retrospective basis for each period in which the effect of the change in the U.S. federal corporate income tax rate is recognized. Early adoption of the new guidance is permitted for reporting periods for which financial statements have not yet been issued. The Company adopted this guidance on January 1, 2019 with no material impact on its consolidated financial statements.

In August 2018, the FASB issued updated guidance on the accounting for implementation costs incurred in a cloud computing arrangement. The updated guidance requires the capitalization of implementation costs incurred in a cloud computing arrangement to be aligned with the requirements for capitalizing costs incurred to develop or obtain internal-use software. The updated guidance is effective for annual and interim reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2019, with early adoption permitted. The Company adopted this guidance on January 1, 2020 for cloud computing arrangements on a prospective basis.

In August 2018, the FASB issued updated guidance that modifies the disclosure requirements for fair value measurements. The updated guidance removes and modifies various disclosures under current guidance and includes additional requirements. The updated guidance is effective for annual and interim periods beginning after December 15, 2019, with early adoption permitted. The Company adopted this guidance on January 1, 2020 with no material impact on its consolidated financial statements.

In December 2019, the FASB issued guidance that modifies the accounting for income taxes. The guidance provides clarification on multiple topics, including hybrid tax regimes, the tax basis step-up in goodwill that is not classified as a business combination, separate financial statements of legal entities not subject to tax, intraperiod tax allocation, ownership changes in investments, interim period accounting for enacted changes in tax law and year-to-date loss limitations in interim period tax accounting. The guidance is effective for annual and interim periods beginning after December 15, 2020, with early adoption permitted. The Company is currently assessing the impact that adoption will have on its consolidated financial statements.

3. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

Acquisition of CamberView

On October 1, 2018, the Company completed the acquisition of CamberView. CamberView is a leading advisory firm providing independent advice to assist public company boards of directors and management teams in building strong and successful relationships with investors. The acquisition of CamberView expands the Company's ability to serve clients.

Pursuant to the Agreement and Plan of Merger, by and among the Company, PJT Partners Holdings LP ("Purchaser"), Blue Merger Sub LLC, a wholly owned subsidiary of Purchaser, CamberView and CC CVP Partners Holdings, L.L.C., solely in its capacity as securityholder representative, dated as of August 27, 2018 (the "Agreement"), the Company acquired 100% ownership of CamberView. A portion of the closing consideration was placed into escrow to cover potential post-closing obligations of the selling unitholders.

This transaction was accounted for as a business combination and CamberView's operating results have been included in the Company's consolidated financial statements from the date of the transaction. The Company incurred \$1.8 million of costs related to the acquisition, which were primarily recorded in Professional Fees in the Consolidated Statement of Operations for the year ended December 31, 2018.



The purchase price was comprised of the following:

Cash (a)	\$ 60),765
Common Stock (b)	71	,423
Partnership Units (c)	3	3,961
Total Purchase Price	<u>\$ 136</u>	5,149

- (a) Reflects cash paid to selling unitholders and employees of CamberView at closing, payoff of an existing term loan facility held by CamberView at closing and settlement of escrow balances in March 2019.
- (b) Reflects the value of 1.4 million shares of PJT Partners Inc. Class A common stock issued to the selling unitholders of CamberView at closing based on the Company's closing stock price of \$51.55 on October 1, 2018 and the value of an additional0.1 million shares of PJT Partners Inc. Class A common stock issued to the selling unitholders related to the settlement of escrow balances in March 2019 based on the Company's closing stock price of \$40.61 on March 15, 2019.
- (c) Reflects the value of 0.1 million Partnership Units issued to certain CamberView employees at closing using a fair value of \$7.53, which represented the closing stock price of \$51.55 on October 1, 2018 discounted for holding period risk as well as an additional0.1 million Partnership Units issued to certain CamberView employees upon the settlement of escrow balances in March 2019 using a fair value of \$37.44, which represented the closing stock price of \$40.61 on March 15, 2019 discounted for holding period risk. Partnership Units shall be eligible for exchange in accordance with the Exchange Agreement starting on the first exchange date when the Partnership Units have been both outstanding and fully vested for at least six months as of the applicable exchange date.

The total purchase price includes Securityholder Representative Funds, as defined in the Agreement, of \$1.0 million, which may be used to cover post-closing obligations of the selling unitholders. Any release of these proceeds to PJT Partners Inc. will not result in a change to the total purchase price above.

Under the terms of the acquisition agreement, the Company was required to replace a portion of CamberView employees' former equity awards and, as such, was required to allocate a portion of the newly issued awards to the purchase price. The portion not included in the purchase price is recorded in compensation expense according to the vesting conditions of the respective equity award agreements.



The following table summarizes the allocation of the total purchase price:

	December 31, 2018		Measurement Period Adjustments		D	ecember 31, 2019
Assets						
Cash	\$	6,787	\$	_	\$	6,787
Accounts Receivable		2,602		—		2,602
Furniture, Equipment and Leasehold Improvements, Net		283		_		283
Other Assets		2,915		(81)		2,834
Identifiable Intangible Assets		40,600		(1,700)		38,900
Goodwill		103,745		(3,306)		100,439
Deferred Tax Asset		111		(111)		
Total Assets		157,043		(5,198)		151,845
Liabilities						
Accrued Compensation and Benefits		192				192
Accounts Payable, Accrued Expenses and Other						
Liabilities		8,660		_		8,660
Deferred Rent Liability		230				230
Taxes Payable		54		_		54
Deferred Revenue		6,560				6,560
Total Liabilities		15,696		_		15,696
Net Assets	\$	141,347	\$	(5,198)	\$	136,149

The excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the net assets acquired of \$100.4 million was recorded as goodwill. Goodwill included the in-place workforce, which allowed the Company to continue serving its existing client base, begin marketing to potential clients and avoid significant costs reproducing the workforce.

The business combination was treated as an asset purchase for tax purposes. Similar to the purchase accounting method used for book purposes, the excess of the purchase price paid over the fair value of the net assets acquired was recorded as goodwill for tax purposes. The amount of goodwill recorded for tax purposes was determined based on the consideration paid at closing and is amortized for tax purposes ratably over a fifteen year period.

The fair value of the intangible assets acquired, which consisted of CamberView's customer relationships and trade name, is based, in part, on a valuation using an income approach. The Company considered, among other factors, the analyses of historical financial performance and an estimate of the future performance of the CamberView business. The risk adjusted discount rates used to compute the present value of individual intangible assets expected net cash flows were based upon PJT Partners Inc.'s estimated weighted average cost of capital. The estimated fair value ascribed to the identifiable intangible assets is amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of each of the intangible assets over periods ranging between four to eight years. The carrying value of all other assets and liabilities was deemed to approximate their estimated fair value. Goodwill represented the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of net assets acquired.

The Consolidated Statement of Operations for the year ended December 31, 2019 includes the results of CamberView and he Consolidated Statement of Operations for the year ended December 31, 2018 includes the results of CamberView from the date of acquisition, October 1, 2018, through December 31, 2018 Supplemental information on an unaudited pro forma basis, as if the acquisition had been consummated as of January 1, 2017 is as follows:

		Year Ended December 31,					
	2018			2017			
Total Revenues	\$	615,643	\$	531,990			
Net Income (Loss) Attributable to PJT Partners Inc.	\$	26,195	\$	(36,825)			

The unaudited pro forma results of operations do not purport to represent what the Company's results of operations would actually have been had the acquisition occurred on January 1, 2017 or to project the Company's results of operations for any future period. Actual future results may vary considerably based on a variety of factors beyond the Company's control.

4. REVENUES FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS

The following table provides a disaggregation of revenues recognized from contracts with customers for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018:

	Year Ended December 31,				
Advisory Fees	 2019		2018		
	\$ 571,771	\$	451,553		
Placement Fees	133,180		111,035		
Interest Income from Placement Fees and Other	11,800		13,141		
Revenues from Contracts with Customers	\$ 716,751	\$	575,729		

Remaining Performance Obligations and Revenue Recognized from Past Performance

As of December 31, 2019, the aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated to performance obligations yet to be satisfied is Ω 0.0 million and the Company generally expects to recognize this revenue within the next twelve months. Such amounts relate to the Company's performance obligations of providing capital advisory services and standing ready to perform.

The Company recognized revenue of \$33.7 million and \$19.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively, related to performance obligations that were fully satisfied in prior periods, primarily due to constraints on variable consideration in prior periods being resolved. Such amounts related primarily to the provision of capital advisory services. The majority of Fee Revenue recognized by the Company during the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 was predominantly related to performance obligations that were partially satisfied in prior periods.

Contract Balances

There were no significant impairments related to contract balances during the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018.

For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, \$7.9 million and \$1.4 million, respectively, of revenue was recognized that was included in the beginning balance of Deferred Revenue, primarily related to the Company's performance obligation of standing ready to perform. In certain contracts, the Company receives customer deposits, which are also considered to be contract liabilities. As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company recorded \$2.2 million and \$1.1 million, respectively, of customer deposits in Accounts Payable, Accrued Expenses and Other Liabilities in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition.



ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE AND ALLOWANCE FOR DOUBTFUL ACCOUNTS 5.

Included in Accounts Receivable, Net are long-term receivables of \$77.6 million and \$77.9 million as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively, related to placement fees that are generally paid in installments over a period of three to four years. The carrying value of such long-term receivables approximates fair value. Long-term receivables are classified as Level II in the fair value hierarchy.

The Company does not have any long-term receivables on non-accrual status. Of receivables that originated as long-term, there were \$1.3 million and \$7.5 million as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively, which were outstanding more than 90 days. There was no allowance for doubtful accounts with respect to such receivables as of December 31, 2019 and 2018.

GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS 6.

Changes in the carrying value of goodwill consist of the following:

	 December 31,					
	2019		2018			
Balance, Beginning of Year	\$ 176,031	\$	72,286			
Goodwill Acquired (a)	_		103,745			
Measurement Period Adjustments (b)	(3,306)					
Balance, End of Year	\$ 172,725	\$	176,031			

(a) The change in carrying amount of goodwill was related to the acquisition of CamberView.

During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company recorded \$3.3 million of measurement period adjustments to goodwill related to the acquisition of (b) CamberView.

As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company's assessment did not result in any impairment of goodwill.

Intangible Assets, Net consists of the following:

	December 31,				
	 2019		2018		
Finite-Lived Intangible Assets	 				
Customer Relationships	\$ 61,276	\$	62,876		
Trade Name	9,800		9,900		
Total Intangible Assets	71,076		72,776		
Accumulated Amortization	(31,270)		(23,616)		
Intangible Assets, Net	\$ 39,806	\$	49,160		

Changes in the Company's Intangible Assets, Net consist of the following:

	Year Ended December 31,						
	 2019		2018		2017		
Balance, Beginning of Year	\$ 49,160	\$	12,295	\$	14,713		
Additions	_		40,600		_		
Amortization Expense	(7,654)		(3,735)		(2,418)		
Measurement Period Adjustments (a)	(1,700)		_		_		
Balance, End of Year	\$ 39,806	\$	49,160	\$	12,295		

(a)

During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company recorded \$1.7 million of measurement period adjustments to intangible assets related to the acquisition of CamberView. As a result of this decrease in intangible assets, the Company recorded a cumulative decrease to accumulated amortization of \$0.2 million as of September 30, 2019. Such change was also reflected in Depreciation and Amortization in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Amortization of Intangible Assets held at December 31, 2019 is expected to be \$7.7 million for each of the years ending December 31, 2020 and 2021; \$6.5 million for the year ending December 31, 2022 and \$4.9 million for each of the years ending December 31, 2023 and 2024.

7. FURNITURE, EQUIPMENT AND LEASEHOLD IMPROVEMENTS

Furniture, Equipment and Leasehold Improvements, Net consists of the following:

	 December 31,					
	2019		2018			
Office Equipment	\$ 2,324	\$	2,151			
Leasehold Improvements	45,368		38,745			
Furniture and Fixtures	16,040		13,558			
Total Furniture, Equipment and Leasehold	 					
Improvements	63,732		54,454			
Accumulated Depreciation	(26,609)		(19,649)			
Furniture, Equipment and Leasehold Improvements,						
Net	\$ 37,123	\$	34,805			

Depreciation expense was \$6.8 million, \$6.2 million and \$5.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

8. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The following tables summarize the valuation of the Company's investments by the fair value hierarchy:

		December 31, 2019						
	Level I	Level 1	Ι	Level III		Total		
easury Instruments	\$	- \$ 2	3,821 \$	_	\$	23,821		
		D	ecember 31, 2	018				
	Level I	Level 1	I	Level III		Total		
easury Instruments	\$	— \$	3,297 \$		\$	3,297		
mmon Stock	2,1	57	_	_		2,157		
Fotal Investments	\$ 2,1	57 \$	3,297 \$		\$	5,454		

Investments in Treasury securities were included in both Cash and Cash Equivalents and Investments at December 31, 2019 and in Cash and Cash Equivalents at December 31, 2018 in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition.

During the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, there wereno transfers from Level I to Level II related to Treasury securities that were initially acquired as on-the-run and classified as Level I, but subsequently transferred to Level II as a result of becoming off-the-run. There were also no transfers between Level I, Level II or Level III during the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017.

The carrying value of the loan payable approximates fair value based on Level II inputs.

9. INCOME TAXES

The Company's pretax income is associated with activities in domestic and international jurisdictions, as follows:

	 Year Ended December 31,						
	2019		2018		2017		
Income (Loss) Before Provision (Benefit) for Taxes							
Domestic	\$ 110,012	\$	6,579	\$	13,597		
International	(27,822)		34,934		(3,543)		
Total	\$ 82,190	\$	41,513	\$	10,054		

The Provision (Benefit) for Income Taxes consists of the following:

	Year Ended December 31,						
	2019		2018			2017	
Current							
Federal Income Tax	\$	3,442	\$	219	\$	5,083	
State and Local Income Tax		3,142		1,323		1,749	
Foreign Income Tax		310		5,245		587	
		6,894		6,787		7,419	
Deferred							
Federal Income Tax		12,385		(5,220)		28,607	
State and Local Income Tax		3,365		(2,544)		2,354	
Foreign Income Tax		(4,241)		(68)		—	
		11,509		(7,832)		30,961	
Provision (Benefit) for Taxes	\$	18,403	\$	(1,045)	\$	38,380	

The following table summarizes the Company's tax position:

	 Year Ended December 31,							
	2019		2018		2017			
Income Before Provision (Benefit) for Taxes	\$ 82,190	\$	41,513	\$	10,054			
Provision (Benefit) for Taxes	\$ 18,403	\$	(1,045)	\$	38,380			
Effective Income Tax Rate	22.4 %		-2.5 %		381.7%			

The following table reconciles the U.S. federal statutory tax rate to the effective income tax rate:

	Year	Year Ended December 31,		
	2019	2018	2017	
Expected Income Tax Expense at the Federal Statutory Rate	21.0 %	21.0%	35.0%	
Remeasurement of Deferred Tax Assets Pursuant to Tax Legislation	_	_	246.0%	
Permanent Differences for Compensation	4.1%	-18.6%	56.5 %	
Accrual to Blackstone Related to Employee Matters Agreement	0.1%	0.6%	10.4 %	
Partnership (Income) Loss Not Subject to U.S. Corporate Income Taxes	-8.6%	-9.3%	-18.1 %	
Foreign Income Taxes	-1.5%	5.4%	3.1%	
State and Local Income Taxes, Net of Federal Benefit	5.7%	1.3%	27.8%	
Return to Provision	-0.2 %	_	24.0 %	
Change in Amount Due Pursuant to Tax Receivable Agreement Related to				
Tax Legislation	—		-5.4%	
Rate Change Impact	1.3%	-4.6%	—	
Other	0.5%	1.7%	2.4%	
Effective Income Tax Rate	22.4 %	-2.5 %	381.7%	

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences that may exist between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which the differences are expected to reverse. A summary of the tax effects of the temporary differences is as follows:

	December 31,		
	2019		2018
Deferred Tax Assets			
Operating Lease Liabilities	\$ 23,669	\$	—
Tax Basis Step-Up from Blackstone	21,891		25,938
Deferred Compensation	13,759		12,120
Partner Exchange Basis Step-Up	9,624		10,071
Net Operating Loss	4,222		10,514
Deferred Rent			2,186
Other	1,337		3,504
Deferred Tax Assets Before Valuation Allowance	 74,502		64,333
Valuation Allowance	_		(663)
Total Deferred Tax Assets	\$ 74,502	\$	63,670
Deferred Tax Liabilities			
Operating Lease Right-of-Use Assets	\$ 21,549	\$	_
Intangible Assets	1,099		1,264
Fixed Assets	468		1,128
Other	3,149		2,427
Total Deferred Tax Liabilities	26,265		4,819
Deferred Tax Asset, Net	\$ 48,237	\$	58,851
The Tax Cuts and Jobs Act ("Tax Legislation") was signed into law on December 22, 2017, which lowered the U.S. corporate income tax rate to21% as of January 1, 2018. The impact of the Tax Legislation was recorded as an increase in income tax expense of \$24.7 million during the year ended December 31, 2017 due to the effects of the remeasurement of U.S. deferred tax assets at a lower enacted corporate tax rate. Additionally, the Company recorded an adjustment of \$1.6 million related to a decrease in the Amount Due Pursuant to Tax Receivable Agreement in Interest Income and Other in the Consolidated Statement of Operations. With respect to the Tax Legislation, the Company did not record any adjustments during the measurement period.

With respect to foreign operations, the Company has recorded a tax benefit of \$4.2 million related to an income tax net operating loss with an unlimited carryforward.

The realization of deferred tax assets arising from timing differences and net operating losses requires taxable income in future years in order to deduct the reversing timing differences and absorb the net operating losses. The Company assesses positive and negative evidence in determining whether to record a valuation allowance with respect to deferred tax assets. This assessment is performed separately for each taxing jurisdiction.

The Company considered its cumulative taxable income earned in recent periods and projections of future taxable income based on the growth trajectory of its business as positive evidence in evaluating its ability to utilize the deferred tax assets. The Company's projections of future taxable income currently indicate that it is more likely than not that the deferred tax assets will be realized.

The Company does not believe that it meets the indefinite reversal criteria that would allow the Company to refrain from recognizing any deferred tax liability with respect to its foreign subsidiaries. Accordingly, the Company records a deferred tax liability with respect to an outside basis difference in its investment in a foreign subsidiary, where applicable.

The Company is subject to taxation in the United States and various state, local and foreign jurisdictions. As of December 31, 2019, the Company is not generally subject to examination by the tax authorities for years before 2016.

The Company had no unrecognized tax benefits as of December 31, 2019 and 2018.

The Company does not anticipate a material increase or decrease in unrecognized tax benefits during the coming year.

During the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, no interest or penalties were accrued with respect to unrecognized tax positions and there wereno settlements with taxing authorities.

10. NET INCOME (LOSS) PER SHARE OF CLASS A COMMON STOCK

Basic and diluted net income (loss) per share of Class A common stock for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017 is presented below:

	Year Ended December 31,				
	 2019		2018		2017
Numerator:					
Net Income (Loss) Attributable to PJT Partners Inc.	\$ 29,562	\$	27,170	\$	(32,554)
Less:					
Dividends on Participating Securities	20		128		88
Net Income Attributable to Participating Securities	34		143		
Net Income (Loss) Attributable to Shares of Class A					
Common Stock — Basic	29,508		26,899		(32,642)
Incremental Net Income from Dilutive Securities	 879		1,325		
Net Income (Loss) Attributable to Shares of Class A					
Common Stock — Diluted	\$ 30,387	\$	28,224	\$	(32,642)
Denominator:					
Weighted-Average Shares of Class A Common					
Stock Outstanding — Basic	24,007,138		21,879,574		18,858,010
Weighted-Average Number of Incremental Shares from					
Unvested RSUs	 1,007,431		2,374,487		(a)
Weighted-Average Shares of Class A Common					
Stock Outstanding — Diluted	 25,014,569		24,254,061		18,858,010
Net Income (Loss) Per Share of Class A Common Stock					
Basic	\$ 1.23	\$	1.23	\$	(1.73)
Diluted	\$ 1.21	\$	1.16	\$	(1.73)
				_	

(a) These securities were determined to be anti-dilutive and therefore were excluded from the calculation of net income (loss) per share of Class A common stock.

Partnership Units may be exchanged for PJT Partners Inc. Class A common stock on a one-for-one basis, subject to applicable vesting and transfer restrictions. If all Partnership Units were exchanged for Class A common stock, weighted-average Class A common stock outstanding would be 39,919,341 for the year ended December 31, 2019, excluding unvested RSUs and participating RSUs. In computing the dilutive effect, if any, which the aforementioned exchange would have on net income (loss) per share, net income (loss) attributable to holders of Class A common stock would be adjusted due to the elimination of the non-controlling interests associated with the Partnership Units (including any tax impact). For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, such exchange is reflected in diluted net income per share. For the year ended December 31, 2017, such exchange is not reflected in diluted net loss per share as the assumed exchange is not dilutive.

The following table summarizes the anti-dilutive securities for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017:

	Ye	Year Ended December 31,			
	2019	2018	2017		
Weighted-Average Unvested RSUs	(a)	(a)	3,767,622		
Weighted-Average Participating RSUs	40,544	139,519	450,718		
Weighted-Average Partnership Units	15,912,203	15,673,976	14,972,302		

(a) These securities were determined to be dilutive.

11. EQUITY-BASED AND OTHER DEFERRED COMPENSATION

Overview

On October 1, 2015, the Company adopted the PJT Partners Inc. 2015 Omnibus Incentive Plan, and on April 24, 2019, the Company adopted the Amended and Restated PJT Partners Inc. Omnibus Plan (the "PJT Equity Plan") for the purpose of providing incentive compensation measured by reference to the value of the Company's Class A common stock or Partnership Units. The PJT Equity Plan provides for the granting of incentive stock options, nonqualified stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, restricted stock units, partnership interests and other stock-based or cash-based awards. The Company has authorized 17 million shares of Class A common stock for issuance of new awards under the PJT Equity Plan, which is in addition to the shares that were issuable under the plan in connection with the spin-off. The Company intends to use newly-issued shares of the Company's Class A common stock to satisfy vested RSU awards under the PJT Equity Plan.

The following table represents equity-based compensation expense and related income tax benefit for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017:

		Year I	Ended December 31	,	
	2019		2018	_	2017
Equity-Based Compensation Expense	\$ 111,568	\$	117,991	\$	115,928
Income Tax Benefit	\$ 10,709	\$	9,987	\$	8,664

Restricted Stock Units

Pursuant to the PJT Equity Plan and in connection with the spin-off, acquisition of CamberView, annual compensation process and ongoing hiring process, the Company has issued RSUs, which generally vest over a service life of three to five years. Awards are generally forfeited if the employee ceases to be employed by the Company prior to vesting.

A summary of the status of the Company's unvested RSUs as of December 31, 2019 and for changes during the year ended December 31, 2019 is presented below:

		Restricted Stock Units			
	PJT Part	ners Inc.	PJT Partners Holdings LP		
	Number of Units	Weighted- Average Grant Date Fair Value (in dollars)	Number of Units	A Gr: Fa	eighted- werage ant Date ir Value dollars)
Balance, December 31, 2018	4,254,205	\$ 40.99	98,295	\$	37.17
Granted	2,042,990	43.87	_		_
Vested	(1,844,158)	35.67	(73,908)		35.72
Forfeited	(337,095)	40.40	(6,085)		41.58
Dividends Reinvested on RSUs	21,653	42.59			_
Balance, December 31, 2019	4,137,595	\$ 44.84	18,302	\$	41.57

As of December 31, 2019, there was \$90.5 million of estimated unrecognized compensation expense related to unvested RSU awards. This cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 0.9 years. The Company assumes a forfeiture rate of 1.0% to 9.0% annually based on expected turnover and periodically reassesses this rate.

RSU Awards with Both Service and Market Conditions

In connection with the acquisition of CamberView and ongoing hiring process, the Company has granted RSU awards containing both service and market conditions. The service condition requirement with respect to such equity-based awards is four years with 100% vesting occurring at the end of the fourth year. The market condition requirement will generally be satisfied upon the publicly traded shares of Class A common stock achieving a volume-weighted average share price target over any consecutive 30-day trading period subsequent to the grant date.

A summary of the status of the Company's unvested RSU awards with both a service and market condition as of December 31, 2019 and of changes during the year ended December 31, 2019 is presented below:

	Both Service	ards with e and Market litions
	Number of Units	Weighted- Average Grant Date Fair Value (in dollars)
Balance, December 31, 2018	253,152	\$ 26.19
Granted	25,158	12.07
Forfeited	(15,968)	26.19
Balance, December 31, 2019	262,342	\$ 24.84

As of December 31, 2019, there was \$4.1 million of estimated unrecognized compensation expense related to RSU awards with both a service and market condition. This cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.7 years. The Company assumes a forfeiture rate of 4.0% to 9.0% annually based on expected turnover and periodically reassesses this rate.

The following table presents the assumptions used to determine the fair value of the RSU awards with both a service and market condition granted during the year ended December 31, 2019:

Risk-Free Interest Rate	1.7% - 2.3%
Dividend Yield	0.5%
Expected Volatility Factor	28.2% - 29.8%
Weighted-Average Volatility Factor	29.0%
Expected Life (in years)	2.8 - 3.2

Restricted Share Awards

In connection with the acquisition of CamberView, certain individuals were issued restricted shares of the Company's Class A common stock. Based on the terms of the award, compensation expense will be recognized over four years. For the year ended December 31, 2019,3,591 restricted share awards were granted. For the year ended December 31, 2018, 5,100 restricted share awards were granted. As of December 31, 2019,no restricted shares have vested or have been forfeited and there was \$0.3 million of estimated unrecognized compensation expense related to restricted share awards. This cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.8 years.

Partnership Units

In connection with the spin-off, acquisition of CamberView, annual compensation process and ongoing hiring process, certain individuals were issued Partnership Units that, subject to certain terms and conditions, are exchangeable at the option of the holder for cash or, at the Company's election, for shares of PJT Partners Inc. Class A common stock on a one-for-one basis. These Partnership Units generally vest over a service life offhree to five years.



A summary of the status of the Company's unvested Partnership Units as of December 31, 2019 and of changes during the year ended December 31, 2019 is presented below:

	Partnersh	Partnership Units		
	Number of Partnership Units		Weighted- Average Grant Date Fair Value (in dollars)	
Balance, December 31, 2018	3,323,948	\$	24.23	
Granted	138,278		38.90	
Vested	(2,897,789)		22.21	
Balance, December 31, 2019	564,437	\$	38.18	

As of December 31, 2019, there was \$13.4 million of estimated unrecognized compensation expense related to unvested Partnership Units. This cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.0 year. The Company assumes a forfeiture rate of 4.0% annually based on expected turnover and periodically reassesses this rate.

Partnership Unit Awards with Both Service and Market Conditions

In connection with the spin-off, the Company also granted Partnership Unit awards containing both service and market conditions. The effect of the market condition is reflected in the grant date fair value of the award. Compensation cost is recognized over the requisite service period, provided that the service period is completed, irrespective of whether the market condition is satisfied. The service condition requirement with respect to such Partnership Unit awards is generally five years with 20% vesting in the third year, 30% in the fourth year and 50% in the fifth year. The market condition requirement will be satisfied upon the publicly traded shares of Class A common stock achieving certain volume-weighted average share price targets over any consecutive 30-day trading period following the consummation of the spin-off, pro ratably at \$48, \$55, \$63, \$71 and \$79 per share of Class A common stock. During the year ended December 31, 2018, the \$48 and \$55 share price targets were achieved.

The market condition requirements must be met prior to the sixth anniversary of the consummation of the spin-off. No portion of these awards will become vested until both the service and market conditions have been satisfied.

A summary of the status of the Company's unvested Partnership Unit awards with both a service and market condition as of December 31, 2019 and of changes during the year ended December 31, 2019 is presented below:

	Partnership U with Both Se Market Co	ervice and
	Number of Partnership Units	Weighted- Average Grant Date Fair Value (in dollars)
Balance, December 31, 2018	5,118,133	\$ 5.72
Vested	(1,179,034)	5.72
Forfeited	(132,916)	5.72
Balance, December 31, 2019	3,806,183	\$ 5.72

As of December 31, 2019, there was \$0.1 million of estimated unrecognized compensation expense related to Partnership Unit awards with both a service and market condition. This cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 0.0 years. The Company assumes a forfeiture rate of 4.0% annually based on expected turnover and periodically reassesses this rate.

Units Expected to Vest

The following unvested units, after expected forfeitures, as of December 31, 2019, are expected to vest:

		Weighted- Average Service Period
	Units	in Years
Partnership Units (a)	552,099	1.0
Restricted Stock Units	4,266,067	1.0
Restricted Share Awards	7,903	1.8
Total Equity-Based Awards	4,826,069	1.0

(a) Excludes 3.8 million outstanding Partnership Units subject to market conditions.

Deferred Cash Compensation

The Company has periodically issued deferred cash compensation in connection with annual incentive compensation as well as other hiring or retention related awards. These awards typically vest over a period of one to four years. Compensation expense related to deferred cash awards was \$5.5 million, \$8.8 million and \$8.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively. As of December 31, 2019, there was \$41.6 million of unrecognized compensation expense related to these awards. The weighted-average period over which this compensation cost is expected to be recognized is 2.2 years.

12. STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT)

Class A and Class B Common Stock

Holders of shares of the Company's Class A common stock are (a) entitled toone vote for each share held of record on all matters on which stockholders are entitled to vote generally, including the election or removal of directors; (b) entitled to receive dividends when and if declared by the Company's board of directors out of funds legally available therefor; and (c) entitled to receive pro rata the Company's remaining assets available for distribution upon any liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company.

With respect to all matters presented to stockholders of the Company other than director elections and removals, each holder of Class B common stock is entitled, without regard to the number of shares of Class B common stock held by such holder, to one vote for each partnership unit (including for this purpose, the number of Partnership Units that would be held by such holder assuming the conversion on such date of all vested and unvested LTIP Units held of record by such holder) in PJT Partners Holdings LP held by such holder. Shares of Class B common stock will initially entitle holders to only one vote per share in the election and removal of directors of PJT Partners Inc. However, all or a portion of the voting power of Class B common stock with respect to the election of directors of the Company may be increased to up to the number of votes to which a holder become entitled on all other matters presented to stockholders. By written notice to the Company, each holder of Class B common stock may, at any time, request that such holder become entitled to a number of votes in the election and removal of directors of the Company's board of directors, in its sole discretion, may approve or decline any such request, and no such holder shall become entitled to such requested voting power in respect of such shares of Class B common stock unless and until the board of directors approves such request. Class B common stockholders have no economic rights in the Company, and do not have any right to receive dividends or to receive a distribution upon a liquidation or winding up of the Company.

In connection with the acquisition of CamberView, the Company issued 1.4 million shares of its Class A common stock on the acquisition date,October 1, 2018, and an additional 0.1 million shares of its Class A common stock during March 2019 related to the settlement of escrow balances.

Non-Controlling Interests

PJT Partners Inc. is the sole general partner of PJT Partners Holdings LP. PJT Partners Inc. owns less than100% of the economic interest in PJT Partners Holdings LP, but has 100% of the voting power and controls the management of PJT Partners Holdings LP. As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the non-controlling interest was40.5% and 41.5%, respectively. The percentage of the Net Income (Loss) Attributable to Non-Controlling Interests will vary from this percentage primarily due to the differing level of income taxes applicable to the controlling interest.

Partnership Units are exchangeable at the option of the holder for cash or, at the Company's election, for shares of Class A common stock on a one-for-one basis. The election to exchange Partnership Units is entirely within the control of the Partnership Unitholder, although the Company retains the sole option to determine whether to settle the exchange in either cash or shares of Class A common stock.

On October 1, 2017, certain of the restrictive covenants entered into in connection with the spin-off expired. Previously, the ability to settle exchanges of Partnership Units in shares of the Company's Class A common stock was not entirely within the Company's control. Consequently, the value of these interests was reclassified from Redeemable Non-Controlling Interests to Non-Controlling Interests at their redemption value as of October 1, 2017. This reclassification had the effect of reducing Redeemable Non-Controlling Interests and increasing Non-Controlling Interests each by \$574.3 million as of October 1, 2017.

PJT Partners Inc. operates and controls all of the business and affairs of PJT Partners Holdings LP and its operating subsidiaries indirectly through its equity interest in PJT Partners Holdings LP; therefore, the shares of Class A common stock outstanding represent the controlling interest.

In connection with the acquisition of CamberView, the Company issued 0.1 million Partnership Units to certain CamberView employees. Such issuance has been reflected in Non-Controlling Interests in the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (Deficit). An additional 0.1 million Partnership Units were issued during March 2019 related to the settlement of escrow balances.

Treasury Stock

On April 24, 2019, the Company's Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of shares of the Company's Class A common stock in an amount up to \$00 million, which is in addition to the previous October 26, 2017 authorization. Under this repurchase program, shares of the Company's Class A common stock may be repurchased from time to time in open market transactions, in privately negotiated transactions or otherwise. The timing and the actual number of shares repurchased will depend on a variety of factors, including legal requirements, price and economic and market conditions. The repurchase program may be suspended or discontinued at any time and does not have a specified expiration date.

During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company repurchased 1.2 million shares of the Company's Class A common stock at an average price per share of \$40.11, or \$47.8 million in aggregate, pursuant to this share repurchase program. The result of these repurchases was an increase of \$47.8 million in Treasury Stock in the Company's Consolidated Statement of Financial Condition for the year ended December 31, 2019. With respect to repurchases of the Company's Class A common stock during the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company recorded an increase of \$64.9 million in Treasury Stock in the Company's Consolidated Statement of Financial Condition.



13. LEASES

The components of lease expense were as follows:

		r Ended oer 31, 2019
Operating Lease Cost	\$	25,473
Finance Lease Cost		
Amortization of Right-of-Use Assets		141
Interest on Lease Liabilities		6
Total Finance Lease Cost		147
Short-Term Lease Cost		234
Variable Lease Cost		2,900
Sublease Income		(3,642)
Total Lease Cost	<u>\$</u>	25,112

Supplemental information related to leases was as follows:

		r Ended 9er 31, 2019
Cash Paid for Amounts Included in Measurement of Lease Liabilities		
Operating Cash Flows from Operating Leases	\$	18,546
Operating Cash Flows from Finance Leases		6
Financing Cash Flows from Finance Leases		145
Right-of-Use Assets Obtained in Exchange for Lease Liabilities		
Operating Leases		183,672
Finance Leases		68
	Decembe	er 31, 2019
Weighted-Average Remaining Lease Term (in years)		
Operating Leases		9.0
Finance Leases		2.1
Weighted-Average Discount Rate		
Operating Leases		4.8 %
Finance Leases		3.5 %

For the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, rent expense was \$24.9 million and \$24.6 million, respectively. Rent expense is included in Occupancy and Related in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. This amount includes escalation payments, which are paid when invoiced.

As of December 31, 2018, the Company maintained an irrevocable standby letter of credit for certain operating leases of \$1.7 million. There was no such letter of credit as of December 31, 2019.

The following is a maturity analysis of the annual undiscounted cash flows of the finance and operating lease liabilities as of December 31, 2019:

Year Ending December 31,	Finance		0	Operating	
2020	\$	136	\$	24,173	
2021		29		28,091	
2022		16		28,002	
2023		11		28,049	
2024		7		26,424	
Thereafter		—		92,375	
Total Lease Payments		199		227,114	
Less: Imputed Interest		8		44,190	
Total	\$	191	\$	182,924	

In October 2019, the Company entered into a lease agreement for office space. Such lease has not been included in Operating Lease Right-of-Use Assets and Operating Lease Liabilities on the Consolidated Statement of Financial Condition as the Company does not yet have the right to use the premises. Commencement of the lease is anticipated to occur in the first quarter of 2020 with an initial term that expires in2025.

As of December 31, 2018, the aggregate minimum future payments required on non-cancelable leases, under legacy accounting guidance, were as follows:

		Minimum Lease Payments			
Year Ending December 31,	Ca	oital	0	Operating	
2019	\$	130	\$	26,877	
2020		104		23,445	
2021		9		22,305	
2022		2		22,190	
2023				22,227	
Thereafter		_		67,871	
Total Minimum Lease Payments		245		184,915	
Less: Amount Representing Interest		11			
Capital Lease Obligation	\$	234			
Less: Sublease Proceeds				14,182	
Net Minimum Lease Payments			\$	170,733	

14. TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES

Exchange Agreement

The Company has entered into an exchange agreement with the limited partners of PJT Partners Holdings LP pursuant to which they (or certain permitted transferees) have the right, subject to the terms and conditions set forth in the limited partnership agreement of PJT Partners Holdings LP, on a quarterly basis, to exchange all or part of their Partnership Units for cash or, at the Company's election, for shares of PJT Partners Inc. Class A common stock on a one-for-one basis, subject to customary conversion rate adjustments for splits, unit distributions and reclassifications. Further, pursuant to the terms in the partnership agreement of PJT Partners Holdings LP, the Company may also require holders of Partnership Units who are not Service Providers (as defined in the partnership agreement of PJT Partners Holdings LP) to exchange such Partnership Units. The price per Partnership Unit be received in a cash-settled exchange will be equal to the fair value of a share of PJT Partners Inc. Class A common stock will be deemed to be equal to the net proceeds per share of Class A common stock received by PJT Partners Inc. In the related issuance. Accordingly, in this event, the price per Partnership Unit to which an exchanging Partnership Unitholder will be entitled may be greater than or less than the

then-current market value of PJT Partners Inc. Class A common stock. The exchange agreement also provides that a holder of Partnership Units will not have the right to exchange Partnership Units in the event that PJT Partners Inc. determines that such exchange would be prohibited by law, or would result in any breach of any debt agreement or other material contract of PJT Partners Inc. or PJT Partners Holdings LP.

Certain Partnership Unitholders exchanged 0.4 million and 1.4 million Partnership Units, respectively, for cash in the amounts of \$19.0 million and \$68.9 million, respectively, for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018. Such amounts are recorded as a reduction of Non-Controlling Interests in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition.

During the fourth quarter of 2019, the Company was presented with 226,784 Partnership Units to be exchanged. The Company elected to settle the exchange of these Partnership Units on February 13, 2020 for cash for an aggregate payment of \$11.5 million. The price per Partnership Unit paid by the Company was \$50.62, which was equal to the volume-weighted average price of a share of the Company's Class A common stock on February 10, 2020.

Registration Rights Agreement

The Company has entered into a registration rights agreement with the limited partners of PJT Partners Holdings LP pursuant to which the Company granted them, their affiliates and certain of their transferees the right, under certain circumstances and subject to certain restrictions, to require the Company to register under the Securities Act of 1933 shares of Class A common stock delivered in exchange for Partnership Units. The registration rights agreement does not contain any penalties associated with failure to file or to maintain the effectiveness of a registration statement covering the shares owned by individuals covered by such agreement.

Tax Receivable Agreement

The Company has entered into a tax receivable agreement with the holders of Partnership Units (other than PJT Partners Inc.) that provides for the payment by PJT Partners Inc. to exchanging holders of Partnership Units of 85% of the benefits, if any, that PJT Partners Inc. is deemed to realize as a result of the increases in tax basis related to such exchanges of Partnership Units and of certain other tax benefits related to entering into the tax receivable agreement, including tax benefits attributable to payments under the tax receivable agreement. As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company had amounts due of \$9.3 million and \$8.5 million, respectively, pursuant to the tax receivable agreement, which represent management's best estimate of the amounts currently expected to be owed in connection with the tax receivable agreement. The Company expects to make the following payments with respect to the tax receivable agreement: \$1.0 million for the year ending December 31, 2020; \$0.6 million in each of the years ending December 31, 2021, 2022, 2023 and 2024; and \$5.8 million in years thereafter. Actual payments may differ significantly from estimated payments.

Aircraft Lease

We make available to our partners, including the Company's executive officers, personal use of a company leased business aircraft when the aircraft is not being used for business purposes, for which the executive officers pay the full incremental costs associated with such use. Such amount is not material to the consolidated financial statements.

15. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Commitments

Line of Credit

On October 1, 2018, PJT Partners Holdings LP, as borrower ("Borrower") entered into an Amended and Restated Loan Agreement (the "Amended and Restated Loan Agreement") and related documents with First Republic Bank, as lender (the "Lender"). The Amended and Restated Loan Agreement provides for a revolving credit facility with aggregate commitments in an amount equal to \$40.0 million, which aggregate commitments may

be increased, on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in the Amended and Restated Loan Agreement, to up to \$0.0 million during the period beginning December 1 each year through March 1 of the following year. The revolving credit facility will mature and the commitments thereunder will terminate on October 1, 2020, subject to extension by agreement of the Borrower and Lender. On February 4, 2020, the Amended and Restated Loan Agreement was further amended to extend the maturity date to October 1, 2021.

As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, there wereno borrowings under the revolving credit facility.

Term Loan

The Amended and Restated Loan Agreement also provides for a term loan with an aggregate commitment of \$30.0 million (the "Term Loan"). The Term Loan matures on January 2, 2021. In addition to the payment of interest described below, Borrower shall pay to the Lender installment payments of principal in the amount of (a) \$4.25 million on July 1, 2019 and quarterly thereafter to January 2, 2021, and (b) \$4.5 million on January 2, 2021.

The Amended and Restated Loan Agreement requires the Borrower to maintain certain minimum financial covenants and limits or restricts the ability of the Borrower (subject to certain qualifications and exceptions) to incur additional indebtedness in excess of \$20.0 million. Outstanding borrowings under the Amended and Restated Loan Agreement are secured by the accounts receivable of Park Hill Group LLC and PJT Partners LP.

Outstanding borrowings under the revolving credit facility bear interest equal to the greater of a per annum rate of (a)3%, or (b) the prime rate minus 1.0%. Outstanding borrowings under the Term Loan bear interest equal to the greater of a per annum rate of (a)3.25%, or (b) the prime rate minus 0.75%. During an event of default, overdue principal under both the revolving credit facility and Term Loan bear interest at a rate 2.0% in excess of the otherwise applicable rate of interest. In connection with the closing of the Amended and Restated Loan Agreement, the Borrower paid the Lender certain closing costs and fees. In addition, on and after the closing date, the Borrower will also pay a commitment fee on the undrawn portion of the revolving credit facility of 0.125% per annum, payable quarterly in arrears.

As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company was in compliance with the debt covenants under the Amended and Restated Loan Agreement.

As of December 31, 2019, the Term Loan balance was \$21.5 million, and was subsequently repaid in full in January 2020.

Contingencies

Litigation

From time to time, the Company is named as a defendant in legal actions relating to transactions conducted in the ordinary course of business. Some of these matters may involve claims of substantial amounts. Although there can be no assurance of the outcome of such legal actions, in the opinion of management, after consultation with external counsel, the Company believes it is not probable and/or reasonably possible that any current legal proceedings or claims would individually or in the aggregate have a material adverse effect on the consolidated financial statements of the Company. The Company is not currently able to estimate the possible loss or range of loss until developments in such matters have provided sufficient information to support such an assessment, including quantification of a damage demand from plaintiffs, discovery from other parties and investigation of factual allegations, rulings by courts on motions or appeals, analysis by experts or the status of any settlement negotiations.

Guarantee

The Company provides a guarantee to a lending institution for certain loans held by employees for investment in funds of its former Parent, which are secured by the underlying investments in those funds. The amount guaranteed was \$8.0 million and \$8.9 million as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. In connection with this guarantee, the Company currently expects any associated risk of loss to be insignificant.

Indemnifications

The Company has entered and may continue to enter into contracts, including contracts with Blackstone relating to the spin-off, which contain a variety of indemnification obligations. The Company's maximum exposure under these arrangements is not known; however, the Company currently expects any associated risk of loss to be insignificant. In connection with these matters, the Company has incurred and may continue to incur legal expenses, which are expensed as incurred.

Transactions and Agreements with Blackstone

Employee Matters Agreement

The Company is required to reimburse Blackstone for the value of forfeited unvested equity awards granted to former Blackstone employees that transitioned to PJT Partners in connection with the spin-off. Such reimbursement is recorded in Accounts Payable, Accrued Expenses and Other Liabilities with an offset to Equity in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition. The Company will cash settle the liability to Blackstone quarterly as the forfeitures attributable to these employees crystallize. The accrual for these forfeitures was \$0.9 million as of December 31, 2019 and 2018.

Pursuant to the Employee Matters Agreement, the Company has agreed to pay Blackstone the net realized cash benefit resulting from certain compensation-related tax deductions. The amount payable to Blackstone arising from the tax deductions has been recorded in Other Expenses in the Consolidated Statements of Operations and is payable annually (for periods in which a cash benefit is realized) within nine months of the end of the relevant tax period. As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company had accrued \$1.8 million and \$4.3 million, respectively, which the Company anticipates will be payable to Blackstone after the Company files its respective tax returns. The tax deduction and corresponding payable to Blackstone related to such deliveries will fluctuate primarily based on the price of Blackstone common units at the time of delivery.

Tax Matters Agreement

The Company entered into a Tax Matters Agreement with Blackstone that governs the respective rights, responsibilities and obligations of the Company and Blackstone after the spin-off with respect to tax liabilities and benefits, tax attributes, tax contests and other tax sharing regarding U.S. federal, state, local and foreign income taxes, other tax matters and related tax returns. The Company has joint and several liability with Blackstone to the Internal Revenue Service ("IRS") for the consolidated U.S. federal income taxes of the Blackstone consolidated group relating to the taxable periods in which the Company was part of that group. However, the Tax Matters Agreement specifies the portion, if any, of this tax liability for which the Company bears responsibility, and Blackstone agrees to indemnify the Company against any amounts for which the Company is not responsible. The Tax Matters Agreement also provides special rules for allocating tax liabilities in the event that the spin-off is determined not to be tax-free. Though valid as between the parties, the Tax Matters Agreement is not binding on the IRS.

16. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

The Company contributes to employer sponsored defined contribution plans for certain employees, subject to eligibility and statutory requirements. The Company incurred expenses with respect to these defined contribution plans in the amounts of \$1.7 million, \$1.2 million and \$0.7 million for the years December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively, which are included in Compensation and Benefits in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.



17. REGULATED ENTITIES

Certain subsidiaries of the Company are subject to various regulatory requirements in the United States, United Kingdom and Hong Kong, which specify, among other requirements, minimum net capital requirements for registered broker-dealers.

PJT Partners LP is a registered broker-dealer through which strategic advisory, shareholder advisory and restructuring and special situations services are conducted in the United States, and is subject to the net capital requirements of Rule 15c3-1 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"). PJT Partners LP computes net capital based upon the aggregate indebtedness standard, which requires the maintenance of minimum net capital, as defined, which shall be the greater of \$100 thousand or 6 2/3% of aggregate indebtedness, as defined, and requires that the ratio of aggregate indebtedness to net capital, both as defined, shall not exceed15 to 1. PJT Partners LP had net capital of \$74.4 million and \$10.6 million as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively, which exceeded the minimum net capital requirement by \$72.8 million and \$8.1 million, respectively.

Park Hill Group LLC is a registered broker-dealer through which private fund advisory and fundraising services are conducted in the United States and is subject to the net capital requirements of Rule 15c3-1 under the Exchange Act. Park Hill Group LLC elected to adopt the alternative standard, which defines minimum net capital as the greater of \$250 thousand or 2% of aggregate debit items computed in accordance with the reserve requirement. Park Hill Group LLC had net capital of \$2.1 million and \$15.0 million as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively, which exceeded the minimum net capital requirement by \$21.8 million and \$14.7 million, respectively.

PJT Partners LP and Park Hill Group LLC do not carry customer accounts and do not otherwise hold funds or securities for, or owe money or securities to, customers and, accordingly, are both exempt from the SEC Customer Protection Rule (Rule 15c3-3).

PJT Partners (UK) Limited is licensed with the United Kingdom's Financial Conduct Authority and is required to maintain regulatory net capital of 60 thousand. PJT Partners (HK) Limited is licensed with the Hong Kong Securities and Futures Commission and is subject to a minimum liquid capital requirement of HK\$3 million. As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, both of these entities were in compliance with local capital adequacy requirements.

18. BUSINESS INFORMATION

The Company's activities providing strategic advisory, shareholder advisory, restructuring and special situations and private fund advisory and fundraising services constitute a single reportable segment. An operating segment is a component of an entity that conducts business and incurs revenues and expenses for which discrete financial information is available that is reviewed by the chief operating decision maker in assessing performance and making resource allocation decisions. The Company has a single operating segment and therefore a single reportable segment.

The Company is organized as one operating segment in order to maximize the value of advice to clients by drawing upon the diversified expertise and broad relationships of senior professionals across the Company. The chief operating decision maker assesses performance and allocates resources based on broad considerations, including the market opportunity, available expertise across the Company and the strength and efficacy of professionals' collaboration, and not based upon profit or loss measures for the Company's separate product lines.

Since the financial markets are global in nature, the Company generally manages its business based on the operating results of the Company taken as a whole, not by geographic region. The following tables set forth the geographical distribution of revenues and assets based on the location of the office that generates the revenues or holds the assets and therefore may not be reflective of the geography in which the Company's clients are located.

	2019		2018	_	2017	
s					2017	
2						
Ф	652,108	\$	468,754	\$	431,617	
	65,531		111,494		67,665	
\$	717,639	\$	580,248	\$	499,282	
			December	31,		
		2019	Detember	· ·	2018	
	\$	79	92,403 \$		628,437	
		10	60,374		43,380	
	\$	9:	52,777 \$		671,817	
	<u>\$</u>	<u>\$ 717,639</u>	<u>\$ 717,639</u> <u>\$</u> 2019 \$ 79 10	\$ 717,639 <u>December</u> 2019	\$ 717,639 becember 31, 2019 20	

The Company is not subject to any material concentrations with respect to its revenues for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, or credit risk with respect to its accounts receivable as of December 31, 2019 and 2018.

19. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

The Board of Directors of PJT Partners Inc. has declared a quarterly dividendof \$0.05 per share of Class A common stock, which will be paid on March 18, 2020 to Class A common stockholders of record on March 4, 2020.

The Company did not identify any other subsequent events besides those described in Note 14. "Transactions with Related Parties—Exchange Agreement" and Note 15. "Commitments and Contingencies—Commitments, Line of Credit" and Note 15. "Commitments and Contingencies—Commitments, Term Loan."

20. QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)

	Three Months Ended							
	N	larch 31, 2019		June 30, 2019	Se	ptember 30, 2019	De	ecember 31, 2019
Revenues	\$	128,056	\$	166,704	\$	174,227	\$	248,652
Expenses		128,143		153,112		154,444		199,750
Income (Loss) Before Provision for Taxes	\$	(87)	\$	13,592	\$	19,783	\$	48,902
Net Income	\$	937	\$	10,026	\$	14,781	\$	38,043
Net Income (Loss) Attributable to Non-Controlling Interests		(164)		5,200		7,956		21,233
Net Income Attributable to PJT Partners Inc.	\$	1,101	\$	4,826	\$	6,825	\$	16,810
Net Income Per Share of Class A Common Stock			_					
Basic	\$	0.05	\$	0.20	\$	0.28	\$	0.71
Diluted	\$	0.04	\$	0.20	\$	0.28	\$	0.69
Dividends Declared Per Share of Class A Common Stock	\$	0.05	\$	0.05	\$	0.05	\$	0.05

	Three Months Ended							
	I	March 31, 2018		June 30, 2018	Se	eptember 30, 2018	D	ecember 31, 2018
Revenues	\$	134,042	\$	130,670	\$	140,143	\$	175,393
Expenses		131,423		120,532		128,061		158,719
Income Before Provision for Taxes	\$	2,619	\$	10,138	\$	12,082	\$	16,674
Net Income	\$	6,729	\$	11,020	\$	12,279	\$	12,530
Net Income Attributable to Non-Controlling Interests		1,493		4,075		4,729		5,091
Net Income Attributable to PJT Partners Inc.	\$	5,236	\$	6,945	\$	7,550	\$	7,439
Net Income Per Share of Class A Common Stock								
Basic	\$	0.27	\$	0.30	\$	0.34	\$	0.32
Diluted	\$	0.24	\$	0.30	\$	0.33	\$	0.22
Dividends Declared Per Share of Class A Common Stock	\$	0.05	\$	0.05	\$	0.05	\$	0.05

PJT Partners Inc. Schedule II – Valuation and Qualifying Accounts (Dollars in Thousands)

		Allowance for Doubtful Accounts					
	Year Ended December 31,						
		2019		2018		2017	
Balance, Beginning of Period	\$	726	\$	1,934	\$	4,374	
Additions:							
Bad Debt Expense		2,081		1,007		624	
Deductions:							
Charge-offs of Uncollectible Balances		(2,807)		(2,215)		(3,064)	
Balance, End of Period	\$		\$	726	\$	1,934	

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of the Company's disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act")) as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based upon this evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

No change in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) of the Exchange Act) occurred during our most recent quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

The Company's management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. The Company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed under the supervision of its principal executive and principal financial officers to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of its financial statements for external reporting purposes in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

The Company's internal control over financial reporting includes policies and procedures that pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect transactions and dispositions of assets; provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and the directors; and provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the Company's assets that could have a material effect on its financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. In addition, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Management conducted an assessment of the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019 based on the framework established in *Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013)* issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on this assessment, management has determined that the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019 was effective.

Deloitte & Touche LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, has audited the Company's consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and issued its report on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019, which is included below.

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of PJT Partners Inc.

Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of PJT Partners Inc. and subsidiaries (the "Company") as of December 31, 2019, based on criteria established in *Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013)* issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019, based on criteria established in *Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013)* issued by COSO.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2019, of the Company and our report dated February 27, 2020, expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements and included an explanatory paragraph regarding the Company's adoption of a new accounting standard.

Basis for Opinion

The Company's management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying *Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting*. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company's internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

New York, New York February 27, 2020



ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None.

PART III.

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The information regarding directors and executive officers set forth under the caption "Proposal 1—Election of Directors" and "Executive Officers" in our definitive proxy statement to be filed in connection with our 2020 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the "Proxy Statement") is incorporated herein by reference.

The information regarding our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, our audit committee and our audit committee financial expert under the caption "Corporate Governance Matters" in the Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by reference.

We post our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics on our corporate website at www.pjtpartners.com under the "Investor Relations/Corporate Governance/Governance Documents" section. Our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics applies to all directors, officers and employees, including our chairman and chief executive officer and our principal financial and accounting officer. We will post any amendments to the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, and any waivers that are required to be disclosed by the rules of either the SEC or the NYSE, on our website within the required periods.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information contained in the sections captioned "Compensation of Our Executive Officers," "Compensation of Directors" and "Report of the Compensation Committee" in the Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by reference.

Information regarding our compensation committee and compensation committee interlocks under the caption "Corporate Governance Matters—Board Committees" and "Corporate Governance Matters—Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation" in the Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information contained in the sections captioned "Compensation of Our Executive Officers—Equity Compensation Plan Information" and "Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management" in the Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information contained in the sections captioned "Certain Relationships and Related Person Transactions" and "Corporate Governance Matters-Director Independence" in the Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The information regarding our independent registered public accounting firm fees and services in the section captioned "Proposal 3—Ratification of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm" in the Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

Financial Statements The consolidated financial statements required to be filed in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are included in Item 8 above.

2. Financial Statement Schedules

See "Index to Consolidated Financial Statements" in this Annual Report on Form 10-K included in Item 8 above.

3. Exhibits:

Exhibit Number	
2.1*	Separation and Distribution Agreement by and among The Blackstone Group L.P., Blackstone Holdings I L.P., New Advisory GP L.L.C., PJT Partners Inc. and PJT Partners Holdings LP, dated as of October 1, 2015 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-36869) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on October 5, 2015).
2.2*	Agreement and Plan of Merger by and among CamberView Partners Holdings, LLC, PJT Partners Inc., PJT Partners Holdings LP, Blue Merger Sub LLC and CC CVP Partners Holdings, L.L.C., dated as of August 27, 2018 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 2.2 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-36869) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 2, 2018.)
3.1	Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of PJT Partners Inc. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-36869) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on October 5, 2015).
3.2	Amended and Restated By-Laws of PJT Partners Inc. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-36869) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on October 5, 2015).
4.1	Description of Securities Registered Pursuant to Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.
10.1	Employee Matters Agreement by and among The Blackstone Group L.P., Blackstone Holdings I L.P., New Advisory GP L.L.C., PJT Partners Inc., PJT Partners Holdings LP, PJT Capital LP, and PJT Management, LLC, dated as of October 1, 2015 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-36869) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on October 5, 2015).
10.2	Tax Matters Agreement by and among The Blackstone Group L.P., Blackstone Holdings I/II GP Inc., PJT Partners Inc., PJT Partners Holdings LP, StoneCo IV Corporation, PJT Capital LP, PJT Management, LLC and the seller parties defined therein, dated as of October 1, 2015 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-36869) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on October 5, 2015).
10.3	Amended and Restated Loan Agreement, by and between PJT Partners Holdings LP and First Republic Bank, dated as of October 1, 2018 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-36869) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 2, 2018).
10.4	Renewal Agreement, by and between PJT Partners Holdings LP and First Republic Bank, dated as of February 4, 2020.

Exhibit Number	
10.5	Second Amended and Restated Limited Partnership Agreement of PJT Partners Holdings LP, dated as of October 1, 2015 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-36869) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on October 5, 2015).
10.6	Amendment to the Second Amended and Restated Limited Partnership Agreement of PJT Partners Holdings LP, dated as of October 1, 2015 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K (File 001-36869) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 29, 2016).
10.7	Amendment No. 2 to the Second Amended and Restated Limited Partnership Agreement of PJT Partners Holdings LP, dated as of October 12, 2016 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K (File 001-36869) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 28, 2017).
10.8	Amendment No. 3 to the Second Amended and Restated Limited Partnership Agreement of PJT Partners Holdings LP, dated as of January 1, 2018 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File 001-36869) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 4, 2018).
10.9	Exchange Agreement by and among PJT Partners Inc., PJT Partners Holdings LP and the holders of partnership units from time to time party thereto, dated as of October 1, 2015 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-36869) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on October 5, 2015).
10.10	Tax Receivable Agreement by and among PJT Partners Inc., PJT Partners Holdings LP and each of the limited partners from time to time party thereto, dated as of October 1, 2015 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-36869) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on October 5, 2015).
10.11	Registration Rights Agreement by and among PJT Partners Inc. and the covered persons from time to time party thereto, dated as of October 1, 2015 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-36869) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on October 5, 2015).
10.12+	PJT Partners Inc. 2015 Omnibus Incentive Plan, dated as of October 1, 2015 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-36869) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on October 5, 2015).
10.13+	Amended and Restated PJT Partners Inc. 2015 Omnibus Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-36869) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 25, 2019).
10.14+	PJT Partners Inc. Amended and Restated Bonus Deferral Plan, dated as of February 21, 2017 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.14 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No. 001-36869) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 28, 2017).
10.15+	Form of PJT Partners Holdings LP Restricted Bonus Component Agreement (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K (File 001-36869) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 29, 2016).
10.16+	Partner Agreement between PJT Partners Holdings LP and Paul J. Taubman, dated as of October 9, 2014 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the Registrant's Registration Statement on Form 10 (File No. 001-36869) filed with the Securities Exchange Commission on September 3, 2015).
10.17+	Partner Agreement between PJT Partners Holdings LP and Ji-Yeun Lee, dated as of October 9, 2014 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K (File 001-36869) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 29, 2016).

Exhibit Number	
10.18+	Amendment to Partner Agreement between PJT Partners Holdings LP and Ji-Yeun Lee, dated as of October 1, 2015 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.16 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K (File 001-36869) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 29, 2016).
10.19+	Amendment to Partner Non-Competition and Non-Solicitation Agreement between PJT Partners Holdings LP and Ji-Yeun Lee, dated as of October 1, 2015 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K (File 001-36869) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 29, 2016).
10.20+	Partner Agreement between PJT Partners Holdings LP and Helen T. Meates, dated as of October 1, 2015 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.18 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K (File 001-36869) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 29, 2016).
10.21+	Partner Agreement between PJT Partners Holdings LP and James W. Cuminale, dated as of October 1, 2015 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.19 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K (File 001-36869) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 29, 2016).
10.22+	Form of Founder Unit Grant Agreement (CEO) (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.20 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K (File 001-36869) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 29, 2016).
10.23+	Form of Earn-Out Unit Grant Agreement (CEO) (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.21 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K (File 001-36869) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 29, 2016).
10.24+	Form of Founder Unit Grant Agreement (non-CEO) (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.22 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K (File 001-36869) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 29, 2016).
10.25+	Form of Earn-Out Unit Grant Agreement (non-CEO) (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.23 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K (File 001-36869) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 29, 2016).
10.26+	Form of Founder LTIP Unit Grant Agreement (non-CEO) (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.24 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K (File 001-36869) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 29, 2016).
10.27+	Form of Director Restricted Stock Unit Grant Agreement (one-time award) (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.25 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K (File 001-36869) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 29, 2016).
10.28+	Form of Director Restricted Stock Unit Grant Agreement (annual retainer) (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.26 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K (File 001-36869) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 29, 2016).
10.29+	Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-36869) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 12, 2016).
10.30+	Form of Special Equity Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.30 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No. 001-36869) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 28, 2017).
10.31	Form of Director Indemnification Agreement (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.31 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No. 001-36869) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 28, 2017).
21.1	Subsidiaries of PJT Partners Inc.

Exhibit Number	
23.1	Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP.
24.1	Power of Attorney (included on signature page hereto).
31.1	Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a).
31.2	Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a).
32.1	Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (furnished herewith).
32.2	Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (furnished herewith).
101.INS	Inline XBRL Instance Document – the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because iXBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL document.
101.SCH	Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.
101.CAL	Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document.
101.DEF	Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document.
101.LAB	Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document.
101.PRE	Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document.
104	Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101).
+ Indicate	s management or compensating plan or arrangement

* Certain schedules and exhibits to this agreement have been omitted in accordance with Item 601(a)(5) of Regulation S-K. The descriptions of the omitted schedules and exhibits are contained within the relevant agreement. A copy of any omitted schedule and/or exhibit will be furnished supplementally to the Securities and Exchange Commission upon request.

The agreements and other documents filed as exhibits to this report are not intended to provide factual information or other disclosure other than with respect to the terms of the agreements or other documents themselves, and you should not rely on them for that purpose. In particular, any representations and warranties made by us in these agreements or other documents were made solely within the specific context of the relevant agreement or document and may not describe the actual state of affairs as of the date they were made or at any other time.

ITEM 16. FORM 10-K SUMMARY

None.

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Date: February 27, 2020

PJT Partners Inc.

By:	/s/ Paul J. Taubman
Name:	Paul J. Taubman
Title:	Chief Executive Officer

Each of the officers and directors of PJT Partners Inc. whose signature appears below, in so signing, also makes, constitutes and appoints Paul J. Taubman and Helen T. Meates, and each of them, his true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, with full power and substitution and resubstitution, for him in any and all capacities, to execute and cause to be filed with the SEC any and all amendments (including post-effective amendments) to this Annual Report on Form 10-K, with exhibits thereto and other documents connected therewith and to perform any acts necessary to be done in order to file such documents, and hereby ratifies and confirms all that said attorneys-in-fact or their substitute or substitutes may do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant, in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Name	Title	Date
/s/ Paul J. Taubman Paul J. Taubman	Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)	February 27, 2020
/s/ Helen T. Meates Helen T. Meates	Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)	February 27, 2020
/s/ James Costos James Costos	Director	February 27, 2020
/s/ Dennis S. Hersch Dennis S. Hersch	Director	February 27, 2020
/s/ Emily K. Rafferty Emily K. Rafferty	Director	February 27, 2020
/s/ Thomas M. Ryan Thomas M. Ryan	Director	February 27, 2020
/s/ Kenneth C. Whitney Kenneth C. Whitney	Director	February 27, 2020

DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES REGISTERED PURSUANT TO SECTION 12 OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

PJT Partners Inc. has one class of securities registered under Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended: our Class A common stock.

Unless otherwise indicated or the context requires otherwise, references to "we," "us," "our," and "our company" refer to PJT Partners Inc. and not to any of its subsidiaries.

Description of Capital Stock

The following is a description of the material terms of, and is qualified in its entirety by, our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws, each of which are on file with the Securities and Exchange Commission as exhibits to our periodic reports and are incorporated herein by reference.

General

Our purpose is to engage in any lawful act or activity for which corporations may now or hereafter be organized under the Delaware General Corporation Law (the "DGCL"). Our authorized capital stock consists of 3,000,000,000 shares of Class A common stock, par value \$0.01 per share, 1,000,000 shares of Class B common stock, par value \$0.01 per share, and 300,000,000 shares of preferred stock, par value \$0.01 per share. Unless our board of directors determines otherwise, we will issue all shares of our capital stock in uncertificated form.

Common Stock

Class A common stock

Holders of shares of our Class A common stock are entitled to one vote for each share held of record on all matters on which stockholders are entitled to vote generally, including the election or removal of directors. The holders of our Class A common stock do not have cumulative voting rights in the election of directors.

Holders of shares of our Class A common stock are entitled to receive dividends when and if declared by our board of directors out of funds legally available therefor, subject to any statutory or contractual restrictions on the payment of dividends and to any restrictions on the payment of dividends imposed by the terms of any outstanding preferred stock.

Upon our liquidation, dissolution or winding up and after payment in full of all amounts required to be paid to creditors and to the holders of preferred stock having liquidation preferences, if any, the holders of shares of our Class A common stock will be entitled to receive pro rata our remaining assets available for distribution.

All shares of our Class A common stock that will be outstanding at the time of the completion of the spin-off were fully paid and non-assessable. The Class A common stock is not be subject to further calls or assessments by us. Holders of shares of our Class A common stock do not have preemptive, subscription, redemption or conversion rights. There are no redemption or sinking fund provisions applicable to the Class A common stock. The rights, powers and privileges of our Class A common stock are subject to those of the holders of any shares of our preferred stock or any other series or class of stock we may authorize and issue in the future.

Class B common stock

With respect to all matters presented to stockholders of PJT Partners Inc. other than director elections and removals, each holder of Class B common stock shall be entitled, without regard to the number of shares of Class B common stock held by such holder, to one vote for each Class A Unit (including for this purpose, the number of Partnership Units that would be held by such holder assuming the conversion on such date of all vested and unvested LTIP Units held of record by such holder) in PJT Partners Holdings LP held by such holder. Shares of Class B common stock will initially entitle holders to only one vote per share in the election and removal of directors of PJT Partners Inc. However, all or a portion of the voting power of Class B common stock with respect to the election of

directors of PJT Partners Inc. may be increased to up to the number of votes to which a holder is then entitled on all other matters presented to stockholders as described below.

By written notice to PJT Partners Inc., each holder of Class B common stock may, at any time, request that such holder become entitled to a number of votes in the election and removal of directors of PJT Partners Inc. not to exceed at any time the number of votes to which such holder is then entitled on all other matters presented to stockholders, or such lesser number of votes as may be specified in such holder's request. Our board of directors, in its sole discretion, may approve or decline any such request, and no such holder shall become entitled to such requested voting power in respect of such shares of Class B common stock unless and until the board of directors approves such request. Pursuant to the Tax Matters Agreement, we agreed to certain limitations on our ability to take certain actions or to enter into certain transactions that could cause any portion of the spin-off to be taxable to one of the two corporate subsidiaries that will distribute their interest in our business to other Blackstone entities, including with respect to equity issuances or other actions that result in the acquisition by holders of our stock of the power to vote in the election and removal of directors (or the increase in such voting power).

If at any time the ratio at which Partnership Units are exchangeable for shares of our Class A common stock changes from one-for-one, the number of votes to which Class B common stockholders are entitled will be adjusted accordingly. Holders of shares of our Class B common stock will vote together with holders of our Class A common stock as a single class on matters on which stockholders are entitled to vote generally, except as otherwise required by law.

Holders of our Class B common stock do not have any right to receive dividends or to receive a distribution upon a liquidation or winding up of PJT Partners Inc.

Preferred Stock

No shares of preferred stock is presently issued or outstanding. Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation authorizes our board of directors to establish one or more series of preferred stock (including convertible preferred stock). Unless required by law or any stock exchange, the authorized shares of preferred stock will be available for issuance without further action by holders of our Class A or Class B common stock. Our board of directors is able to determine, with respect to any series of preferred stock, the powers (including voting powers), preferences and relative, participating, optional or other special rights, and the qualifications, limitations or restrictions thereof, including, without limitation:

- the designation of the series;
- the number of shares of the series, which our board of directors may, except where otherwise provided in the preferred stock designation, increase (but not above the total number of authorized share of the class) or decrease (but not below the number of shares then outstanding);
- whether dividends, if any, will be cumulative or non-cumulative and the dividend rate of the series;
- the dates at which dividends, if any, will be payable;
- the redemption rights and price or prices, if any, for shares of the series;
- the terms and amounts of any sinking fund provided for the purchase or redemption of shares of the series;
- the amounts payable on shares of the series in the event of any voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of the affairs of our company;
- whether the shares of the series will be convertible into shares of any other class or series, or any other security, of our company or any other entity, and, if so, the specification of the other class or series or other security, the conversion price or prices or rate or rates, any rate adjustments, the date or dates as of which the shares will be convertible and all other terms and conditions upon which the conversion may be made;
- restrictions on the issuance of shares of the same series or of any other class or series; and
- the voting rights, if any, of the holders of the series.

We could issue a series of preferred stock that could, depending on the terms of the series, impede or discourage an acquisition attempt or other transaction that some, or a majority, of the holders of our Class A common stock might believe to be in their best interests or in which the holders of our Class A common stock might

receive a premium over the market price of the shares of Class A common stock. Additionally, the issuance of preferred stock may adversely affect the holders of our Class A common stock by restricting dividends on the Class A common stock, diluting the voting power of the Class A common stock or subordinating the liquidation rights of the Class A common stock. As a result of these or other factors, the issuance of preferred stock could have an adverse impact on the market price of our Class A common stock.

Authorized but Unissued Capital Stock

Delaware law does not require stockholder approval for any issuance of authorized shares. However, the listing requirements of NYSE, which would apply so long as the shares of Class A common stock remains listed on NYSE, require stockholder approval of certain issuances equal to or exceeding 20% of the then outstanding power or the then outstanding number of shares of Class A common stock (we believe the position of NYSE is that the calculation in this latter case treats shares issuable upon exchange of outstanding Partnership Units not held by PJT Partners Inc. as outstanding). These additional shares may be used for a variety of corporate purposes, including future public offerings, to raise additional capital or to facilitate acquisitions.

One of the effects of the existence of unissued and unreserved common stock or preferred stock may be to enable our board of directors to issue shares to persons friendly to current management, which issuance could render more difficult or discourage an attempt to obtain control of our company by means of a merger, tender offer, proxy contest or otherwise, and thereby protect the continuity of our management and possibly deprive the stockholders of opportunities to sell their shares at prices higher than prevailing market prices.

Dividends

The DGCL permits a corporation to declare and pay dividends out of "surplus" or, if there is no "surplus," out of its net profits for the fiscal year in which the dividend is declared and/or the preceding fiscal year. "Surplus" is defined as the excess of the net assets of the corporation over the amount determined to be the capital of the corporation by its board of directors. The capital of the corporation is typically calculated to be (and cannot be less than) the aggregate par value of all issued shares of capital stock. Net assets equals the fair value of the total assets minus total liabilities. The DGCL also provides that dividends may not be paid out of net profits if, after the payment of the dividend, remaining capital would be less than the capital represented by the outstanding stock of all classes having a preference upon the distribution of assets. Declaration and payment of any dividend will be subject to the discretion of our board of directors.

We intend to cause PJT Partners Holdings LP to make pro rata cash distributions, to the extent of available cash, to the holders of partnership interests in PJT Partners Holdings LP in amounts equal to 50% of the taxable income allocated to such holders for purposes of funding their tax obligations in respect of the income of PJT Partners Holdings LP that is allocated to them.

Stockholder Meetings

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and our amended and restated bylaws provide that annual stockholder meetings will be held at a date, time and place, if any, as exclusively selected by the chairman of our board of directors. Our amended and restated bylaws provide that special meetings of the stockholders may be called only by or at the direction of the board of directors, the chairman of our board or the chief executive officer. To the extent permitted under applicable law, we may conduct meetings by remote communications, including by webcast.

Anti-Takeover Effects of Our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, Our Amended and Restated Bylaws, Our Stockholder Rights Agreement and Certain Provisions of Delaware Law

Undesignated Preferred Stock

The ability to authorize undesignated preferred stock will make it possible for our board of directors to issue preferred stock with super majority voting, special approval, dividend or other rights or preferences on a discriminatory basis that could impede the success of any attempt to acquire us or otherwise effect a change in

control of us. These and other provisions may have the effect of deferring, delaying or discouraging hostile takeovers, or changes in control or management of our company.

Classified Board of Directors

Our board of directors is divided into three classes that is, as nearly as possible, of equal size with members of each class serving staggered three-year terms. The Class I directors include Paul J. Taubman and Emily K. Rafferty, the Class II directors include Dennis S. Hersch and Thomas M. Ryan, and the Class III directors include James Costos and Kenneth C. Whitney.

Requirements for Advance Notification of Stockholder Meetings, Nominations and Proposals

Our amended and restated bylaws establish advance notice procedures for stockholder proposals and the nomination of candidates for election as directors, other than nominations made by or at the direction of the board of directors or a committee of the board of directors. For any matter to be "properly brought" before a meeting, a stockholder will have to comply with advance notice requirements and provide us with certain information. Our board of directors may increase or decrease the size of the board of directors, and vacancies and newly created directorships may be filled only by a vote of a majority of the directors then in office, even though less than a quorum, and not by the stockholders. Our amended and restated bylaws allow the presiding officer at a meeting of the stockholders to adopt rules and regulations for the conduct of meetings which may have the effect of precluding the conduct of certain business at a meeting if the rules and regulations are not followed.

These provisions may also defer, delay or discourage a potential acquirer from conducting a solicitation of proxies to elect the acquirer's own slate of directors or otherwise attempting to influence or obtain control of our company.

Supermajority Provisions

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that the board of directors is expressly authorized to make, alter or repeal our bylaws and that our stockholders may only amend our bylaws with the approval of 75% or more of the voting power of all of the outstanding shares of our capital stock entitled to vote.

In addition, certain provisions of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, including those providing for a classified board of directors, may be amended, altered, repealed or rescinded, in whole or in part, or any provision inconsistent therewith may be adopted, only with the approval of 75% or more of the voting power of all of the outstanding shares of our capital stock entitled to vote.

Nomination of CEO as Director; Rights of Chairman of the Board of Directors

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that our chief executive officer at the time of its adoption, to the extent such individual serves as chief executive officer and as a director, will (1) serve as chairman of the board of directors, (2) be assigned to Class I, (3) be nominated as a Class I director at the annual meeting of stockholders at which his initial term expires and (4) serve as the chairman of the nominating and governance committee of the board for so long as such service is permitted under the applicable rules of the NYSE and shall select the other members of the nominating and governance committee, the chief executive officer and chairman of the board shall select the chairman of the nominating and governance committee, the chief executive officer and chairman of the board shall select the chairman and other members of the nominating and governance committee of NYSE.

No Cumulative Voting

The DGCL provides that stockholders are not entitled to the right to cumulate votes in the election of directors unless our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides otherwise. Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation does not provide for cumulative voting.

Stockholder Action by Written Consent

Pursuant to Section 228 of the DGCL, any action required to be taken at any annual or special meeting of the stockholders may be taken without a meeting, without prior notice and without a vote if a consent or consents in writing, setting forth the action so taken, is signed by the holders of outstanding stock having not less than the minimum number of votes that would be necessary to authorize or take such action at a meeting at which all shares of our stock entitled to vote thereon were present and voted, unless the company's amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides otherwise. Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation does not permit our Class A common stockholders to act by consent in writing unless such action is recommended by all directors then in office, but does permit our Class B common stockholders to act by consent in writing any such recommendation by the directors then in office.

Delaware Anti-Takeover Statute

We are subject to Section 203 of the DGCL. Section 203 provides that, subject to certain exceptions specified in the law, a publicly-held Delaware corporation shall not engage in certain "business combinations" with any "interested stockholder" for a three-year period after the date of the transaction in which the person became an interested stockholder. These provisions generally prohibit or delay the accomplishment of mergers, assets or stock sales or other takeover or change-in-control attempts that are not approved by a company's board of directors.

In general, Section 203 prohibits a publicly-held Delaware corporation from engaging, under certain circumstances, in a business combination with an interested stockholder for a period of three years following the date the person became an interested stockholder unless:

- prior to the date of the transaction, the board of directors of the corporation approved either the business combination or the transaction that resulted in the stockholder becoming an interested stockholder;
- upon completion of the transaction that resulted in the stockholder becoming an interested stockholder, the stockholder owned at least 85% of the voting stock of the corporation outstanding at the time the transaction commenced, excluding for purposes of determining the number of shares outstanding (1) shares owned by persons who are directors and also officers and (2) shares owned by employee stock plans in which employee participants do not have the right to determine confidentially whether shares held subject to the plan will be tendered in a tender or exchange offer; or
- on or subsequent to the date of the transaction, the business combination is approved by the board of directors and authorized at an annual or special meeting of stockholders, and not by written consent, by the affirmative vote of at least 66 2/3% of the outstanding voting stock which is not owned by the interested stockholder.

Generally, a business combination includes a merger, asset or stock sale, or other transaction resulting in a financial benefit to the interested stockholder. An interested stockholder is a person who, together with affiliates and associates, owns or, within three years prior to the determination of interested stockholder status, did own 15% or more of a corporation's outstanding voting stock.

Under certain circumstances, Section 203 makes it more difficult for a person who would be an "interested stockholder" to effect various business combinations with a corporation for a three-year period. Accordingly, Section 203 could have an anti-takeover effect with respect to certain transactions our board of directors does not approve in advance. The provisions of Section 203 may encourage companies interested in acquiring our company to negotiate in advance with our board of directors because the stockholder approval requirement would be avoided if our board of directors approves either the business combination or the transaction that results in the stockholder becoming an interested stockholder. However, Section 203 also could discourage attempts that might result in a premium over the market price for the shares held by stockholders. These provisions also may make it more difficult to accomplish transactions that stockholders may otherwise deem to be in their best interests.

Dissenters' Rights of Appraisal and Payment

Under the DGCL, with certain exceptions, our stockholders will have appraisal rights in connection with a merger or consolidation of our company. Pursuant to the DGCL, stockholders who properly request and perfect

appraisal rights in connection with such merger or consolidation will have the right to receive payment of the fair value of their shares as determined by the Delaware Court of Chancery.

Stockholders' Derivative Actions

Under the DGCL, any of our stockholders may bring an action in our name to procure a judgment in our favor, also known as a derivative action, provided that the stockholder bringing the action is a holder of our shares at the time of the transaction to which the action relates or such stockholder's stock thereafter devolved by operation of law.

Exclusive Forum

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that unless we consent to the selection of an alternative forum, the Delaware Court of Chancery shall be the sole and exclusive forum for any (1) derivative action or proceeding brought on behalf, to the fullest extent permitted by law, of our company, (2) action asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any director or officer or stockholder of our company to our company's stockholders, creditors or other constituents, (3) action asserting a claim against our company or any director or officer of our company arising pursuant to any provision of the DGCL, or (4) action asserting a claim against our company governed by the internal affairs doctrine. Any person or entity purchasing or otherwise acquiring or holding any interest in shares of capital stock of our company shall be deemed to have notice of and consented to the forum provisions in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation. However, it is possible that a court could find our forum selection provision to be inapplicable or uneforceable.

Limitations on Liability and Indemnification of Officers and Directors

The DGCL authorizes corporations to limit or eliminate the personal liability of directors to corporations and their stockholders for monetary damages for breaches of directors' fiduciary duties, subject to certain exceptions. Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation includes a provision that eliminates the personal liability of directors for monetary damages for any breach of fiduciary duty as a director, except to the extent such exemption from liability or limitation thereof is not permitted under the DGCL. The effect of these provisions is to eliminate the rights of us and our stockholders, through stockholders' derivative suits on our behalf, to recover monetary damages from a director for breach of fiduciary duty as a director, including breaches resulting from grossly negligent behavior. However, exculpation does not apply to any director if the director has acted in bad faith, knowingly or intentionally violated the law, authorized illegal dividends or redemptions or derived an improper benefit from his or her actions as a director.

Our amended and restated bylaws provide that we must generally indemnify and advance expenses to our directors and officers to the fullest extent authorized by the DGCL. We also are expressly authorized to carry directors' and officers' liability insurance providing indemnification for our directors, officers and certain employees for some liabilities. We believe that these indemnification and advancement provisions and insurance are useful to attract and retain qualified directors and executive officers.

The limitation of liability, indemnification and advancement provisions in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws may discourage stockholders from bringing a lawsuit against directors for breach of their fiduciary duty. These provisions also may have the effect of reducing the likelihood of derivative litigation against directors and officers, even though such an action, if successful, might otherwise benefit us and our stockholders. In addition, your investment may be adversely affected to the extent we pay the costs of settlement and damage awards against directors and officers pursuant to these indemnification provisions.

There is currently no pending material litigation or proceeding involving any of our directors, officers or employees for which indemnification is sought.

Transfer Agent and Registrar

The transfer agent and registrar for shares of our Class A common stock is American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, LLC.

Listing

Our Class A common stock is listed on NYSE under the ticker symbol "PJT."

RENEWAL AGREEMENT

This Renewal Agreement (this "Agreement"), dated as of February 4, 2020 for reference purposes only, is made by and between PJT Partners Holdings LP ("Borrower") and First Republic Bank (the "Lender"), with reference to the following facts:

A. The Lender has previously made or committed to make revolving loans in the aggregate maximum principal amount of \$40,000,000.00 (with a provision for an increase to \$60,000,000 at certain times of the year) to Borrower (the "Loan").

B. The Loan arises out of that certain Amended and Restated Loan Agreement dated October 1, 2018 (as amended, the "Loan Agreement") to which Borrower and the Lender are parties. All terms with an initial capital letter that are used but not defined in this Agreement shall have the respective meanings given to such terms in the Loan Agreement.

C. Borrower has requested that Lender extend the maturity date of the Note from October 1, 2020 to October 1, 2021, and Lender has agreed to do so on the terms set forth herein.

THEREFORE, for valuable consideration, the Lender and Borrower agree as follows:

1. <u>Extension of Line of Credit Note Maturity Date</u>. The Maturity Date of the Note is extended to October 1, 2021, at which time the entire unpaid principal balance of the Note, all accrued and unpaid interest and any other outstanding amounts due Lender under the Loan Documents shall be due and payable. The Note and the Loan Documents are amended accordingly.

2. <u>Representations and Warranties</u>. As a material inducement to the Lender's execution of this Agreement, Borrower makes the following warranties and representations to the Lender:

2.1 Borrower has the full power and authority to enter into and perform all of its obligations under this Agreement, and this Agreement, when executed by the Persons signing this Agreement on behalf of Borrower, shall constitute a legal, valid and binding obligation of Borrower enforceable in accordance with its terms (except as enforcement may be limited by equitable principles and by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or similar laws relating to creditors' rights generally and regardless of whether enforcement is sought in equity or at law). The Persons executing this Agreement on behalf of Borrower have been duly authorized to execute this Agreement by all required action on the part of Borrower.

2.2 There are no Liens affecting all or part or the Collateral, except for the Liens in favor of the Lender and the Permitted Liens.

2.3 No Event of Default has occurred and is continuing.

3. <u>No Modification of Loan Documents</u>. Nothing contained in this Agreement shall be construed to obligate the Lender to extend the time for payment of the Note or otherwise modify any of the Loan Documents in any respect, except as expressly set forth in this Agreement.

4. <u>No Waiver</u>. No waiver by the Lender of any of its rights or remedies in connection with the Loan Documents shall be effective unless such waiver is in writing and signed by the Lender. The Lender's rights and remedies under this Agreement are cumulative with and in addition to any and all other legal and equitable rights and remedies which the Lender may have in connection with the Loans.

5. <u>Entire Agreement</u>. This Agreement and the other Loan Documents contain the entire agreement and understanding among the parties concerning the matters covered by this Agreement and other Loan Documents and supersede all prior and contemporaneous agreements, statements, understandings, terms, conditions, negotiations, representations and warranties, whether written or oral, made by the Lender or Borrower concerning the matters covered by this Agreement and the other Loan Documents.

6. <u>Modifications</u>. This Agreement may be modified only by a written agreement signed by Borrower and the Lender.

7. **Descriptive Headings: Interpretation.** The headings to sections of this Agreement are for convenient reference only and shall not be used in interpreting this Agreement. For purposes of this Agreement, the term "including" shall be deemed to mean "including without limitation."

8. Fees. Pursuant to the Loan Documents, Borrower shall pay to the Lender (a) a loan modification fee of \$40,000.00 and (b) all reasonable and documented out-of-pocket costs, charges, and expenses paid or incurred by the Lender in connection with the preparation of this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby, including reasonable attorneys' fees (all of which amounts will be debited from Borrower's account number [intentionally removed]). Borrower shall pay all reasonable and documented out-of-pocket costs and expenses, including reasonable attorneys' fees and costs, incurred by the Lender in enforcing any of the terms of this Agreement or the other Loan Documents, whether or not any legal proceedings are instituted by the Lender.

9. <u>Indemnification</u>. Borrower shall indemnify and hold the Lender and its officers, directors, agents, employees, representatives, shareholders, affiliates, successors and assigns (collectively, the "Indemnified Parties") harmless from and against any and all claims, demands, damages, liabilities, actions, causes of action, suits, reasonable costs and expenses, including reasonable attorneys' fees and costs, directly arising out of or relating to any commission or brokerage fee or charge claimed to be due or owing to any Person in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement as a result of any act or agreement by the Borrower.

10. <u>No Third Party Beneficiaries</u>. This Agreement is entered into for the sole benefit of the Lender and Borrower, and no other Person shall have any right of action under this Agreement.

11. <u>NO CLAIMS</u>. BORROWER ACKNOWLEDGES AND AGREES THAT (A) IT HAS NO OFFSETS OR DEDUCTIONS OF ANY KIND AGAINST ANY OR ALL OF THE OBLIGATIONS; AND (B) IT HAS NO DEFENSES OR OTHER CLAIMS OR CAUSES OF ACTION OF ANY KIND AGAINST THE LENDER IN CONNECTION WITH THE LOANS OR THE COLLATERAL. **12.** <u>Continuing Effect of Documents</u>. The Note and the other Loan Documents, as modified by this Agreement, shall remain in full force and effect in accordance with their terms and are affirmed by Borrower.

13. <u>Counterparts: Successors</u>. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall constitute an original, and all of which together shall constitute one and the same agreement. This Agreement shall be binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of the parties and their respective permitted successors and assigns.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Renewal Agreement as of the date first above written.

<u>BORF</u>	ROWER:		LENDER		
PJT Pa	artners Hol	dings LP	First Repu	blic Bank	
By:	By: PJT Partners Inc., its General Partner By: <u>/s/ Helen T. Meates</u>		By:	/s/ Stephen J. Szanto	
			Name:	Stephen J. Szanto	
	Name:	Helen T. Meates	Title:	Senior Managing Director	
	Title:	Chief Financial Officer			

ACKNOWLEDGMENT OF RENEWAL AND REAFFIRMATION OF THIRD PARTY PLEDGE AGREEMENT

Section 1. The undersigned Pledgor hereby acknowledges and confirms that it has reviewed and approves the terms and conditions of the Renewal Agreement dated on or about even date herewith between PJT Partners Holdings LP ("Borrower") and First Republic Bank ("Lender") (the "Amendment").

Section 2. The undersigned Pledgor hereby consents to the Amendment and agrees that all obligations covered by the Third Party Pledge Agreement executed by the Pledgor in favor of Lender shall continue in full force and effect, shall be valid and enforceable and shall not be impaired or otherwise affected by the execution of the Amendment or any other document or instrument delivered in connection herewith.

Section 3. The undersigned Pledgor represents and warrants that, after giving effect to the Amendment, all representations and warranties contained in said Third Party Pledge Agreement are true, accurate and complete as if made the date hereof.

Dated as of February 4, 2020

PLEDGOR

Park Hill Group LLC

- By: PHG Holdings LLC, its sole member
 - By: PJT Partners Holdings LP, its managing member
 - By: PJT Partners Inc., its general partner
 - By: /s/ Helen T. Meates

Name:Helen T. Meates

Title: Chief Financial Officer

ACKNOWLEDGMENT OF RENEWAL AND REAFFIRMATION OF THIRD PARTY PLEDGE AGREEMENT

Section 1. The undersigned Pledgor hereby acknowledges and confirms that it has reviewed and approves the terms and conditions of the Renewal Agreement dated on or about even date herewith between PJT Partners Holdings LP ("Borrower") and First Republic Bank ("Lender") (the "Amendment").

Section 2. The undersigned Pledgor hereby consents to the Amendment and agrees that all obligations covered by the Third Party Pledge Agreement executed by the Pledgor in favor of Lender shall continue in full force and effect, shall be valid and enforceable and shall not be impaired or otherwise affected by the execution of the Amendment or any other document or instrument delivered in connection herewith.

Section 3. The undersigned Pledgor represents and warrants that, after giving effect to the Amendment, all representations and warranties contained in said Third Party Pledge Agreement are true, accurate and complete as if made the date hereof.

Dated as of February 4, 2020

PLEDGOR

PJT PARTNERS LP

- By: PJT Management, LLC, its general partner
 - By: PJT Partners Holdings LP, its sole member
 - By: PJT Partners Inc., its general partner
 - By: /s/ Helen T. Meates
 - Name:Helen T. Meates

Title: Chief Financial Officer

Jurisdiction of

SUBSIDIARIES OF REGISTRANT

	Incorporation or	
Name	Organization	
PJT Partners Holdings LP	Delaware	
PJT Management LLC	Delaware	
PJT Capital LP	Delaware	
PJT Partners LP	Delaware	
PHG CP Inc.	Delaware	
PHG Holdings LLC	Delaware	
Park Hill Group LLC	Delaware	
PJT Partners (Cayman) Limited	Cayman Islands	
PJT Partners (UK) Limited	United Kingdom	
PJT Partners Park Hill (Spain), S.A.	Spain	
PJT Partners (HK) Limited	Hong Kong	

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statement No. 333-207207 on Form S-8, Registration Statement No. 333-214368 on Form S-3, Registration Statement No. 333-228517 on Form S-3, and Registration Statement No. 333-231075 on Form S-8 of our reports dated February 27, 2020, relating to the financial statements of PJT Partners Inc. (the "Company"), and the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2019.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

New York, New York February 27, 2020

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER CERTIFICATION

I, Paul J. Taubman, certify that:

- 1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019 of PJT Partners Inc.;
- 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
- 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
- 4. The Registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the Registrant and have:
 - Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the Registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
 - b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
 - c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the Registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 - d) Disclosed in this report any change in the Registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the Registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the Registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
- 5. The Registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the Registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the Registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 - a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the Registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 - b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the Registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 27, 2020

/s/ Paul J. Taubman Paul J. Taubman Chief Executive Officer

CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER CERTIFICATION

I, Helen T. Meates, certify that:

- 1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019 of PJT Partners Inc.;
- Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
- 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
- 4. The Registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the Registrant and have:
 - Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the Registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
 - b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
 - c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the Registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 - d) Disclosed in this report any change in the Registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the Registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the Registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
- 5. The Registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the Registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the Registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 - a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the Registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 - b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the Registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 27, 2020

/s/ Helen T. Meates Helen T. Meates Chief Financial Officer

Certification of the Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, As Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of PJT Partners Inc. (the "Company") on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), I, Paul J. Taubman, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to my knowledge:

- (1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
- (2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: February 27, 2020

/s/ Paul J. Taubman Paul J. Taubman Chief Executive Officer

* The foregoing certification is being furnished solely pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 and is not being filed as part of the Report or as a separate disclosure document.

Certification of the Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, As Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of PJT Partners Inc. (the "Company") on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), I, Helen T. Meates, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to my knowledge:

- (1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
- (2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: February 27, 2020

/s/ Helen T. Meates Helen T. Meates Chief Financial Officer

* The foregoing certification is being furnished solely pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 and is not being filed as part of the Report or as a separate disclosure document.